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Item 8.01. Other Events
Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is filing this Current Report on Form 8-K to update the historical financial statements included in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 (the “2003 Form 10-K/A”) and
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q/A for the periods ended February 29, 2004 and May 31, 2004 for discontinued operations that have
resulted from the classification of certain aircraft in its aircraft leasing portfolio to “held for sale” in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No.144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”). In the
third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party for the sale of certain aircraft in its portfolio. In
accordance with SFAS 144, revenues and expenses associated with the aircraft designated as “held for sale” have been classified as
discontinued operations in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended August 31, 2004.
Under requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the same classification as discontinued operations
required by SFAS 144 is also required for previously issued financial statements for each of the three years presented in the
Company’s 2003 Form 10-K/A and the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q/A for the periods ended February 29, 2004 and May 31,
2004, if those financial statements are incorporated by reference in subsequent filings with the SEC made under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, even though those financial statements relate to periods prior to the sale agreement for the aircraft. This
reclassification has no effect on the Company’s reported net income for any reporting period.
The net (loss) gain from discontinued operations that has been recast from continuing operations was as follows (dollars in millions):
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

Fiscal 2000

Fiscal 1999

$(22)

$(11)

$4

$2

$0

The historical financial information in Exhibits 99.1, 99.2, 99.3 and 99.4 has been revised and updated from its previous presentation
solely to reflect the reclassification described above for the following periods:
•

fiscal years ended November 30, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000 and 1999

•

three months ended February 29, 2004, February 28, 2003, May 31, 2004 and May 31, 2003

•

six months ended May 31, 2004 and May 31, 2003

There is no requirement to update or modify any other disclosures included in the 2003 Form 10-K/A and the Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q/A for the periods ended February 29, 2004 and May 31, 2004.
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Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits
15

Letter of awareness from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated October 27, 2004, concerning unaudited interim financial information.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
23.2 Consent of BK Associates, Inc.
23.3 Consent of Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc.
23.4 Consent of Airclaims Limited.
99.1 Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30,
2003, 2002, and 2001 (which replaces and supersedes Part II, Item 8 of the 2003 Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on October
15, 2004).
99.2 Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months ended
February 28, 2003 and February 29, 2004 (which replaces and supersedes Part I, Item 1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A
for the quarter ended February 29, 2004 filed with the SEC on October 15, 2004).
99.3 Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six months
ended May 31, 2003 and May 31, 2004 (which replaces and supersedes Part I, Item 1 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A
for the quarter ended May 31, 2004 filed with the SEC on October 15, 2004).
99.4 Selected Financial Data recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years November 30, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(which replaces and supersedes Part II, Item 6 of the 2003 Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on October 15, 2004).
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
MORGAN STANLEY
(Registrant)
By:

/s/ D AVID S. MOSER
David S. Moser,
Principal Accounting Officer

Date: October 28, 2004
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EXHIBIT 15
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan Stanley:
We have made a review, in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), of the
unaudited interim financial information of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries for the periods ended February 29, 2004 and February 28,
2003, as indicated in our report dated April 6, 2004 (October 13, 2004, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 18,
October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 19); because we did not perform an audit, we
expressed no opinion on that information.
Additionally, we have made a review, in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), of the unaudited interim financial information of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries for the periods ended May 31, 2004 and
2003, as indicated in our report dated July 12, 2004 (October 13, 2004, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 18,
October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 19); because we did not perform an audit, we
expressed no opinion on that information.
We are aware that our reports referred to above, which are included in this Current Report on Form 8-K are incorporated by reference
in the following Registration Statements:
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-55972
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223
We also are aware that the aforementioned reports, pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, are not considered a part
of the Registration Statements prepared or certified by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the

meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
October 27, 2004

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley of our report dated
February 23, 2004 (October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 26) (which report expresses an
unqualified opinion and contains an explanatory paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003), included in this Current Report on
Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley.
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-55972
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
October 27, 2004

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF BK ASSOCIATES, INC.
We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included as exhibit 99.1 in
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report”), (ii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months ended
February 28, 2003 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan Stanley’s
condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six months ended
May 31, 2003 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the Current Report and to the incorporation by reference of those
references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley:
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

BK ASSOCIATES, INC.
By:
Name: John F. Keitz
Title: President
October 28, 2004
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Exhibit 23.3
CONSENT OF MORTEN BEYER & AGNEW, INC
We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included as exhibit 99.1 in
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report”), (ii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months ended
February 28, 2003 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan Stanley’s
condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six months ended
May 31, 2003 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the Current Report and to the incorporation by reference of those
references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley:
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

MORTEN BEYER & AGNEW, INC
By:

Name: Bryson P. Monteleone
Title: Vice President-Operations, CFO
October 28, 2004

Exhibit 23.4

CONSENT OF AIRCLAIMS LIMITED
We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included as exhibit 99.1 in
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report”), (ii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months ended
February 28, 2003 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan Stanley’s
condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six months ended
May 31, 2003 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the Current Report and to the incorporation by reference of those
references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley:
Filed on Form S-3:
Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223
Airclaims Limited
Cardinal Point, Newall Road, Heathrow Airport, London TW6 2AS
Telephone (44) 020 8897 1066 Facsimile (44) 20 8897 0300 Telex 934679 http://www.airclaims.com

Registered Head Office as above. Registered in England No. 710284. VAT Reg. No. GB 224 1906 87

AIRCLAIMS LIMITED
By:
Name: Edward Pieniazek
Title: Director, Consultancy & Information Services
October 28, 2004

EXHIBIT 99.1.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Morgan Stanley:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of fiscal years ended November 30, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended
November 30, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries at fiscal years ended November 30, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended November 30, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As discussed in Note 14, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003.

New York, New York
February 23, 2004 (October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 26)
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MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
(dollars in millions, except share data)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and other
regulations (including securities at fair value of $18,957 in 2003 and $27,721 in 2002)
Financial instruments owned (approximately $73 billion and $71 billion were pledged to various
parties in 2003 and 2002, respectively):
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Securities received as collateral
Securities borrowed
Receivables:
Consumer loans (net of allowances of $1,002 in 2003 and $928 in 2002)
Customers, net
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Fees, interest and other
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $2,506 in 2003 and $2,206 in 2002)
Aircraft under operating leases (less accumulated depreciation of $984 in 2003 and $730 in 2002)
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

2

November 30,
2003

November 30,
2002

$

$

29,692

29,212

28,526

38,411

24,133
21,592
80,594
29,984
44,652
671
78,205
27,278
153,813

32,474
27,694
55,254
21,996
35,615
355
76,910
12,200
130,404

19,382
37,321
5,563
4,349
2,433
4,407
1,514
8,734

23,014
22,262
2,250
4,892
2,270
4,849
1,449
7,988

$ 602,843

$ 529,499

MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION—(Continued)
(dollars in millions, except share data)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings
Deposits
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Obligation to return securities received as collateral
Securities loaned
Payables:
Customers
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Interest and dividends
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Long-term borrowings

Capital Units
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 in 2003 and 2002;
Shares issued: 1,211,699,552 in 2003 and 1,211,685,904 in 2002;
Shares outstanding: 1,084,696,446 in 2003 and 1,081,417,377 in 2002
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Employee stock trust
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Subtotal
Note receivable related to ESOP
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;
127,003,106 shares in 2003 and 130,268,527 shares in 2002
Common stock issued to employee trust
Unearned stock-based compensation
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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November 30,
2003

November 30,
2002

$

$

28,386
12,839

50,789
13,757

17,072
17,505
10,141
25,615
36,242
4,873
147,618
27,278
64,375

13,235
11,679
12,240
18,320
28,985
1,833
136,463
12,200
43,229

96,794
5,706
2,138
12,918
65,600

88,229
4,610
3,363
12,245
55,161

575,100

506,338

66

66

2,810

1,210

12
4,028
28,038
3,008
(156)

12
3,678
25,250
3,003
(251)

34,930
(4)

31,692
(13)

(6,766)
(2,420)
(873)

(7,176)
(2,618)
—

24,867

21,885

$ 602,843

$ 529,499

MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)
Fiscal Year
2003

Revenues:
Investment banking
Principal transactions:
Trading
Investments
Commissions
Fees:
Asset management, distribution and
administration
Merchant and cardmember
Servicing
Interest and dividends
Other

$

2,440

$

6,138
86
2,970

Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer loan losses
Net revenues
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits
Occupancy and equipment
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees
Information processing and communications
Marketing and business development
Professional services
Other
Restructuring and other charges
Total non-interest expenses
Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption and
cumulative effect of accounting change
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect
of accounting change
Discontinued operations:
Loss/(gain) from discontinued operations
Income tax (benefit)/provision
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

2002

$

2001

2,478

$

2,730
(31)
3,278

3,413
5,503
(316)
3,159

3,706
1,379
2,015
15,744
448

3,932
1,420
2,080
15,879
658

4,205
1,349
1,888
24,132
526

34,926
12,802
1,267

32,424
11,961
1,336

43,859
20,720
1,052

20,857

19,127

22,087

8,545
794
838
1,288
967
1,135
1,485
—

7,940
825
779
1,375
1,105
1,094
1,036
235

9,376
881
712
1,455
1,249
1,299
1,437
—

15,052

14,389

16,409

5,805
279
1,563

4,738
77
1,575

5,678
30
2,022

154

87

50

3,809

2,999

3,576

38
(16)

18
(7)

(6)
2

22

11

(4)

3,787
—

2,988
—

3,580
(59)

3,787

$

2,988

$

3,521

Preferred stock dividend requirements

$

—

$

—

$

32

Earnings applicable to common shares

$

3,787

$

2,988

$

3,489

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

3.54
(0.02)
—

$

2.77
(0.01)
—

$

3.26
—
(0.05)

$

3.52

$

2.76

$

3.21

$

3.47
(0.02)
—

$

2.70
(0.01)
—

$

3.16
—
(0.05)

$

3.45

$

2.69

$

3.11

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Diluted earnings per common share
Average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

1,076,754,740

1,083,270,783

1,086,121,508

1,099,117,972

1,109,637,953

1,121,764,086

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in millions)
Fiscal Year
2003

2002

2001

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net change in cash flow hedges
Minimum pension liability adjustment

$3,787

$2,988

$3,521

Comprehensive income

$3,882

78
—
26
(9)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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30
—
—
(19)
$2,999

(59)
(13)
(99)
—
$3,350

MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in millions)
Fiscal Year

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used for) operating
activities:
Non-cash charges (credits) included in net income:
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Aircraft-related charges
Gain on sale of building and sale of self-directed online brokerage accounts
Deferred income taxes
Compensation payable in common stock and options
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for consumer loan losses
Restructuring and other charges
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned
Receivables and other assets
Payables and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases
Purchase of Quilter Holdings Limited, net of cash acquired
Net principal disbursed on consumer loans
Sale of self-directed online brokerage accounts
Sales of consumer loans
Sale of office building
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Short-term borrowings
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreements to resell and certain derivatives financing activities
Deposits
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of put options
Issuance of long-term borrowings
Issuance of Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Payments for:
Repayments of long-term borrowings
Redemption of Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Redemption of cumulative preferred stock

2003

2002

2001

$ 3,787
22

$ 2,988
11

$ 3,521
(4)

3,809

2,999

3,517

—
288
—
205
309
619
1,267
—

—
70
(125)
55
400
766
1,336
235

59
80
—
(427)
653
715
1,052
—

9,885

7,915

2,311

(4,256)
(2,263)
(16,347)
8,839

(15,380)
(3,193)
5,321
(5,412)

(16,288)
(13,962)
(3,603)
718

2,355

(5,013)

(25,175)

(603)
—
(8,498)
—
10,864
—

(1,124)
—
(11,447)
98
6,777
—

(1,998)
(183)
(7,479)
—
9,148
709

1,763

(5,696)

(22,403)

17,947

5,088

10,360
(918)

(8,524)
1,481

21,839
346

222
—
21,486
2,000

179
6
11,043
—

197
5
18,498
810

(12,641)
(400)
—

(6,472)
—
(345)

(11,201)
—
(200)

197

Redemption of Capital Units
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividends

—
(350)
(994)

—
(990)
(1,000)

(4)
(1,583)
(1,040)

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities

(3,638)

13,325

32,755

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period

480
29,212

2,616
26,596

7,777
18,819

$ 29,692

$ 29,212

$ 26,596

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
6

MORGAN STANLEY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(dollars in millions)

Preferred
Stock

Common Paid-in
Stock
Capital

BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER
$ 545 $
30, 2000
Net income
—
Dividends
—
Redemption of
7¾%
Cumulative
Preferred
(200)
Stock
Issuance of
common
—
stock
Issuance of put
options
—
Exercise of put
—
options
Repurchases of
common
—
stock
Compensation
payable in
common
—
stock
Tax benefits
associated
with stock—
based awards
Employee tax
withholdings
and other
—
Cumulative
effect of
accounting
change and
net change in
cash flow
—
hedges
Translation
adjustments
—
BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER
30, 2001
Net income
Dividends
Redemption of
Cumulative
Preferred
Stock
Issuance of
common

Retained
Earnings

Employee
Stock
Trust

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Note
Receivable
Related to
ESOP

Common
Stock
Held in
Treasury
at Cost

Common
Stock
Issued to
Employee
Trust

Unearned
Stock-Based
Compensation

Total

12 $3,377 $20,802 $ 3,042 $
—
—
3,521
—
—
—
(1,053)
—

(91) $
—
—

(44) $(6,024) $ (2,348) $
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—

$19,271
3,521
(1,053)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(200)

—

(926)

—

—

—

—

1,123

—

—

197

—

—

—

5

—

—

—

—

—

(1,583)

(166)

—

653

—

5

—

—

—

—

—

(12)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

666

—

—

460

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

460

—

175

—

—

—

—

(559)

—

—

(384)

—

—

—

—

(112)

—

—

—

—

(112)

—

—

—

—

(59)

—

—

—

—

(59)

345
—
—

12
—
—

3,745
—
—

23,270
2,988
(1,008)

3,086
—
—

(262)
—
—

(6,935)
—
—

(2,514)
—
—

—
—
—

20,716
2,988
(1,008)

(345)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(345)

44

—

13

(31)
—
—

—

12
(1,583)

96

stock
Issuance of put
options
Exercise of put
options
Repurchases of
common
stock
Compensation
payable in
common
stock
Tax benefits
associated
with stockbased awards
Employee tax
withholdings
and other
Minimum
pension
liability
adjustment
Translation
adjustments
BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER
30, 2002
Net income
Dividends
Issuance of
common
stock
Repurchases of
common
stock
Compensation
payable in
common
stock and
options
Tax benefits
associated
with stockbased awards
Employee tax
withholdings
and other
Net change in
cash flow
hedges
Minimum
pension
liability
adjustment
Translation
adjustments
BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(868)

—

—

—

—

1,047

—

—

179

6

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

6

(5)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(990)

—

—

(990)

—

486

—

(83)

—

83

(104)

—

400

—

—

282

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

282

—

—

32

—

—

—

—

(386)

—

—

(354)

—

—

—

—

—

(19)

—

—

—

—

(19)

—

—

—

—

—

30

—

—

—

—

30

—
—
—

12
—
—

3,678
—
—

25,250
3,787
(999)

3,003
—
—

(251)
—
—

(7,176)
—
—

(2,618)
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

(977)

—

—

—

—

1,199

—

—

222

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(350)

—

—

(350)

—

—

923

—

40

198

(873)

309

—

—

333

—

—

—

—

—

—

333

—

—

71

—

—

—

(479)

—

—

(415)

—

—

—

—

—

26

—

—

—

—

26

—

—

—

—

—

(9)

—

—

—

—

(9)

—

—

—

—

—

78

—

—

—

—

78

5

—

18

(13)
—
—

16

—
(7)

5

21,885
3,787
(999)

30, 2003

$

—

$

12 $4,028 $28,038 $ 3,008 $

(156) $

(4) $(6,766) $ (2,420) $

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.
The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading market positions in each of
its business segments—Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit Services. The
Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services, including
advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and market-making
activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign exchange and
commodities; principal investing and aircraft financing activities. The Company’s Individual Investor Group business provides
comprehensive financial planning and investment advisory services designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk
profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business provides global asset management products and services for individual
and institutional investors through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s financial
advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners
and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s private equity activities also are included within
®
the Investment Management business segment. The Company’s Credit Services business offers Discover -branded cards and other
consumer finance products and services and includes the operation of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and cash
access locations primarily in the U.S.
Basis of Financial Information. The consolidated financial statements for the 12 months ended November 30, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”),
November 30, 2002 (“fiscal 2002”) and November 30, 2001 (“fiscal 2001”) are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and assumptions regarding the valuations of certain
financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels, the outcome of litigation, and other matters that affect the consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures. The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and other entities in which
the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy is to consolidate all entities in which it owns more than 50%
of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”), for variable interests obtained after January
31, 2003, the Company also consolidates any variable interest entities for which it is the primary beneficiary (see Note 19). For
investments in companies in which the Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined
as owning a voting or economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those cases where
the Company’s investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are carried at cost.
The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”), Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWI”), Morgan Stanley
Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All material
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Discontinued Operations. Revenues and expenses associated with certain aircraft designated as “held for sale” have been classified
as discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note 26 for additional discussion of discontinued
operations.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly
liquid investments not held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.
During fiscal 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” the Company modified its classification within the consolidated statement of cash flows of the activity associated with
certain derivative financial instruments. The activity related to derivative financial instruments entered into or modified after June 30,
2003 and that have been determined to contain a financing element at inception where the Company is deemed the borrower is now
included within “Cash flows from financing activities.” Prior to July 1, 2003, the activity associated with such derivative financial
instruments is included within “Cash flows from operating activities.”
In connection with the fiscal 2001 purchase of Quilter Holdings Limited (“Quilter”), the Company issued approximately $37 million
of notes payable, including approximately $13 million of notes that are convertible into common shares of the Company.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Consumer Loans. Consumer loans, which consist primarily of general purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment loans,
are reported at their principal amounts outstanding less applicable allowances. Interest on consumer loans is recorded to income as
earned.
Interest is accrued on credit card loans until the date of charge-off, which generally occurs at the end of the month during which an
account becomes 180 days past due, except in the case of bankruptcies, deceased cardmembers and fraudulent transactions, where
loans are charged off earlier. The interest portion of charged-off credit card loans is written off against interest revenue. Origination
costs related to the issuance of credit cards are charged to earnings over periods not exceeding 12 months.
Allowance for Consumer Loan Losses. The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant estimate that represents
management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio. The allowance for consumer loan losses is
primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer credit card loan portfolio that is evaluated quarterly for adequacy and is
established through a charge to the provision for consumer loan losses.
In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a systematic and consistently applied approach. The
Company regularly performs a migration analysis (a technique used to estimate the likelihood that a consumer loan will progress
through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off) of delinquent and current consumer credit card accounts in order
to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible principal,
interest and fees reflected in consumer loans. In addition, the Company estimates the losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio
based on coverage of a rolling average of historical credit losses. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer loan
losses, management also considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current economic conditions,
recent trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, account seasoning, loan
volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. A provision for consumer loan losses is charged against earnings to
maintain the allowance for consumer loan losses at an appropriate level.
Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased, which include cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial condition,
and gains and losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in the consolidated statements of income. Loans and lending
commitments associated with the Company’s lending activities also are recorded at fair value. Fair value is the amount at which
financial instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining the fair value of the
Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of
product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction.
Products for which actively quoted prices or pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted
prices or pricing parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency than products that are thinly traded or not
quoted that generally have reduced to no price transparency.
A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is derived from such prices or parameters. The
availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can vary from product to product. Where available, observable market
prices and pricing parameters in a product (or a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment.
In certain markets, observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined using
techniques appropriate for each particular product. These analyses involve some degree of judgment.
The fair value of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts is derived primarily from pricing models, which may require multiple
market input parameters. In the absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active market, observable prices or
parameters of other comparable current market transactions, or other observable data supporting a fair value based on a pricing model
at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the transaction price. The Company also uses pricing models to manage the risks
introduced by OTC derivatives. The term “model” typically refers to a mathematical calculation methodology based on accepted
financial theories. Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be
modeled using a series of techniques, including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
simulation models or a combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established derivative products, the pricing
models used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. Pricing models take into account the contract
terms, including the maturity, as well as observable market parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the creditworthiness of the
counterparty.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities are reflected in the
consolidated statements of income as interest and dividend revenue or interest expense. Purchases and sales of financial instruments
as well as commission revenues and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade date. Unrealized gains and losses arising
from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including derivative contracts related to financial instruments and
commodities, are presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition on a net-by-counterparty basis, when
appropriate.
Equity securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities initially are carried in the
consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value. The carrying value of such equity securities is
adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable market prices or
transactions that directly affect the value of such equity securities. Downward adjustments relating to such equity securities are made
in the event that the Company determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s partnership interests,
including general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within Other assets in the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based upon changes in the fair value of the underlying
partnership’s net assets.
Financial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Management. The Company enters into various derivative financial instruments
for non-trading purposes. These instruments are included within Financial instruments owned—derivative contracts or Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts within the consolidated statements of financial condition and include
interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps, equity swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and
currency swaps and equity derivatives to manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The
Company also utilizes interest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the borrowings that
fund these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as fair value hedges and cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.
The Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrowings, including fixed rate borrowings
that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consist primarily of hedges of floating rate borrowings in
connection with its aircraft financing business. In general, interest rate exposure in this business arises to the extent that the interest
obligations associated with debt used to finance the Company’s aircraft portfolio do not correlate with the aircraft rental payments
received by the Company. The Company’s objective is to manage the exposure created by its floating interest rate obligations given
that future lease rates on new leases may not be repriced at levels that fully reflect changes in market interest rates. The Company
utilizes interest rate swaps to minimize the risk created by its longer-term floating rate interest obligations and measures that risk by
reference to the duration of those obligations and the expected sensitivity of future lease rates to future market interest rates.
For qualifying fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the gain or loss on the hedged asset or liability
relating to the risk being hedged are recorded currently in earnings. These amounts are recorded in interest expense and provide offset
of one another. For qualifying cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, and amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) are reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company
estimates that approximately $38 million of the unrealized loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of
November 30, 2003 will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. Ineffectiveness relating to fair value and cash flow
hedges, if any, is recorded within interest expense. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness on the Company’s consolidated statements of
income was not material for all periods presented.
The Company also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relating to its net monetary
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations. The gain or loss from revaluing these contracts is deferred and
reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized
amounts due from or to counterparties included in Financial instruments owned or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. The
interest elements (forward points) on these foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in earnings.
In fiscal 2001, the Company recorded an after-tax charge to net income from the cumulative effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 133,
as amended, of $59 million and an after-tax decrease to Accumulated other comprehensive income of $13 million.
Office Facilities. Office facilities are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization of
buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment are provided principally by the straight-line method over the
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
estimated useful life of the asset. Estimates of useful lives are as follows: buildings—39 years; furniture and fixtures—7 years; and
computer and communications equipment—3 to 5 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated
useful life of the asset or, where applicable, the remaining term of the lease, but generally not exceeding 15 years.
Aircraft under Operating Leases. Aircraft under operating leases that are to be held and used are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft
asset, which is generally 25 years from the date of manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that are to
be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
aircraft may not be recoverable. Under SFAS No. 144, the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable if its projected
undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying value. If an aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying
value, the Company will recognize an impairment charge equal to the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the aircraft.
The fair value of the Company’s impaired aircraft is based upon the average market appraisal values obtained from independent
appraisal companies. Estimates of future cash flows associated with the aircraft assets as well as the appraisals of fair value are
critical to the determination of whether an impairment exists and the amount of the impairment charge, if any (see Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements).
Aircraft under operating leases that fulfill the criteria to be classified as held for sale in accordance with SFAS No. 144 are stated at
the lower of carrying value (i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges) or fair value less estimated cost to sell.
After an aircraft is designated as held for sale, no further depreciation expense is recorded. The Company would recognize a charge
for any initial or subsequent write-down to fair value less estimated cost to sell (see Notes 18 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements). A gain would be recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess of the cumulative
loss previously recognized (for a write-down to fair value less cost to sell). A gain or loss not previously recognized that results from
the sale of an aircraft would be recognized at the date of sale.
Revenue from aircraft under operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain lease contracts may
require the lessee to make separate payments for flight hours and passenger miles flown. In such instances, the Company recognizes
these other revenues as they are earned in accordance with the terms of the applicable lease contract.
Investment Banking. Underwriting revenues and fees for mergers, acquisitions and advisory assignments are recorded when services
for the transactions are determined to be completed, generally as set forth under the terms of the engagement. Transaction-related
expenses, primarily consisting of legal, travel and other costs directly associated with the transaction, are deferred to match revenue
recognition. Underwriting revenues are presented net of related expenses. Non-reimbursed expenses associated with advisory
transactions are recorded within Non-interest expenses.
Income Taxes. Income tax expense is provided for using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based upon the temporary differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities,
using currently enacted tax rates.
Earnings per Share. The Company computes earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.”
“Basic EPS” is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. “Diluted EPS” reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities (see Note 10).
Cardmember Rewards. Cardmember rewards include various reward programs, including the Cashback Bonus® award program,
pursuant to which the Company pays certain cardmembers a percentage of their purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s level
and type of purchases. The liability for cardmember rewards, included in Other liabilities and accrued expenses, is accrued at the time
that qualified cardmember transactions occur and is calculated on an individual cardmember basis. In determining the liability for
cardmember rewards, the Company considers estimated forfeitures based on historical account closure, charge-off and transaction
activity. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-22, “Accounting for ‘Points’ and Certain Other
Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentive Offers, and Offers for Free Products or Services to Be Delivered in the Future,” the
Company records its Cashback Bonus award program as a reduction of Merchant and cardmember fees.
Stock-Based Compensation. Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” using the prospective adoption method. The Company now records compensation expense
based upon the fair value of stock-based awards (both deferred stock and stock options). In prior years, the Company accounted for its
stock-based awards under the intrinsic value approach in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25
(“APB 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the approach in APB 25 and the terms of the Company’s plans in
prior years, the Company recognized compensation expense for deferred stock awards in the year of grant; however, no compensation
expense was generally recognized for stock option grants.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Translation of Foreign Currencies. Assets and liabilities of operations having non-U.S. dollar functional currencies are translated at
year-end rates of exchange, and income statement accounts are translated at weighted average rates of exchange for the year. In
accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial
statements, net of hedge gains or losses and related tax effects, are reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a
separate component of shareholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in net income.
Goodwill. Effective December 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No.
142 does not permit the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets. Instead, these assets must be reviewed annually (or more
frequently under certain conditions) for impairment. Prior to the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill was amortized on a
straight-line basis over periods from five to 40 years but generally not exceeding 25 years.
Investments in Unconsolidated Investees. The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production
plants. The Company accounts for these investments under the equity method. The Company’s share of the operating losses generated
by these investments is recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with
these operating losses are recorded within the Company’s Provision for income taxes.
Deferred Compensation Arrangements. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation
Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi Trust and Invested,” assets of rabbi trusts are to be consolidated with
those of the employer, and the value of the employer’s stock held in rabbi trusts should be classified in shareholders’ equity and
generally accounted for in a manner similar to treasury stock. The Company, therefore, has included its obligations under certain
deferred compensation plans in Employee stock trust. Shares that the Company has issued to its rabbi trusts are recorded in Common
stock issued to employee trust. Both Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to employee trust are components of
shareholders’ equity. The Company recognizes the original amount of deferred compensation (fair value of the deferred stock award
at the date of grant—see Note 14) as the basis for recognition in Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to employee trust.
Consistent with EITF Issue No. 97-14, changes in the fair value of amounts owed to employees are not recognized as the Company’s
deferred compensation plans do not permit diversification and must be settled by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the
Company’s common stock. The amount recorded in Employee stock trust is only higher than the amount in Common stock issued to
employee trust at fiscal year-end because the transfer of the shares to the rabbi trusts occurs subsequent to fiscal year-end.
Software Costs. In accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Statement of Position (“SOP”)
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” certain costs incurred in connection
with internal-use software projects are capitalized and amortized over the expected useful life of the asset.
Securitization Activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and residential mortgage loans,
corporate bonds and loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, municipal bonds, credit card loans and other types of
financial assets (see Notes 4 and 5). The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of
the securitization, undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest receivable subordinate to investors’ interests (see Note 5), cash
collateral accounts, servicing rights, and rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the securitization
trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The exposure to credit losses from securitized loans is
limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the Company’s retained interest in securitized loans, including
any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on the sale of financial assets depends in part on the previous carrying amount of
the assets involved in the transfer, and each subsequent transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the assets sold and the
retained interests based upon their respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable market prices are used if
available. However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests, so the Company estimates fair value
based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key assumptions, including forecasted credit
losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. The present value of future net
servicing revenues that the Company estimates it will receive over the term of the securitized loans is recognized in income as the
loans are securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a charge to income over the term of the securitized
loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as they are earned.
3. Goodwill.
The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142 and therefore discontinued the amortization of goodwill effective December
1, 2001. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test (as of December 1 in each
year) that is required by SFAS No. 142. The Company’s testing did not indicate any goodwill impairment and therefore did not have
an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of reported net income and earnings per share to the amounts adjusted for the exclusion
of goodwill amortization, net of the related income tax effect:
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

(dollars in millions,
except per share amounts)

Net income:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax

$ 3,787
—

$ 2,988
—

3,787
—

2,988
—

$ 3,787

$ 2,988

$ 3,602

$

$

$

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Adjusted
Basic earnings per common share:
Basic before cumulative effect of accounting change
Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax

3.52
—
3.52
—

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Adjusted
Diluted earnings per common share:
Diluted before cumulative effect of accounting change
Add: Goodwill amortization, net of tax

3,661
(59)

2.76
—

3.26
0.07
3.33
(0.05)

$

3.52

$

2.76

$

3.28

$

3.45
—

$

2.69
—

$

3.16
0.07

3.45
—

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Adjusted

2.76
—

$ 3,580
81

$

3.45

2.69
—
$

2.69

3.23
(0.05)
$

3.18

Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill for fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 were as follows:
Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor
Group

$

$

Investment
Management

Total

(dollars in millions)

Balance as of November 30, 2001
Translation adjustments

4
—
4
—
4

Balance as of November 30, 2002
Translation adjustments
Other
$

Balance as of November 30, 2003

8

467
11

$

478
61
—
$

539

$

967
—

$1,438
11

967
—
—

1,449
61
4

967

$1,514

4. Securities Financing and Securitization Transactions.
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are treated as financing transactions and are
carried at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or reacquired as specified in the respective agreements;
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such amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are presented on a net-bycounterparty basis, when appropriate. The Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under agreements to resell.
Securities borrowed and Securities loaned also are treated as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts of cash collateral
advanced and received in connection with the transactions.
The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities financings. Pledged
securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial instruments owned (pledged to various parties)
on the consolidated statements of financial condition. The carrying value and classification of securities owned by the Company that
have been loaned or pledged to counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral were
as follows:
At
Nov. 30,
2003

At
Nov. 30,
2002

(dollars in millions)

Financial instruments owned:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Total

$ 5,717
164
12,089
3,477

$ 9,144
83
9,026
1,849

$21,447

$20,102

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and securities loaned
transactions to, among other things, finance the Company’s inventory positions, acquire securities to cover short positions and settle
other securities obligations and to accommodate customers’ needs. The Company also engages in securities financing transactions for
customers through margin lending. Under these agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral,
including U.S. government and agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and corporate
equities. The Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse repurchase agreements, securities
borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the Company is permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as
collateral and use the securities to secure repurchase agreements, to enter into securities lending transactions or for delivery to
counterparties to cover short positions. At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, the fair value of securities received as
collateral where the Company is permitted to sell or repledge the securities was $511 billion and $376 billion, respectively, and the
fair value of the portion that has been sold or repledged was $462 billion and $344 billion, respectively.
The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements
with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset
a counterparty’s rights and obligations. The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the
related receivable or payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify its rights to request
additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are collateralized by customer-owned securities
held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the Company’s collateral policies significantly limit the Company’s credit
exposure in the event of customer default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and
if necessary may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold but not delivered from customers.
In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and
residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds and loans, municipal bonds and other
types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, and any changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated
statements of income. The Company may act as underwriter of the beneficial interests issued by securitization vehicles. Underwriting
net revenues are recognized in connection with these transactions. The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial
assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the consolidated statements of financial
condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained interests are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income. Retained interests in securitized financial assets associated with the Company’s Institutional Securities business were
approximately $2.4 billion at November 30, 2003, the majority of which were related to U.S. agency collateralized mortgage
obligation, commercial mortgage loan and residential mortgage loan securitization transactions. Net gains at the time of securitization
were approximately $160 million in fiscal 2003. The assumptions that the Company used to determine the fair value of its retained
interests at the time of securitization related to those transactions that
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occurred during fiscal 2003 were not materially different from the assumptions included in the table below. Additionally, as indicated
in the table below, the Company’s exposure to credit losses related to these retained interests was not material to the Company’s
results of operations.
The following table presents information on the Company’s U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation, commercial mortgage
loan and residential mortgage loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value
of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions at November 30, 2003 were as follows
(dollars in millions):
U.S. Agency
Collateralized
Mortgage
Obligations

Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Prepayment speed assumption
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$

1,149
74
—
—
—
7.35%
$
(33)
$
(64)
183-517PSA
$
(15)
$
(28)

Commercial
Mortgage
Loans

Residential
Mortgage
Loans

$

537
68
0.38-11.35%
$
(1)
$
(2)
5.02%
$
(3)
$
(6)
—
—
—

$

432
19
0.20-23.45%
$
(30)
$
(56)
21.18%
$
(11)
$
(21)
357-1200PSA
$
(20)
$
(20)

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize to hedge risks
inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair
value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in
the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value
of the retained interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in
changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any
corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 the Company received proceeds from new
securitization transactions of $70 billion and $43 billion, respectively, and cash flows from retained interests in securitization
transactions of $4.3 billion and $0.9 billion, respectively.
5. Consumer Loans.
Consumer loans were as follows:
At
Nov. 30,
2003

At
Nov. 30,
2002

(dollars in millions)

General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment
Less:
Allowance for consumer loan losses

$20,384

$23,942

1,002

928

Consumer loans, net

$19,382

$23,014

Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:
Fiscal
2003

Fiscal
2002

Fiscal
2001

(dollars in millions)

Balance at beginning of period
Additions:
Provision for consumer loan losses

$ 928

$ 847

$ 783

1,267

1,336

1,052

Deductions:
Charge-offs
Recoveries

1,304
(111)

1,355
(100)

1,086
(98)

Net charge-offs

1,193

1,255

988

$1,002

$ 928

$ 847

Balance at end of period
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Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, recorded as a reduction of interest revenue, was $269
million, $229 million and $172 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively. Cardmember fees accrued on general
purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, recorded as a reduction to merchant and cardmember fee revenue, was $176
million, $165 million and $142 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively.
At November 30, 2003, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately $263 billion. Such
commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain credit cards, provided there is no
violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These commitments, substantially all of which the Company can
terminate at any time and which do not necessarily represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account
usage and customer creditworthiness.
At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, $4,170 million and $5,421 million, respectively, of the Company’s consumer loans
had minimum contractual maturities of less than one year. Because of the uncertainty regarding consumer loan repayment patterns,
which historically have been higher than contractually required minimum payments, this amount may not necessarily be indicative of
the Company’s actual consumer loan repayments.
The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $10,864 million, $6,777 million and $9,148 million in fiscal 2003,
fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively.
The Company’s domestic consumer loan portfolio, including securitized loans, is geographically diverse, with a distribution
approximating that of the population of the U.S.
Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations include undivided seller’s
interests, cash collateral accounts, servicing rights and rights to any excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after payments
to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The undivided seller’s
interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is recorded in Consumer loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank
pari passu with investors’ interests in the securitization trusts, and the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’
interests. The cash collateral accounts are recorded in Other assets. The Company receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor
principal balance outstanding. The Company does not recognize servicing assets or servicing liabilities for servicing rights since the
servicing contracts provide only adequate compensation (as defined in SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”) to the Company for performing the servicing.
Residual Interests are recorded in Other assets and classified as trading and reflected at fair value with changes in fair value recorded
currently in earnings. On December 4, 2002, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”), in conjunction with other bank
regulatory agencies, issued guidance, Interagency Advisory on the Accounting Treatment of Accrued Interest Receivable Related to
Credit Card Securitizations, for the purpose of clarifying the treatment of accrued interest and fees (“accrued interest receivable”) on
securitized credit card receivables as a subordinated retained interest for accounting purposes. At November 30, 2003, the accrued
interest receivable was $0.6 billion and is recorded in Other assets. Including this accrued interest receivable amount, at November
30, 2003 the Company had $9.3 billion of retained interests, including $6.2 billion of undivided seller’s interests, in credit card asset
securitizations. The retained interests are subject to credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred credit card assets. The
investors and the securitization trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for failure of cardmembers to pay when due.
During fiscal 2003, the Company completed credit card asset securitizations of $5.7 billion and recognized net securitization gains of
$30 million as servicing fees in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. The uncollected balances of securitized general
purpose credit card loans were $29.4 billion and $29.0 billion at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively.
Key economic assumptions used in measuring the Residual Interests at the date of securitization resulting from credit card asset
securitizations completed during fiscal 2003 were as follows:
Weighted average life (in months)
Payment rate (rate per month)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Discount rate (rate per annum)

5.6-7.1
14.89-18.00%
3.86-6.90%
14.00%
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Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse
changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):
At Nov. 30,
2003

Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Weighted average payment rate (rate per month)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$

257
5.8
17.98%
(17)
(32)
6.88%
(77)
(152)
14.00%
(3)
(5)

$
$
$
$
$
$

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or
20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the
change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual
Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in
another (for example, increases in market interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might
magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company
may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):

Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset securitizations
Contractual servicing fees received
Cash flows received from retained interests

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

5.7
60.3
0.6
1.7

3.6
53.3
0.6
1.9

7.3
50.7
0.6
1.6

The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net credit losses and components of managed general purpose
credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in billions):
At Nov. 30, 2003

Fiscal 2003

Loans
Outstanding

Loans
Delinquent

Average
Loans

Net
Principal
Credit
Losses

Managed general purpose credit card loans
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans

$

48.3
29.4

$

$ 50.9

$

Owned general purpose credit card loans

$

18.9
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6. Deposits.
Deposits were as follows:
At Nov. 30,
2003

At Nov. 30,
2002

(dollars in millions)

Demand, passbook and money market accounts
Consumer certificate accounts
$100,000 minimum certificate accounts

$ 1,264
1,192
10,383

$ 1,441
1,428
10,888

Total

$ 12,839

$ 13,757

The weighted average interest rates of interest bearing deposits outstanding during fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 were 4.9% and 5.5%,
respectively.
At November 30, 2003, certificate accounts maturing over the next five years were as follows:
Fiscal Year

(dollars in millions)

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

$

4,373
3,428
1,969
1,095
239

7. Short-Term Borrowings.
At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, commercial paper of $20,608 million and $35,596 million, respectively, with
weighted average interest rates of 1.2% and 1.7%, respectively, was outstanding. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the average
amount of commercial paper outstanding was approximately $28,246 million and $30,300 million, respectively.
At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, other short-term borrowings of $7,778 million and $15,193 million, respectively,
were outstanding. These borrowings included bank loans, Federal Funds and bank notes. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the
average amount of other short-term borrowings outstanding was approximately $11,127 million and $10,600 million, respectively.
The Company, through one of its subsidiaries, maintains several committed credit facilities to support the collateralized commercial
mortgage whole loan business. The financial institutions provided an aggregate of $4.5 billion in financing at November 30, 2003.
The Company maintains a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks to support general liquidity needs, including the
issuance of commercial paper, which consists of two separate tranches: a U.S. dollar tranche with the Company as borrower and a
Japanese yen tranche with MSJL as borrower and the Company as guarantor. Under this combined facility (the “MS-MSJL Facility”),
the banks are committed to provide up to $5.5 billion under the U.S. dollar tranche and 70 billion Japanese yen under the Japanese
yen tranche. At November 30, 2003, the Company had a $10.6 billion surplus shareholders’ equity as compared with the MS-MSJL
Facility’s covenant requirement.
The Company maintains a master collateral facility that enables MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries, to
pledge certain collateral to secure loan arrangements, letters of credit and other financial accommodations (the “MS&Co. Facility”).
As part of the MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured committed credit agreement with a group of banks that are parties
to the master collateral facility under which such banks are committed to provide up to $1.8 billion. At November 30, 2003, MS&Co.
had a $2.5 billion surplus consolidated stockholder’s equity and a $1.6 billion surplus Net Capital, each as defined in the MS&Co.
Facility and as compared with the MS&Co. Facility’s covenant requirements.
The Company also maintains a revolving credit facility that enables MSIL, the Company’s London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, to
obtain committed funding from a syndicate of banks (the “MSIL Facility”) by providing a broad range of collateral under repurchase
agreements for a secured repo facility and a Company guarantee for an unsecured facility. The syndicate of banks is committed to
provide up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, available in six major currencies. At November 30, 2003, MSIL had a $1.2 billion surplus
Shareholder’s Equity and a $1.9 billion surplus Financial Resources, each as defined in the MSIL Facility and as compared with the
MSIL Facility’s covenant requirements.
The Company anticipates that it may utilize the MS-MSJL Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL Facility (the “Credit

Facilities”) for short-term funding from time to time. The Company does not believe that any of the covenant requirements in any of
its Credit Facilities will impair its ability to obtain funding under the Credit Facilities, to pay its current level of dividends, or to
secure loan arrangements, letters of credit or other financial accommodations. At November 30, 2003, no borrowings were
outstanding under any of the Credit Facilities.
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The Company and its subsidiaries also maintain a series of committed bilateral credit facilities to support general liquidity needs.
These facilities are expected to be drawn from time to time to cover short-term funding needs.
8. Long-Term Borrowings.
Maturities and Terms. Long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end consisted of the following:
U.S. Dollar

Fixed
Rate

Non-U.S. Dollar(1)
Index/
Equity
Linked

Floating
Rate(2)

Fixed
Rate

Floating
Rate(2)

At November 30,
Index/
Equity
Linked

2003
Total(3)

2002
Total(3)

(dollars in millions)

Due in fiscal 2003
Due in fiscal 2004
Due in fiscal 2005
Due in fiscal 2006
Due in fiscal 2007
Due in fiscal 2008
Thereafter
Total
Weighted average coupon at fiscal year-end
(1)
(2)
(3)

$

—
2,843
3,220
4,118
4,214
1,595
15,388

$31,378
6.4%

$

—
4,526
4,998
2,484
350
749
126

$ — $ —
874
681
558
2,651
131
2,896
21
70
59
710
1,101
5,956

$ —
1,388
327
88
629
797
90

$ — $ —
262 10,574
138 11,892
193
9,910
167
5,451
275
4,185
927 23,588

$12,386
11,758
6,417
7,127
5,026
378
12,069

$13,233

$2,744 $12,964

$3,319

$1,962 $65,600

$55,161

1.3%

n/a

4.4%

2.4%

n/a

4.6%

4.9%

Weighted average coupon was calculated utilizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates.
U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based on a variety of money market indices, including London
Interbank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”) and Federal Funds rates. Non-U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest
based on euro floating rates.
Amounts include an increase of approximately $1,442 million at November 30, 2003 and $1,564 million at November 30, 2002
to the carrying amount of certain of the Company’s long-term borrowings associated with fair value hedges under SFAS No.
133.

Medium-Term Notes. Included in the table above are medium-term notes of $18,319 million and $17,592 million at November 30,
2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively. The weighted average interest rate on all medium-term notes was 2.1% in fiscal 2003 and
2.6% in fiscal 2002. Maturities of these notes range from fiscal 2004 through fiscal 2029.
Structured Borrowings. U.S. dollar index/equity linked borrowings include various structured instruments whose payments and
redemption values are linked to the performance of a specific index (e.g., Standard & Poor’s 500), a basket of stocks or a specific
equity security. To minimize the exposure resulting from movements in the underlying equity position or index, the Company has
entered into various equity swap contracts and purchased options that effectively convert the borrowing costs into floating rates based
upon LIBOR. These instruments are included in the preceding table at their redemption values based on the performance of the
underlying indices, baskets of stocks or specific equity securities. The Company accounts for its structured borrowings as having an
embedded derivative. The equity swaps and purchased options are derivatives and are accounted for at fair value in accordance with
SFAS No. 133. The changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives in the Company’s structured borrowings are included in
interest expense.
Other Borrowings. Included in the Company’s long-term borrowings are subordinated notes (including the notes issued by MS&Co.
discussed below) of $586 million and $663 million at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively. In both periods, the
weighted average interest rate on these subordinated notes was 7.3%. Maturities of the subordinated notes range from fiscal 2004 to
fiscal 2016.
Certain of the Company’s long-term borrowings are redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the holder. These notes contain
certain provisions which effectively enable noteholders to put the notes back to the Company and, therefore, are scheduled in the
foregoing table to mature in fiscal 2004 through fiscal 2009. The stated maturities of these notes, which aggregate $4,527 million, are
from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2032.
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At November 30, 2003, MS&Co., a U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary of the Company, had outstanding $243 million of 8.51% fixed rate
subordinated Series B notes, $82 million of 7.28% fixed rate subordinated Series E notes and $25 million of 7.82% fixed rate
subordinated Series F notes. These notes had maturities from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2016. The terms of such notes contain restrictive
covenants that require, among other things, that MS&Co. maintain specified levels of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth and Net
Capital, each as defined.
Asset and Liability Management. In general, securities inventories not financed by secured funding sources and the majority of
current assets are financed with a combination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term debt or fixed rate long-term debt
swapped to a floating rate. Fixed assets are financed with fixed rate long-term debt. Both fixed rate and floating rate long-term debt
(in addition to sources of funds accessed directly by the Company’s Credit Services business) are used to finance the Company’s
consumer loan portfolio. The Company uses interest rate swaps to more closely match the duration of these borrowings to the
duration of the assets being funded and to manage interest rate risk. These swaps effectively convert certain of the Company’s fixed
rate borrowings into floating rate obligations. In addition, for non-U.S. dollar currency borrowings that are not used to fund assets in
the same currency, the Company has entered into currency swaps that effectively convert the borrowings into U.S. dollar obligations.
The Company’s use of swaps for asset and liability management affected its effective average borrowing rate as follows:
Fiscal
2003

Fiscal
2002

Fiscal
2001

Weighted average coupon of long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end(1)

4.6%

4.9%

4.9%

Effective average borrowing rate for long-term borrowings after swaps at fiscal year-end(1)

2.4%

2.9%

3.0%

(1)

Included in the weighted average and effective average calculations are non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

Cash paid for interest for the Company’s borrowings and deposits approximated the related interest expense in fiscal 2003, fiscal
2002 and fiscal 2001.
9. Commitments and Contingencies.
Office Facilities. The Company has non-cancelable operating leases covering office space and equipment. At November 30, 2003,
future minimum rental commitments under such leases (net of subleases, principally on office rentals) were as follows:
Fiscal Year

(dollars in millions)

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

$

490
487
439
372
312
2,502

Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to base rentals, generally provide for rent and operating expense escalations resulting from
increased assessments for real estate taxes and other charges. Total rent expense, net of sublease rental income, was $415 million,
$438 million and $423 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively.
In fiscal 2002, the Company purchased an office facility in Westchester County, New York and incurred costs of approximately $55
million, including the purchase price. During fiscal 2003, the Company incurred additional costs of approximately $120 million. The
Company expects to incur additional project costs of approximately $135 million in fiscal 2004. The Company intends to complete
the project and occupy the building in fiscal 2004.
Letters of Credit. At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, the Company had approximately $7.7 billion and $3.6 billion,
respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.
Aircraft. At November 30, 2003, the Company had contracted to receive the following minimum rentals under non-cancelable
operating leases in connection with its aircraft financing activities:
Fiscal Year

(dollars in millions)

2004

$

406

2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

310
214
156
115
684
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Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its business activities, the Company provides to corporate clients, on a selective
basis, through subsidiaries (including Morgan Stanley Bank), loans or lending commitments, including bridge financing. The
borrowers may be rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be senior
or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower, and
may be syndicated or traded by the Company. At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, the aggregate value of investment
grade loans and positions was $1.0 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, and the aggregate value of non-investment grade loans and
positions was $0.7 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively. At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, the Company’s aggregate
investment grade lending commitments were $14.2 billion and $13.8 billion, respectively, and its aggregate non-investment grade
lending commitments were $1.9 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively. In connection with these business activities (which include the
loans and positions and lending commitments), the Company had hedges with a notional amount of $5.5 billion at November 30,
2003 and $4.4 billion at November 30, 2002.
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial instruments at
contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the market at prevailing prices.
Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the
amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at November 30, 2003, $467 million in connection
with its private equity and other principal investment activities. Additionally, the Company has provided and will continue to provide
financing, including margin lending and other extensions of credit to clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and
liquidity risks.
At November 30, 2003, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements of approximately
$45 billion and $30 billion, respectively.
Legal. In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions,
including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a global diversified financial
services institution. Certain of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for
indeterminate amounts of damages. The Company also is involved, from time to time, in investigations and proceedings by
governmental and self-regulatory agencies, certain of which may result in adverse judgments, fines or penalties. The number of these
investigations and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms, including the Company. In some cases, the
issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or otherwise in financial distress.
In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases in which claimants seek substantial
or indeterminate damages, the Company cannot predict with certainty the eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters. The
Company is contesting liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter and believes, based on current knowledge and
after consultation with counsel, that the outcome of each matter will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
condition of the Company, although the outcome could be material to the Company’s operating results for a particular future period,
depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s income for such period.
On November 17, 2003, MSDWI consented, without admitting or denying the findings, to the entry of an order (the “Order”) by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) that resolved the SEC’s and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.’s
(the “NASD”) investigations into certain practices relating to MSDWI’s offer and sale of certain mutual funds from January 1, 2000
to the date of the Order. Pursuant to the Order, MSDWI will: (a) distribute for the benefit of certain customers who purchased shares
of mutual funds through MSDWI pursuant to the marketing arrangements between MSDWI and certain mutual fund complexes the
amount of $50 million; (b) place on its website disclosures relating to certain marketing programs pursuant to which it offered and
sold certain mutual funds; (c) prepare a Mutual Fund Bill of Rights that discloses, among other things, the differences in fees and
expenses associated with the purchase of different classes of proprietary mutual fund shares; (d) prepare a plan by which certain
customers’ proprietary Class B shares can be converted to Class A shares; (e) retain an independent consultant to review, among other
things, the adequacy of MSDWI’s disclosures with respect to such marketing programs and other matters in connection with
MSDWI’s offer and sale of shares of mutual funds and compliance with the Order;
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and (f) adopt the recommendations of the independent consultant. The number of purchase transactions of Class B shares that will be
eligible to convert shares is approximately 8,000. The ultimate financial impact on MSDWI of these conversions will depend on
many variables, including the number of eligible purchasers who elect to convert to Class A shares (which involve different fees) and
the terms of the conversion (which shall not be unacceptable to the independent consultant).
On April 28, 2003, the Company, along with nine other financial services firms operating in the U.S., reached a final settlement with
the SEC, the New York State Attorney General’s Office, the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”), the NASD and the North
American Securities Administrators Association (on behalf of state securities regulators) to resolve their investigations relating to
alleged research conflicts of interest. Without admitting or denying allegations with respect to violations of certain rules of the NYSE
and NASD relating to investment research activities (there were no allegations of fraud or federal securities law violations made
against the Company), the Company entered into consents and other documentation pursuant to which the Company agreed, among
other things, to (1) pay $25 million as a penalty, (2) pay $25 million as disgorgement of commissions and other monies, (3) provide
$75 million over five years to make available independent third-party research to clients, (4) adopt internal practices and procedures
that will further enhance steps it has taken to ensure research analyst integrity and promote investor confidence and (5) be
permanently restrained and enjoined from violating certain rules of the NYSE and NASD relating to investment research activities. In
connection with the final settlement, the Company also voluntarily agreed to adopt restrictions on the allocation of shares in initial
public offerings to certain corporate executives and directors. The settlement has been approved by the SEC, the NYSE, the NASD,
the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “SDNY”) and almost all states and was entered as a court-ordered
injunction in the SDNY on October 31, 2003.
10. Earnings per Share.
Earnings per share were calculated as follows (in millions, except for per share data):
Fiscal 2003

Basic EPS:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Preferred stock dividend requirements
Net income applicable to common shareholders

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

$

3,809
22
—
—

$

2,999
11
—
—

$

3,576
(4)
59
32

$

3,787

$

2,988

$

3,489

Weighted average common shares outstanding

1,077

1,083

1,086

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

3.54
(0.02)
—

$

2.77
(0.01)
—

$

3.26
—
(0.05)

Basic EPS

$

3.52

$

2.76

$

3.21

Fiscal 2003

Diluted EPS:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Preferred stock dividend requirements
Net income applicable to common shareholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

$

3,809
22
—
—

$

2,999
11
—
—

$

3,576
(4)
59
32

$

3,787

$

2,988

$

3,489

1,077

1,083

1,086

Stock options
Convertible debt
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock equivalents

21
1

26
1

35
1

1,099

1,110

1,122

Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change

$

3.47
(0.02)
—

$

2.70
(0.01)
—

$

3.16
—
(0.05)

Diluted EPS

$

3.45

$

2.69

$

3.11
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At November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, there were approximately 60 million and 65 million stock options outstanding,
respectively, that were considered antidilutive and therefore excluded from the computation of diluted EPS.
11. Sales and Trading Activities.
The Company’s institutional sales and trading activities are conducted through the integrated management of its client-driven and
proprietary transactions along with the hedging and financing of these positions. While sales and trading activities are generated by
client order flow, the Company also takes proprietary positions based on expectations of future market movements and conditions.
The Company’s trading portfolios are managed with a view toward the risk and profitability of the portfolios. The following
discussions of risk management, market risk, credit risk, concentration risk and customer activities relate to the Company’s sales and
trading activities.
Risk Management. Risk management at the Company is a multi-faceted process with independent oversight that requires constant
communication, judgment and knowledge of specialized products and markets. The Company’s senior management takes an active
role in the risk management process and has developed policies and procedures that require specific administrative and business
functions to assist in the identification, assessment and control of various risks. In recognition of the increasingly varied and complex
nature of the global financial services business, the Company’s risk management policies, procedures and methodologies are
evolutionary in nature and are subject to ongoing review and modification.
The Management Committee, composed of the Company’s most senior officers, establishes the Company’s overall risk management
policies and reviews its performance relative to these policies. The Management Committee has authorized the Securities Risk
Committee to assist in monitoring and reviewing risk management practices of the Company’s Institutional Securities business. The
Securities Risk Committee has created subcommittees that report on specific risk management matters associated with the
Institutional Securities business. In addition, the Company’s other business areas have established committees to manage and monitor
specific risks. These committees and subcommittees review the risk monitoring and risk management policies and procedures relating
to the Company’s market and credit risk profile, sales practices, reputation, legal enforceability, and operational and technology risks.
Representation on these committees by senior management of both the business units and the relevant independent control functions
helps ensure that risk policies and procedures, exceptions to risk limits, new products and business ventures, and transactions with
risk elements undergo a thorough review.
The Market Risk, Credit, Controllers, Treasury, and Law Departments, which are all independent of the Company’s business units,
assist senior management and the risk committees in monitoring and controlling the Company’s risk profile. The Market Risk and
Credit Departments have operational responsibility for measuring and monitoring aggregate market risk and credit risk, respectively,
with respect to the Company’s institutional trading activities and are responsible for risk policy development, risk analysis and risk
reporting to senior management and the risk committees. In addition, the Internal Audit Department, which reports to senior
management and the Company’s Audit Committee, periodically examines and evaluates the Company’s operations and control
environment. The Company is committed to employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise in each of its various
administrative and business areas to implement effectively the Company’s risk management and monitoring systems and processes.
Market Risk. Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates, indices, implied volatilities
(the price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option prices), correlations or other market factors, such as liquidity,
will result in losses for a position or portfolio.
The Company manages the market risk associated with its trading activities on a Company-wide basis, on a worldwide trading
division level and on an individual product basis. Aggregate market risk limits have been approved for the Company and for its major
trading divisions worldwide (equity and fixed income, which includes interest rate products, credit products, foreign exchange and
commodities). Additional market risk limits are assigned to trading desks and, as appropriate, products and regions. Trading division
risk managers, desk risk managers, traders and the Market Risk Department monitor market risk measures against limits in
accordance with policies set by senior management.
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The Market Risk Department independently reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular basis from a market risk
perspective utilizing Value-at-Risk and other quantitative and qualitative risk measures and analyses. The Company’s trading
businesses and the Market Risk Department also use, as appropriate, measures such as sensitivity to changes in interest rates, prices,
implied volatilities and time decay to monitor and report market risk exposures. Stress testing, which measures the impact on the
value of existing portfolios of specified changes in market factors for certain products, is performed periodically and is reviewed by
trading division risk managers, desk risk managers and the Market Risk Department. The Market Risk Department also conducts
scenario analysis, which estimates the Company’s revenue sensitivity to a series of specific predefined market and geopolitical
events. Reports summarizing material risk exposures are produced by the Market Risk Department and are disseminated to senior
management, including the Management Committee and the Securities Risk Committee.
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss to the Company arising from possible borrower or counterparty default on a contractual
financial commitment. Credit risk arising in connection with the Company’s Institutional Securities activities is managed by the
Credit Department and various business lines, within parameters set by the Company’s senior management. Credit risk management
takes place at transaction, obligor and portfolio levels. At the transaction level, the Company seeks to mitigate credit risk through
management of key risk elements such as size, tenor, seniority and collateral. At the obligor level, the Company makes use of: credit
syndication, assignment and sale; netting agreements and collateral arrangements; and derivatives and other financial instruments. In
addition, the Credit Department periodically reviews the financial soundness of obligors of the Company. For portfolios of credit
exposure, the Company, as appropriate, assesses credit risk concentrations and purchases portfolio credit hedges.
The Company has credit guidelines that limit current and potential credit exposure to any one borrower or counterparty and to
aggregates of borrowers or counterparties by type of business activity. The Credit Department administers these limits and monitors
and reports credit exposure relative to limits.
Concentration Risk. The Company is subject to concentration risk by holding large positions in certain types of securities or
commitments to purchase securities of a single issuer, including sovereign governments and other entities, issuers located in a
particular country or geographic area, public and private issuers involving developing countries, or issuers engaged in a particular
industry. Financial instruments owned by the Company include U.S. government and agency securities and securities issued by other
sovereign governments (principally Japan, Italy, France and Germany), which, in the aggregate, represented approximately 8% of the
Company’s total assets at November 30, 2003. In addition, substantially all of the collateral held by the Company for resale
agreements or bonds borrowed, which together represented approximately 23% of the Company’s total assets at November 30, 2003,
consist of securities issued by the U.S. government, federal agencies or other sovereign government obligations. Positions taken and
commitments made by the Company, including positions taken and underwriting and financing commitments made in connection
with its private equity, principal investment and lending activities, often involve substantial amounts and significant exposure to
individual issuers and businesses, including non-investment grade issuers. The Company seeks to limit concentration risk through the
use of the systems and procedures described in the preceding discussions of risk management, market risk and credit risk.
Customer Activities. The Company’s customer activities involve the execution, settlement and financing of various securities and
commodities transactions on behalf of customers. Customer securities activities are transacted on either a cash or margin basis.
Customer commodities activities, which include the execution of customer transactions in commodity futures transactions (including
options on futures), are transacted on a margin basis.
The Company’s customer activities may expose it to off-balance sheet credit risk. The Company may have to purchase or sell
financial instruments at prevailing market prices in the event of the failure of a customer to settle a trade on its original terms or in the
event cash and securities in customer margin accounts are not sufficient to fully cover customer losses. The Company seeks to control
the risks associated with customer activities by requiring customers to maintain margin collateral in compliance with various
regulations and Company policies.
Derivative Contracts. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange traded and OTC options
and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward contracts and swaps) for derivatives used by the
Company for trading and investment and for asset and liability management, net of offsetting positions in situations where netting is
appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of collateral, which the Company obtains with respect to certain of these
transactions to reduce its exposure to credit losses.
Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the
contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair value of the contracts reported as
assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional
collateral when deemed necessary. The Company believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at November 30,
2003 will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition.
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The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002 are summarized in the table below,
showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:
At November 30, 2003
Assets

Liabilities

At November 30, 2002
Assets

Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and other fixed income
securities contracts
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options)
Commodity forwards, options and swaps
Total

$27,280
5,964
4,503
6,905

$18,950
5,561
5,781
5,950

$25,456
2,308
3,933
3,918

$18,225
2,508
4,472
3,780

$44,652

$36,242

$35,615

$28,985

12. Capital Units and Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption.
The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc (“MSF”), a U.K.
subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the Company and maturing in 2017 and
(b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase
one Depositary Share representing shares of the Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units
outstanding was $66 million at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively.
Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption (also referred to as “Capital Securities” herein) represent preferred minority
interests in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Accordingly, dividends paid on Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory
Redemption are presented as a deduction to after-tax income (similar to minority interests in the income of subsidiaries) in the
Company’s consolidated statements of income.
Morgan Stanley Capital Trust II (“Capital Trust II”), Morgan Stanley Capital Trust III (“Capital Trust III”), Morgan Stanley Capital
Trust IV (“Capital Trust IV”) and Morgan Stanley Capital Trust V (“Capital Trust V”) are consolidated Delaware statutory trusts (all
of the common securities of which are owned by the Company) and have Capital Securities outstanding. The trusts invested the
proceeds of the Capital Securities offerings and the proceeds from the sale of common securities to the Company in junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the Company, the terms of which parallel the terms of the Capital Securities.
The Capital Securities are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company, based on the Company’s combined obligations
under a guarantee, a trust agreement and a junior subordinated debt indenture.
During fiscal 2003, Capital Trust III issued $880 million of 6.25% Capital Securities (the “Capital Securities III”), Capital Trust IV
issued $620 million of 6.25% Capital Securities (the “Capital Securities IV”) and Capital Trust V issued $500 million of 5.75%
Capital Securities (the “Capital Securities V”).
During fiscal 2003, the Company redeemed all $400 million of its 7.10% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures held by
MSDW Capital Trust I. The Company also simultaneously redeemed all of the outstanding 7.10% Capital Securities of MSDW
Capital Trust I at a redemption price of $25 per share.
The significant terms of the Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption issued by Capital Trust II, Capital Trust III,
Capital Trust IV and Capital Trust V, and the corresponding junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the
Company, are presented below:
Preferred Securities
Subject to
Mandatory Redemption

Issuance date
Preferred securities issued
Liquidation preference per security
Liquidation value (in millions)
Coupon rate
Distribution payable
Distributions guaranteed by

Capital
Trust II

$
$

July 19, 2001
32,400,000
25
810
7.25%
Quarterly

Capital
Trust III

February 27, 2003
35,200,000
$
25
$
880
6.25%
Quarterly

Capital
Trust IV

April 21, 2003
24,800,000
$
25
$
620
6.25%
Quarterly

Capital
Trust V

July 16, 2003
20,000,000
$
25
$
500
5.75%
Quarterly
Morgan

Morgan Stanley

Morgan Stanley

Morgan Stanley

Stanley
July 15,
2033(4)
July 16, 2008

Mandatory redemption date
July 31, 2031(1)
July 31, 2006

Redeemable by issuer on or after(6)

March 1, 2033(2)
March 1, 2008

April 1, 2033(3)
April 21, 2008

Junior Subordinated Deferrable
Interest Debentures

Principal amount outstanding (in millions)
(5)
Coupon rate
Interest payable
Maturity date
Redeemable by issuer on or after(6)
(1)

$

835
7.25%
Quarterly
July 31, 2031(1)
July 31, 2006

$

May be extended to a date not later than July 31, 2050.
25

907
6.25%
Quarterly
March 1, 2033(2)
March 1, 2008

$

639
6.25%
Quarterly
April 1, 2033(3)
April 21, 2008

$

515
5.75%
Quarterly
July 15, 2033(4)
July 16, 2008
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(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

May be extended to a date not later than March 1, 2052.
May be extended to a date not later than April 1, 2052.
May be extended to a date not later than July 15, 2052.
Purchased by the trusts with the proceeds of the Capital Securities offerings and the proceeds from the sale of common securities
to the Company.
Redeemable prior to this date in whole (but not in part) upon the occurrence of certain events.

In December 2003, the FASB issued certain revisions to FIN 46 to clarify and expand on the accounting guidance for variable interest
entities. In accordance with this revised guidance, the Company will deconsolidate all of its statutory trusts (Capital Trust II, III, IV
and V) at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2004. As a result, the junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the
Company to the statutory trusts will be included within the Long-term borrowings of the Company, and the common securities issued
by the statutory trusts and owned by the Company will be recorded by the Company as an asset. In addition, the Capital Securities
issued by the statutory trusts no longer will be included in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condition. The impact
of the deconsolidation of the statutory trusts will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or
results of operations.
13. Shareholders’ Equity.
Common Stock. Changes in shares of common stock outstanding for fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 were as follows (share data in
millions):
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Shares outstanding at beginning of period
Net impact of stock option exercises and other share issuances
Treasury stock purchases

1,081
13
(9)

1,093
10
(22)

Shares outstanding at end of period

1,085

1,081

Treasury Shares. During fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the Company purchased $350 million and $990 million of its common stock,
respectively, through open market purchases at an average cost of $39.12 and $44.57 per share, respectively. The Board of Directors
has authorized the Company to purchase, subject to market conditions and certain other factors, shares of common stock for capital
management purposes. The unused portion of this authorization at January 31, 2004 was approximately $600 million. The Company
also has an ongoing repurchase authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based compensation plans.
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Rabbi Trusts. The Company has established rabbi trusts (the “Trusts”) to provide common stock voting rights to employees who hold
outstanding restricted stock units. The number of shares of common stock outstanding in the Trusts was 65 million at November 30,
2003 and 80 million at November 30, 2002. The assets of the Trusts are consolidated with those of the Company, and the value of the
Company’s stock held in the Trusts is classified in shareholders’ equity and generally accounted for in a manner similar to treasury
stock.
Regulatory Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures commission merchants and,
accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission. MS&Co. and MSDWI have consistently operated in excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $3,778
million at November 30, 2003, which exceeded the amount required by $3,043 million. MSDWI’s net capital totaled $1,056 million
at November 30, 2003, which exceeded the amount required by $955 million. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is
subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is subject to the
capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MSIL and MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective
regulatory capital requirements.
Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the FDIC and other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions
must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to
risk-weighted assets (“Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total riskweighted capital ratio”). At November 30, 2003, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-weighted capital
ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory minimums.
In fiscal 2002, the FDIC, in conjunction with other bank regulatory agencies, issued guidance requiring FDIC-insured financial
institutions to treat accrued interest receivable related to credit card securitizations as a subordinated retained interest, which required
holding higher regulatory capital beginning December 31, 2002. The Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions have maintained
capital ratios in excess of the regulatory minimums since implementing this revised guidance.
Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking regulations, and capital
adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the countries in which they operate. These
subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products
Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by
various rating agencies.
The regulatory capital requirements referred to above, and certain covenants contained in various agreements governing indebtedness
of the Company, may restrict the Company’s ability to withdraw capital from its subsidiaries. At November 30, 2003, approximately
$7.6 billion of net assets of consolidated subsidiaries may be restricted as to the payment of cash dividends and advances to the
Company.
Cumulative Translation Adjustments. Cumulative translation adjustments include gains or losses resulting from translating foreign
currency financial statements from their respective functional currencies to U.S. dollars, net of hedge gains or losses and related tax
effects. The Company uses foreign currency contracts and designates certain non-U.S. dollar currency debt as hedges to manage the
currency exposure relating to its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries. Increases or decreases
in the value of the Company’s net foreign investments generally are tax deferred for U.S. purposes, but the related hedge gains and
losses are taxable currently. The Company attempts to protect its net book value from the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange
rates on its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar subsidiaries by selling the appropriate non-U.S. dollar currency in the
forward market. However, under some circumstances, the Company may elect not to hedge its net monetary investments in certain
foreign operations due to market conditions, including the availability of various currency contracts at acceptable costs. Information
relating to the hedging of the Company’s net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries and their
effects on cumulative translation adjustments is summarized below:
At November 30,
2003

2002

(dollars in millions)

Net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries

$ 3,603

$ 2,587

Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from net investments in subsidiaries with a non-U.S. dollar
functional currency
Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from realized or unrealized (losses) gains on hedges, net of tax

$ 282
(324)

$ (147)
27

Total cumulative translation adjustments

$

27

(42)

$ (120)
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14. Employee Compensation Plans.
Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, using the prospective adoption
method (see Note 2).
As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123, the Company will recognize the fair value of stock-based awards granted in fiscal 2003
over service periods of three and four years, including the year of grant. During fiscal 2003, the Company revised the terms of the
awards, including extending the time period over which vesting and non-compete provisions apply and raising the eligibility
requirements to participate in such awards. Historically, under the approach in APB 25 and the terms of the Company’s plans in prior
years, the Company recognized compensation expense for deferred stock awards in the year of grant; however, no compensation
expense was generally recognized for stock option grants.
The components of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense (net of cancellations) are presented below:
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

(dollars in millions)

Deferred stock
Stock options
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Employee Stock Ownership Plan
Total

$

109
176
8
16

$

382
—
—
18

$

571
—
—
13

$

309

$

400

$

584

The Company is authorized to issue shares of its common stock in connection with awards under its equity-based compensation and
benefit plans. At November 30, 2003, approximately 196 million shares were available for future grant under these plans.
Deferred Stock Awards. The Company has made deferred stock awards pursuant to several equity-based compensation plans. The
plans provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary compensation with awards made in the form of
restricted common stock or in the right to receive unrestricted shares of common stock in the future (“restricted stock units”). Awards
under these plans are generally subject to vesting over time and to restrictions on sale, transfer or assignment until the end of a
specified period, generally five to 10 years from date of grant. All or a portion of an award may be cancelled if employment is
terminated before the end of the relevant vesting period. All or a portion of a vested award may also be cancelled in certain limited
situations, including termination for cause during the relevant restriction period.
The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s restricted stock units (share data in millions):
Fiscal 2003

Restricted stock units at beginning of year
Granted
Conversions to common stock
Cancelled
Restricted stock units at end of year

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

80
11
(24)
(2)

96
10
(24)
(2)

115
11
(29)
(1)

65

80

96

Stock Option Awards. The Company has made stock option awards pursuant to several equity-based compensation plans. The plans
provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary compensation with awards made in the form of stock
options generally having an exercise price not less than the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Such
options generally become exercisable over a one- to five-year period and expire 10 years from the date of grant, subject to accelerated
expiration upon termination of employment. Option awards have vesting, restriction and cancellation provisions that are similar to
those in deferred stock awards.
The following table presents the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair value based method had been applied to all
option awards in each period:
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2001

Net income, as reported
Add: Employee stock-based compensation expense included in reported net
income, net of related tax effects
Deduct: Employee stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair
value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects

$ 3,787

Pro forma net income

$ 3,787

28

$ 2,988

$ 3,521

117

—

—

(117)

(250)

(375)

$ 2,738

$ 3,146
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Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

$

3.52

$

2.76

$

3.21

Basic—pro forma

$

3.52

$

2.53

$

2.87

Diluted—as reported

$

3.45

$

2.69

$

3.11

Diluted—pro forma

$

3.45

$

2.45

$

2.76

Earnings per share:
Basic—as reported

In prior years, no compensation was recorded for stock options because the Company utilized the intrinsic value method and granted
options with an exercise price equal to the current stock price. With its adoption of SFAS 123 in fiscal 2003, the Company began to
recognize compensation based on the fair value of the options at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. The weighted
average fair value of options granted during fiscal 2003 was $19.75 and for fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 pro forma purposes was
$19.42 and $26.43, respectively, utilizing the following weighted average assumptions:
Fiscal 2003

Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life in years
Expected stock price volatility
Expected dividend yield

Fiscal 2002

3.6%
5.8
39.4%
1.7%

Fiscal 2001

3.8%
6.2
50.7%
1.9%

4.7%
6.1
48.4%
1.5%

The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s stock option awards (share data in millions):
Fiscal 2003

Number
of
Shares

Fiscal 2002

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of
Shares

Fiscal 2001

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Options outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

163.7 $ 40.11
31.0
54.69
(12.9)
17.61
(6.3)
59.24

151.4 $ 38.88
22.8
43.66
(7.6)
19.40
(2.9)
57.94

137.6 $ 34.87
24.5
57.56
(8.1)
21.85
(2.6)
56.14

Options outstanding at end of period

175.5

$ 43.66

163.7

$ 40.11

151.4

$ 38.88

Options exercisable at end of period

96.2

$ 37.13

91.2

$ 30.02

92.4

$ 27.71

The following table presents information relating to the Company’s stock options outstanding at November 30, 2003 (share data in
millions):
Options Outstanding

Range of Exercise Prices

$ 4.00 – $ 19.99
$20.00 – $ 29.99
$30.00 – $ 39.99
$40.00 – $ 49.99
$50.00 – $ 59.99
$60.00 – $ 69.99
$70.00 – $107.99

Number
Outstanding

27.3
18.5
16.2
23.7
54.7
32.4
2.7

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$

9.16
27.05
35.65
42.88
55.67
63.17
84.96

Options Exercisable
Average
Remaining
Life (Years)

Number
Exercisable

1.2
3.6
5.0
8.2
8.9
6.5
5.1

25.1
18.5
15.8
3.8
3.3
27.3
2.4

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$

9.17
27.05
35.64
44.15
53.69
63.29
85.63

Total

175.5

6.2

29

96.2
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allows employees to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock at a 15% discount from market value, with a maximum of $25,000 in annual aggregate purchases by any
one individual. In adopting SFAS No. 123, the Company now expenses the 15% discount associated with the ESPP.
Employee Stock Ownership Plan. The Company has a leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “ESOP”) that was established
to broaden internal ownership of the Company and to provide benefits to its employees in a cost-effective manner. Contributions to
the ESOP by the Company and allocation of ESOP shares to employees are made annually at the discretion of the Board of Directors
based on the financial performance of the Company.
Shares allocated to employees generally may not be withdrawn until the employee’s death, disability, retirement or termination. The
ESOP debt service costs for fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 were paid from dividends received for stock held by the ESOP
trust and from Company contributions.
Profit Sharing Plans. The Company sponsors a qualified profit sharing plan covering substantially all U.S. employees and also
provides cash payments of profit sharing to employees of its international subsidiaries. Contributions are made to eligible employees
annually at the discretion of the Board of Directors based upon the financial performance of the Company. Profit sharing expense for
fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 was $96 million, $104 million and $149 million, respectively. Fiscal 2001’s expense included
awards of $69 million of the Company’s common stock.
15. Employee Benefit Plans.
The Company sponsors various pension plans for the majority of its worldwide employees. The Company provides certain other
postretirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance, to eligible employees. The Company also provides certain benefits to
former employees or inactive employees prior to retirement. The following summarizes these plans:
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. Substantially all of the U.S. employees of the Company and its U.S. affiliates are covered
by non-contributory pension plans that are qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Qualified Plans”).
Unfunded supplementary plans (the “Supplemental Plans”) cover certain executives. In addition to the Qualified Plans and the
Supplemental Plans, certain of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries also have pension plans covering substantially all of their
employees. These pension plans generally provide pension benefits that are based on each employee’s years of credited service and
on compensation levels specified in the plans. For the Qualified Plans and the non-U.S. plans, the Company’s policy is to fund at least
the amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements under applicable employee benefit and tax regulations. Liabilities for
benefits payable under the Supplemental Plans are accrued by the Company and are funded when paid to the beneficiaries.
The Company also has unfunded postretirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance for eligible retirees and
dependents.
The Company uses a measurement date of September 30 for its pension and postretirement plans.
The following tables present information for the Company’s pension and postretirement plans on an aggregate basis:
Net Periodic Benefit Expense.
Net periodic benefit expense included the following components:
Pension

Postretirement

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

$

109
116
(118)
19
2
6

$

134

$

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

(dollars in millions)

Service cost, benefits earned during the period
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Net settlements and curtailments
Special termination benefits
Net periodic benefit expense

$

30

82
112
(111)
9
24
5

$

121

$

8
9

$

—
—
—
—
17

5
8
—
(1)
—
3

$

15
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Benefit Obligations and Funded Status.
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for fiscal 2003 and
fiscal 2002 as well as a summary of the funded status at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002:
Pension
Fiscal 2003

Postretirement

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

(dollars in millions)

Reconciliation of benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendments
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Curtailments
Special termination benefits
Foreign currency exchange rate changes and other

$ 1,859
109
116
(186)
225
(123)
(15)
6
19

$ 1,543
82
112
11
264
(157)
(31)
5
30

$

147
8
9
—
14
(7)
—
—
—

$

115
5
8
(4)
26
(6)
—
3
—

Benefit obligation at end of year

$ 2,010

$ 1,859

$

171

$

147

$ 1,351
227
239
(125)
9

$ 1,122
(84)
463
(157)
7

$

—
—

$

—
—

$ 1,701

$ 1,351

$

—

$

—

$

(309)
3
(153)
804

$

(508)
2
29
720

$

(171)
—
(11)
49

$

(147)
—
(13)
38

$

345

$

243

$

(133)

$

(122)

$

524
(217)
2
36

$

449
(236)
4
26

$

—
(133)
—
—

$

—
(122)
—
—

$

345

$

243

$

(133)

$

(122)

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid and settlements
Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Funded status:
Funded status
Amount contributed to plan after measurement date
Unrecognized prior-service cost
Unrecognized loss
Net amount recognized
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial condition
consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Intangible asset
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized

7
(7)
—

6
(6)
—

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $1,855 million and $1,550 million at November 30,
2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively.
The following table contains information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of fiscal
year-end:
November 30,
2003

November 30,
2002

(dollars in millions)

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

$

321
273
65

$

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” the Company recorded an additional minimum pension
liability of $38 million at November 30, 2003 and $30 million at November 30, 2002 for defined benefit pension plans whose
31

545
432
167
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accumulated benefits exceeded plan assets. A corresponding amount was recognized as an intangible asset, to the extent of
unrecognized prior-service cost. The remaining balance of $36 million ($28 million net of income taxes) in fiscal 2003 and $26
million ($19 million net of income taxes) in fiscal 2002 was recorded as a reduction of Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss), a component of shareholders’ equity.
Assumptions.
The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at fiscal year-end:
Pension
Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2003

Discount rate
Rate of future compensation increases

Postretirement

6.20%
5.00

Fiscal 2003

6.75%
5.00

Fiscal 2002

6.20%
n/a

6.75%
n/a

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for fiscal 2003 and fiscal
2002:
Pension
Fiscal 2003

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Rate of future compensation increases

6.75%
7.50
5.00

Postretirement
Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2003

7.55%
8.50
5.00

Fiscal 2002

6.75%
n/a
n/a

7.55%
n/a
n/a

The Company uses the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets to compute the expected return on assets. For its U.S. pension
plans, which comprised approximately 95% of the total assets of the Company’s pension plans at November 30, 2003, the Company
estimates the expected long-term return by utilizing a portfolio return calculator model (the “Portfolio Model”) that produces the
expected return for a portfolio. Return assumptions are forward-looking gross returns that are not developed solely by an examination
of historical returns. The Portfolio Model begins with the current U.S. Treasury yield curve, recognizing that expected returns on
bonds are heavily influenced by the current level of yields. Corporate bond spreads and equity risk premiums, based on current
market conditions, are then added to develop the return expectations for each asset class. Expenses that are expected to be paid from
the investment return are reflected in the Portfolio Model as a percentage of plan assets. This includes investment and transaction fees
that typically are paid from plan assets, added to the cost basis or subtracted from sale proceeds, as well as administrative expenses
paid from the pension plan.
The following table presents assumed health care cost trend rates:
November 30,
2003

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year:
Medical

November 30,
2002

11.0011.50%
16.00%
5.00%
2012

Prescription
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate)
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

10.0011.00%
16.00%
5.00%
2012

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Company’s postretirement benefit
plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:
One Percentage
Point Increase

One Percentage
Point Decrease

(dollars in millions)

Effect on total of service and interest cost
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

$

32

2
21

$

(2)
(16)
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Plan Assets.
The weighted average asset allocations for the Company’s pension plans at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002 and the
targeted asset allocation for fiscal 2004 by asset class were as follows:
November 30,
2003

Equity securities
Fixed income securities
Other—primarily cash
Total

November 30,
2002

Fiscal 2004
Targeted

58%
28
14

41%
27
32

55-65%
35-45
—

100%

100%

100%

Pension Plan Asset Allocation. The Company’s asset allocation targets for its pension plan assets are based on its assessment of
business and financial conditions, demographic and actuarial data, funding characteristics and related risk factors. Other relevant
factors as well as equity and fixed income market sensitivity analysis also were considered in determining this asset mix. The overall
allocation is expected to help protect each plan’s funded status while generating sufficiently stable real returns (i.e., net of inflation) to
help cover current and future pension obligations.
The equity portion of the asset allocation utilizes a combination of active and passive investment strategies as well as different
investment styles, while a portion of the fixed income asset allocation utilizes longer duration fixed income securities to help reduce
plan exposure to interest rate variation and to correlate assets with obligations. The longer duration fixed income allocation also is
expected to further stabilize plan contributions over the long run. Additionally, potential allocations to other asset classes are intended
to provide attractive diversification benefits, absolute return enhancement and/or other potential benefits to the pension plans.
The asset mix of each of the Company’s U.S. pension plans is reviewed quarterly by the Morgan Stanley Retirement Plan Investment
Committee. When asset class exposure reaches a minimum or maximum level, the plan asset allocation mix is rebalanced back to
target allocation levels.
The pension plans’ real and actuarial return objectives provide long-term measures for monitoring the investment performance against
growth in the pension liabilities. Total pension plan portfolio performance is assessed by comparing actual returns with relevant
benchmarks, such as the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 1000 Index and the Lehman Brothers Aggregate Index.
The Company’s U.S. pension plans may invest in derivative instruments only to the extent that they comply with all of the pension
plans’ policy guidelines and are consistent with the pension plans’ risk and return objectives. In addition, any investment in
derivatives must meet the following conditions:
•

Derivatives may be used only to manage risk of the portfolio or if they are deemed to be more attractive than a similar direct
investment in the underlying cash market.

•

Derivatives may not be used in a speculative manner or to leverage the portfolio or for short-term trading.

•

Derivatives may be used only in the management of the pension plans’ portfolio when their possible effects can be:
quantified; shown to enhance the risk-return profile of the portfolio; and reported in a meaningful and understandable
manner.

Cash Flows.
The Company expects to contribute approximately $45 million to its pension and other benefit plans in fiscal 2004 based upon their
current funded status and expected asset return assumptions.
Expected benefit payments associated with the Company’s pension and other benefit plans for the next five fiscal years and in
aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter are as follows:
Pension

Postretirement

(dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2004
Fiscal 2005
Fiscal 2006
Fiscal 2007
Fiscal 2008

$

89
91
96
102
111

$

8
8
9
9
10

Fiscal 2009-2013

633
33

56
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Defined Contribution Plans.
The Company maintains separate defined contribution pension plans that cover substantially all employees of certain non-U.S.
subsidiaries. Under such plans, benefits are determined by the purchasing power of the accumulated value of contributions paid. In
fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, the Company’s expense related to these plans was $56 million, $62 million and $68 million,
respectively.
Postemployment Benefits. Postemployment benefits include, but are not limited to, salary continuation, severance benefits, disabilityrelated benefits, and continuation of health care and life insurance coverage provided to former employees or inactive employees after
employment but before retirement. These benefits were not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements in fiscal
2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001.
New Medicare Legislation. The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the Act”), which was
enacted in December 2003, will likely reduce the Company’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. The Company’s
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and related costs do not reflect the effects of the Act. The Medicare prescription drug
plan will take effect in 2006, and the financial statement impact of the Act is not expected to be material to the Company’s results of
operations.
16. Income Taxes.
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of:
Fiscal 2003

Fiscal 2002

Fiscal 2001

(dollars in millions)

Current:
U.S. federal
U.S. state and local
Non-U.S.

$

788
97
467

$ 1,133
130
269

$ 1,971
224
260

1,352

1,532

2,455

144
44
23

11
12
20

(555)
(62)
184

211

43

(433)

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations

$ 1,563

$ 1,575

$ 2,022

Income tax (benefit)/provision for income taxes from discontinued operations

$

$

$

Deferred:
U.S. federal
U.S. state and local
Non-U.S.

(16)

(7)

2

The following table reconciles the provision (including both continuing and discontinued operations) to the U.S. federal statutory
income tax rate:
Fiscal
2003

Fiscal
2002

Fiscal
2001

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
U.S. state and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax benefits
Lower tax rates applicable to non-U.S. earnings
Domestic tax credits
Other

35.0%
1.7
(2.4)
(4.9)
(0.4)

35.0%
2.0
(0.9)
(2.4)
0.7

35.0%
1.9
(0.4)
(0.9)
0.5

Effective income tax rate

29.0%

34.4%

36.1%

As of November 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $4.9 billion of earnings attributable to foreign subsidiaries for which no
provisions have been recorded for income tax that could occur upon repatriation. Except to the extent such earnings can be repatriated

tax efficiently, they are permanently invested abroad. It is not practicable to determine the amount of income taxes payable in the
event all such foreign earnings are repatriated.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002 were as
follows:
November 30,
2003

November 30,
2002

(dollars in millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Employee compensation and benefit plans
Loan loss allowance
Other valuation and liability allowances
Deferred expenses
Other

$

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid commissions
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

1,891
370
1,147
27
736

$

2,239
344
928
70
422

4,171

4,003

147
1,251

222
822

1,398

1,044

2,773

$

2,959

Cash paid for income taxes was $746 million, $1,252 million and $910 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001,
respectively.
The Company recorded income tax benefits of $333 million, $282 million and $460 million related to employee stock compensation
transactions in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively. Such benefits were credited to Paid-in capital.
17. Segment and Geographic Information.
The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services provided to customers
and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of financial products and services to its
customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit
Services. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.
The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services,
including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and marketmaking activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign
exchange and commodities; principal investing and aircraft financing activities. The Company’s Individual Investor Group business
provides comprehensive financial planning and investment advisory services designed to accommodate individual investment goals
and risk profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business provides global asset management products and services for
individual and institutional investors through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s
financial advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial
planners and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s private equity activities also are included
within the Investment Management business segment. The Company’s Credit Services business offers Discover-branded cards and
other consumer finance products and services and includes the operation of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and
cash access locations primarily in the U.S.
Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their operating results. Other
revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are allocated based upon the Company’s allocation
methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective revenues or other relevant measures.
During fiscal 2003, the Company reviewed its segment allocation methodology. This review resulted in the reallocation of certain
revenues, expenses and assets during fiscal 2003 among the Company’s business segments: Institutional Securities, Individual
Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit Services. The Company believes that the results of these reallocations better
reflect the economics of each business segment by representing transactions as if conducted between a segment and an external party.

Prior periods have been restated to reflect these segment allocation changes. While the segment allocation changes had no effect on
the Company’s consolidated net income, they affected the net income of each segment.
The principal revenues and expenses that have been reallocated among the segments are:
•

Retail Customer Fixed Income Transactions. The results of the individual fixed income business are now allocated between
Institutional Securities and Individual Investor Group to reflect the relative value from both the execution of the retail
customer trading activities through Institutional Securities and the retail customer relationship management through
Individual Investor Group. Previously, the trading results of this business were reflected entirely in Institutional Securities.
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•

Money Market Funds. Retail customers of Individual Investor Group invest in money market funds managed by the
Company. A percentage of the fund management fees associated with these investments is now allocated to Individual
Investor Group. Previously, all of these fees were reflected in Investment Management.

•

Transfer Agency Costs. Individual Investor Group provides certain transfer agency-related activities for mutual funds,
including funds managed by the Company. Investment Management receives revenues from these funds and now reimburses
certain transfer agency-related costs, including costs related to mailings, to Individual Investor Group. Previously, these
costs were not reimbursed by Investment Management.

•

Certain Mutual Fund Distribution Fees. Certain retail customers invest in shares of mutual funds managed by the Company.
The segment results now reflect the establishment of a third-party distribution relationship between Investment Management
and Individual Investor Group relating to the sales of these funds. Accordingly, Investment Management now reports the
distribution fees, contingent deferred sales charge revenues and commission expenses paid to Individual Investor Group
associated with these sales. Individual Investor Group results now reflect these commission revenues associated with
current-period sales. Previously, all of the revenues and expenses associated with these transactions were reported by
Individual Investor Group.

As a result of treating these intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company has included a new
“Intersegment Eliminations” category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated results. The net income in
Intersegment Eliminations represents, among other things, the effect of timing differences associated with the revenue and expense
recognition of commissions paid by Investment Management to Individual Investor Group associated with sales of certain products
and the related compensation costs paid to Individual Investor Group’s financial advisors.
Selected financial information for the Company’s segments is presented below:
Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

9,769
1,442

$

3,799
218

$

2,512
(3)

$2,142
1,285

$

(307)
—

$17,915
2,942

Net revenues

$ 11,211

$

4,017

$

2,509

$3,427

$

(307)

$20,857

$

$

454
—
189

$

491
—
165

$1,093
—
405

$

121
—
50

$ 5,805
279
1,563

Fiscal 2003

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes and
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption

154

Income from continuing operations

—

—

—

265

326

688

38
(16)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

38
(16)

22

—

—

—

—

22

2,459

Discontinued operations(1):
Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit
Loss on discontinued operations
Net income

3,646
279
754

$

2,437

$

36

265

$

326

$ 688

—
71

$

71

154
3,809

$ 3,787
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Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

6,827
2,291

$

3,821
248

$

2,705
16

$2,194
1,363

$

(338)
—

$15,209
3,918

Net revenues

$

9,118

$

4,069

$

2,721

$3,557

$

(338)

$19,127

$

2,655
77
816

$

109
—
50

$

667
—
249

$1,178
—
418

$

129
—
42

$ 4,738
77
1,575

Fiscal 2002(2)

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes and
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption

87

Income from continuing operations

—

1,675

Discontinued operations(1):
Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit
Loss on discontinued operations

59

—

—

418

760

—
87

87
2,999

18
(7)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

18
(7)

11

—

—

—

—

11

Net income

$

1,664

$

59

$

418

$ 760

$

87

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

$ 2,988

Fiscal 2001(2)

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

9,655
1,607

$

4,266
405

$

2,997
43

$2,202
1,357

$

(445)
—

$18,675
3,412

Net revenues

$ 11,262

$

4,671

$

3,040

$3,559

$

(445)

$22,087

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes,
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of
accounting change
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption

$

$

58
—
35

$

732
—
307

$1,127
—
425

$

80
—
31

$ 5,678
30
2,022

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change
Discontinued operations(1):
Gain from discontinued operations
Income tax provision
Gain on discontinued operations
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change

3,681
30
1,224
50
2,377

—
23

—

—

425

702

—
49

50
3,576

(6)
2

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(6)
2

(4)

—

—

—

—

(4)

425

702

2,381

23

49

3,580

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

(46)
$

2,335

—
$

23

—
$

425

(13)
$ 689

—
$

49

(59)
$ 3,521

Total Assets(3)

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor
Group

Investment
Management

At November 30, 2003

$ 557,546

$ 14,365

$

6,033

$25,185

$

(286)

$602,843

At November 30, 2002(2)

$ 484,891

$ 11,054

$

5,508

$28,443

$

(397)

$529,499

At November 30, 2001(2)

$ 440,042

$ 12,768

$

5,209

$25,131

$

(522)

$482,628

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

(1)
(2)
(3)

See Note 26 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.
Corporate assets have been fully allocated to the Company’s business segments.
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The Company operates in both U.S. and non-U.S. markets. The Company’s non-U.S. business activities are principally conducted
through European and Asian locations. The following table presents selected income statement information and the total assets of the
Company’s operations by geographic area. The principal methodologies used in preparing the geographic area data are as follows:
commission revenues are recorded based on the location of the sales force; trading revenues are principally recorded based on
location of the trader; investment banking revenues are based on location of the client; and asset management and portfolio service
fees are recorded based on the location of the portfolio manager:
Fiscal 2003(1)

U.S.

Europe

Asia

Other

Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Net revenues
Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Total assets at November 30, 2003
Fiscal 2002(1)(2)

$ 15,786

$

4,259
773,609
U.S.

4,127

$ 1,731

918
305,256

591
48,666

Europe

$

86

$

37
22,917

Asia

Other

(873)

$ 20,857

—
(547,605)

5,805
602,843

Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Net revenues
Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Total assets at November 30, 2002
Fiscal 2001(1)(2)

$ 14,563

$

3,215
640,132
U.S.

3,349

$ 1,432

848
246,979

405
31,795

Europe

$

297

$

270
20,329

Asia

Other

(514)

$ 19,127

—
(409,736)

4,738
529,499

Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Net revenues
Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
and cumulative effect of accounting change
Total assets at November 30, 2001
(1)
(2)

$ 16,925

4,152
536,211

$

3,956

$ 1,501

1,137
233,956

306
28,582

$

103

83
18,817

$

(398)

$ 22,087

—
(334,938)

5,678
482,628

See Note 26 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

18. Aircraft.
Aircraft Held for Sale.
The carrying value at November 30, 2003 of aircraft subsequently classified as held for sale was $161 million (see Note 26). The
Company’s aircraft leasing business is included in the Institutional Securities business segment. The loss from discontinued
operations in the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 included a $16 million non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge and a $19
million charge to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired aircraft to market value (see “Aircraft Impairment” below). The
loss/(gain) from discontinued operations in the fiscal years ended November 30, 2002 and 2001 included pre-tax impairment charges
of $4 million and $7 million, respectively.
Aircraft Impairment.
The Company uses “market value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to estimate fair value for its impaired aircraft. Prior
to fiscal 2003, the Company had used “base value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to estimate the fair value of its
impaired aircraft. Accordingly, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $36 million
(of which $19 million is included in loss/(gain) from discontinued operations) to adjust the carrying value of
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previously impaired aircraft to “market value.” The charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations) is reflected
in Other expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. The results of the aircraft financing business are included in
the Company’s Institutional Securities business segment.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, during the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company reviewed its aircraft assets for impairment.
The Company believed that the review was necessary given the difficult conditions existing in the commercial aircraft industry during
the quarter, including the adverse impact of the military conflict in Iraq, the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome and the
bankruptcy of several airlines.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each aircraft’s projected
undiscounted cash flows to its respective carrying value. For each aircraft for which impairment was indicated (because the projected
undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying value), the Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value,
if lower than carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used market value estimates provided by
independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of this review, the
Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $287 million (of which $16 million is included in loss/(gain) from
discontinued operations) based on the average market value provided by independent appraisers in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.
The impairment charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations) is included within Other expenses in the
Company’s consolidated statement of income.
The Company had followed a valuation methodology designed to align the changes in projected undiscounted cash flows for impaired
aircraft with the change in carrying value of such aircraft. Under this methodology, the Company calculated the $36 million
impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 using the highest portfolio valuation provided by the appraisers and calculated the
$287 million impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2003 based on the average of the three appraisal values. The
Company has determined that future impairment charges, if required, will be based upon the average market appraisal values from
independent appraisers. If the average market appraisal values had been used to measure impairment in each of the prior quarters in
which impairment was recognized, pre-tax income (including both continuing and discontinued operations) would have differed as
follows:
Change in
Pretax Income
Increase /
(Decrease)
(dollars in
millions)

Quarter ended:
November 30, 2001
February 28, 2002
May 31, 2002
August 31, 2002
November 30, 2002
February 28, 2003
May 31, 2003
Aggregate difference

$

(70.9)
1.0
1.5
(71.9)
2.7
38.3
97.0

$

(2.3)

The current market environment continues to be characterized by distressed sellers and limited sales activity. If the Company chose to
liquidate its entire fleet ($4.2 billion carrying value at November 30, 2003, excluding those aircraft that were classified as held for
sale) at this time, which is not currently contemplated, the Company believes that, given these distressed market conditions and based
upon the range of values provided by independent appraisers at the last impairment date, it could be forced to accept a value for its
entire fleet that is substantially lower (up to approximately 30%) than the carrying value of the fleet. The Company has not recorded
an impairment charge of this magnitude because at the last impairment date, there was no indication of impairment for the majority of
the individual aircraft as their undiscounted cash flows exceeded their respective carrying values.
19. Variable Interest Entities.
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or
do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other

parties (“variable interest entities”). Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if
they do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that absorbs
a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or both, as a result of holding variable
interests. FIN 46 also requires new disclosures about VIEs.
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The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs and may hold
interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative instruments, that may be considered variable
interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset- and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured financings
(including collateralized debt, bond or loan obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these transactions
principally to facilitate client needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company currently consolidates entities in which it
has a controlling financial interest in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. For those entities deemed
to be qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS No. 140), which includes the credit card asset securitization master trusts
(see Note 5), the Company does not consolidate the entity.
On February 1, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46 for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for VIEs in which the Company
obtains an interest after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective date of FIN 46 for arrangements with
VIEs existing prior to February 1, 2003 to fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued a
revision of FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to address certain technical corrections and implementation issues that have arisen. The Company
anticipates adopting FIN 46R as of February 29, 2004 for VIEs in which it holds a variable interest that it had acquired before
February 1, 2003 in addition to those VIEs for which the Company has previously applied FIN 46. The Company will apply FIN 46R
for all variable interests obtained after February 29, 2004. For these variable interests, the Company will consolidate those VIEs
(including financial asset-backed securitization, credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and
exchangeable trust entities) in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. This accounting change is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or consolidated financial position. In limited instances, the
Company may deconsolidate VIEs for which it is not the primary beneficiary as a result of the adoption of FIN 46R. This is further
discussed in Note 12 with respect to Capital Trusts II, III, IV and V.
Post-January 31, 2003
Institutional Securities. At November 30, 2003, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of VIEs,
including structured note, equity-linked note, credit-linked note, collateralized debt obligation and municipal bond trust entities, for
which the Company was the primary beneficiary of the entities was approximately $780 million, which is the carrying amount of the
consolidated assets recorded as Financial instruments owned that are collateral for the entities’ obligations. The nature and purpose of
these entities that the Company consolidated were to issue a series of notes to investors that provide the investors a return based on
the holdings of the entities. These transactions were executed to facilitate client investment objectives. The structured note, equitylinked note, certain credit-linked note and municipal bond transactions also were executed as a means of selling financial assets. The
Company retained either the entire class or a majority of the class of subordinated notes or entered into a derivative instrument with
the VIE and as a result bears the majority of the expected losses of the entities. The Company consolidates these entities, in
accordance with its consolidation accounting policy, and as a result eliminates all intercompany transactions, including derivatives
and other intercompany transactions such as fees received to underwrite the notes or to structure the transactions. The Company
accounts for the assets held by the entities as Financial instruments owned and the liabilities of the entities as financings. For those
liabilities that include an embedded derivative, the Company has bifurcated such derivative in accordance with SFAS No. 133. The
beneficial interests of these consolidated entities are payable solely from the cash flows of the assets held by the VIE.
At November 30, 2003, also in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the entities for which the
Company holds significant variable interests, which were acquired after January 31, 2003 and consist of subordinated and other
classes of beneficial interests, was approximately $11.3 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated with these entities,
primarily credit-linked note, loan and bond issuing, mortgage-backed securitizations and collateralized debt obligation entities, were
approximately $6.6 billion consisting primarily of senior beneficial interests, which represent the Company’s maximum exposure to
loss at November 30, 2003. The Company may hedge the risks inherent in its variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure
to loss. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the
Company utilizes to hedge these risks.
Pre-February 1, 2003
The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that it will either disclose information in its Form 10-Q for the first quarter of
fiscal 2004 about certain VIEs created before February 1, 2003 for which it holds a significant variable interest or it will be the
primary beneficiary of the entity and thus be required to consolidate the VIE. A summary of such entities, by business segment,
follows.
Institutional Securities. At November 30, 2003, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the
entities for which the Company’s interest is either significant or for which the Company could be deemed to be the primary
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beneficiary of the entity was approximately $3.8 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated with these entities, primarily
financial asset-backed securitization, credit-linked note, exchangeable trust, equity-linked note, loan issuing, municipal bond trust and
structured note entities, were approximately $1.3 billion, which represent the Company’s maximum exposure to loss at November 30,
2003. The Company may hedge the risks inherent in its variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure to loss. The
Company’s maximum exposure to loss does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company utilizes
to hedge these risks.
Investment Management. In connection with its Investment Management business, where the Company is the asset manager for
collateralized bond and loan obligation entities, it is not reasonably possible that the Company will be the primary beneficiary of or
hold significant variable interests in such VIEs due to the modification of the treatment of fees paid to a decision maker under FIN
46R. FIN 46 included a requirement that expected residual returns include the total amount of fees on a gross basis paid to decision
makers instead of including only the variability in such fees as is the guidance in FIN 46R.
The Company purchases and sells interests in entities that may be deemed to be VIEs in the ordinary course of its business. As a
result of these activities, it is reasonably possible that such entities may be consolidated and deconsolidated at various points in time.
Therefore, the Company’s variable interests included above may not be held by the Company at the end of the first quarter of fiscal
2004.
20. Guarantees.
FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information about its obligations under certain guarantee
arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and indemnification agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make
payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or
commodity price, an index or the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a
guaranteed party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to the
guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of
others. There was no change in the amount of liability recognized for non-derivative guarantees issued or modified after December
31, 2002 as a result of the adoption of FIN 45.
Derivative Contracts. Under FIN 45, certain derivative contracts meet the accounting definition of a guarantee, including certain
written options, contingent forward contracts and credit default swaps. Although the Company’s derivative arrangements do not
specifically identify whether the derivative counterparty retains the underlying asset, liability or equity security, the Company has
disclosed information regarding all derivative contracts that could meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. The maximum potential
payout for certain derivative contracts, such as written interest rate caps and written foreign currency options, cannot be estimated as
increases in interest or foreign exchange rates in the future could possibly be unlimited. Therefore, in order to provide information
regarding the maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make under certain derivative
contracts, the notional amount of the contracts has been disclosed.
The Company records all derivative contracts at fair value. For this reason, the Company does not monitor its risk exposure to such
derivative contracts based on derivative notional amounts; rather the Company manages its risk exposure on a fair value basis.
Aggregate market risk limits have been established, and market risk measures are routinely monitored against these limits. The
Company also manages its exposure to these derivative contracts through a variety of risk mitigation strategies, including, but not
limited to, entering into offsetting economic hedge positions. The Company believes that the notional amounts of the derivative
contracts generally overstate its exposure. For further discussion of the Company’s derivative risk management activities, see Note 11
and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Risk Management” in Part II, Item 7A.
Financial Guarantees to Third Parties. In connection with its corporate lending business and other corporate activities, the Company
provides standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees to counterparties. Such arrangements represent obligations to make
payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfill its obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other contractual
obligation.
Liquidity Guarantees. The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with special purpose entities (“SPE”) and other
counterparties, whereby the Company is required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The Company often may have
recourse to the underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are required under such liquidity facilities.
Market Value Guarantees. Market value guarantees are issued to guarantee return of principal invested to fund investors associated
with certain European equity funds and to guarantee timely payment of a specified return to investors in certain affordable housing
tax credit funds. The guarantees associated with certain European equity funds are designed to provide for any
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shortfall between the market value of the underlying fund assets and invested principal and a stipulated return amount. The guarantees
provided to investors in certain affordable housing tax credit funds are designed to return an investor’s contribution to a fund and the
investor’s share of tax losses and tax credits expected to be generated by a fund.
The table below summarizes certain information regarding these guarantees at November 30, 2003:
Maximum Potential Payout/Notional Years to Maturity

Type of Guarantee

Less than
1

1-3

3-5

Over 5

Total

Carrying
Amount

Collateral/
Recourse

(dollars in millions)

Derivative contracts
Standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees
Market value guarantees
Liquidity facilities

$379,484 $176,365 $172,705 $143,820 $872,374 $16,303 $
280
294
96
22
692
9
—
30
144
273
447
27
475
7
9
203
694
—

108
115
32
—

Indemnities. In the normal course of its business, the Company provides standard indemnities to counterparties for taxes, including
U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments made on derivatives, securities and stock lending transactions,
certain annuity products and other financial arrangements. These indemnity payments could be required based on a change in the tax
laws or change in interpretation of applicable tax rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the Company to terminate
the agreement upon the occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
consolidated financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the occurrence of any events that would trigger
payments under these contracts is remote.
Exchange/Clearinghouse Member Guarantees. The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and
clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Associated with its membership, the Company may be required
to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who may default on its obligations to the exchange or the
clearinghouse. While the rules governing different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general the Company’s guarantee
obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had previously exhausted its resources. In addition, any such guarantee
obligation would be apportioned among the other non-defaulting members of the exchange or clearinghouse. Any potential contingent
liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
consolidated financial statements for these agreements and believes that any potential requirement to make payments under these
agreements is remote.
General Partner Guarantees. As a general partner in certain private equity and real estate partnerships, the Company receives
distributions from the partnerships according to the provisions of the partnership agreements. The Company may, from time to time,
be required to return all or a portion of such distributions to the limited partners in the event the limited partners do not achieve a
certain return as specified in various partnership agreements, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future
payments that the Company could be required to make under these provisions at November 30, 2003 was $125 million. As of
November 30, 2003, the Company’s liability for distributions that the Company has determined it is probable it will be required to
refund based on the applicable refund criteria specified in the various partnership agreements was $65 million.
Securitized Asset Guarantees. As part of the Company’s Institutional Securities and Credit Services securitization activities, the
Company provides representations and warranties that certain securitized assets conform to specified guidelines. The Company may
be required to repurchase such assets or indemnify the purchaser against losses if the assets do not meet certain conforming
guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company to ensure that asset guideline qualifications are met, and to the extent the
Company has acquired such assets to be securitized from other parties, the Company seeks to obtain its own representations and
warranties regarding the assets. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be
equal to the current outstanding balances of all assets subject to such securitization activities. Also, in connection with originations of
residential mortgage loans under the Company’s FlexSource® program, the Company may permit borrowers to pledge marketable
securities as collateral instead of requiring cash down payments for the purchase of the underlying residential property. Upon sale of
the residential mortgage loans, the Company may provide a surety bond that reimburses the purchasers for shortfalls in the borrowers’
securities accounts up to certain limits if the collateral maintained in the securities accounts (along with the associated real estate
collateral) is insufficient to cover losses that purchasers experience as a result of defaults by borrowers on the underlying residential
mortgage loans. The Company requires the borrowers to meet daily collateral calls to ensure the marketable securities pledged in lieu
of a cash down payment are sufficient. At November 30, 2003, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company may
be required to make under its surety bond was $174 million. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
consolidated financial statements for these representations and warranties and reimbursement agreements and believes that the

probability of any payments under these arrangements is remote.
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Merchant Chargeback Guarantees. In connection with its Credit Services business, the Company owns and operates merchant
processing services in the U.S. related to its general purpose credit cards. As a merchant processor in the U.S. and an issuer of credit
cards in the U.K., the Company is contingently liable for processed credit card sales transactions in the event of a dispute between the
cardmember and a merchant. If a dispute is resolved in the cardmember’s favor, the Company will credit or refund the amount to the
cardmember and charge back the transaction to the merchant. If the Company is unable to collect the amount from the merchant, the
Company will bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the cardmember. In most instances, a payment requirement by the
Company is unlikely to arise because most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits are issued by merchants on
returned items in a timely fashion. However, where the product or service is not provided until some later date following the
purchase, the likelihood of payment by the Company increases. The maximum potential amount of future payments related to this
contingent liability is estimated to be the total cardmember sales transaction volume to date that could qualify as a valid disputed
transaction under the Company’s merchant processing network and cardmember agreements; however, the Company believes that
this amount is not representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s historical experience. For
example, the Company processes cardmember transactions for airline ticket purchases. In the event an airline ceases operations, the
Company could be contingently liable to its cardmembers for refunds of the ticket purchase prices. The maximum potential amount of
future payments related to this contingent liability is estimated to be the total cardmember airline ticket transaction volume as of
November 30, 2003 to the extent that such travel has not yet occurred.
During fiscal 2003, the Company incurred losses related to merchant chargebacks of $12 million and processed aggregate credit card
transaction volume of $97.9 billion. The amount of the liability related to the Company’s credit cardmember merchant guarantee was
not material at November 30, 2003. The Company mitigates this risk by withholding settlement from merchants or obtaining escrow
deposits from certain merchants that are considered higher risk due to various factors such as time delays in the delivery of products
or services. At November 30, 2003, the Company had settlement withholdings and escrow deposits of $40 million.
Other. The Company may, from time to time, in its role as investment banking advisor be required to provide guarantees in
connection with certain European merger and acquisition transactions. If required by the regulating authorities, the Company provides
a guarantee that the acquirer in the merger and acquisition transaction has or will have sufficient funds to complete the transaction and
would then be required to make the acquisition payments in the event the acquirer’s funds are insufficient at the completion date of
the transaction. These arrangements generally cover the time frame from the transaction offer date to its closing date and therefore are
generally short-term in nature. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make
cannot be estimated. The likelihood of any payment by the Company under these arrangements is remote given the level of the
Company’s due diligence associated with its role as investment banking advisor and, therefore, no contingent liability has been
recorded.
21. Fair Value of Financial Instruments.
The majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value or at amounts that approximate fair value. Such assets
and liabilities include: cash and cash equivalents, cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations, customer and broker receivables and payables, certain other assets (including the cash collateral
accounts associated with the Company’s credit card asset securitizations), commercial paper, and other short-term borrowings and
payables.
The fair value of certain of the Company’s other assets and liabilities is presented below.
Financial Instruments Owned and Financial Instruments Sold, not yet Purchased. The Company’s financial instruments used for
trading and investment and for asset and liability management are recorded at fair value as discussed in Note 2.
Consumer Loans. The fair value of consumer loans is determined by discounting cash flows using current market rates of loans
having similar characteristics. The cash flow calculation methodologies, which vary by product, include adjustments for credit risk
and prepayment rates commensurate with recent and projected trends. The estimated fair value of the Company’s consumer loans
approximated carrying value at November 30, 2003.
Secured Financing Activities. Financial instruments associated with secured financing activities, including Securities purchased
under agreements to resell, Securities borrowed, Securities sold under agreements to repurchase and Securities loaned, are recorded at
their original contract amount plus accrued interest. As the majority of such financing activities are short term in nature, the carrying
value of these instruments approximates fair value.
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Deposits. The estimated fair value of the Company’s deposits, using current rates for deposits with similar maturities, approximated
carrying value at November 30, 2003.
Long-Term Borrowings. The Company’s long-term borrowings are recorded at historical amounts unless designated as a hedged item
in a fair value hedge under SFAS No. 133. The fair value of the Company’s long-term borrowings was estimated using either quoted
market prices or discounted cash flow analyses based on the Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing
arrangements. At November 30, 2003, the carrying value of the Company’s long-term borrowings was approximately $800 million
less than fair value.
Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption. The Company’s preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption are
recorded at historical amounts. The fair value of the Company’s preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption was estimated
using quoted market prices. At November 30, 2003, the estimated fair value of the Company’s preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption approximated carrying value.
22. Restructuring and Other Charges.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company recognized restructuring and other charges of $235 million (pre-tax). The charge
reflected several actions that were intended to resize and refocus certain business areas in order to address the difficult conditions in
the global financial markets. Such conditions, including significantly lower levels of investment banking activity and decreased retail
investor participation in the equity markets, had an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations, particularly in its
Institutional Securities and Individual Investor Group businesses.
The fiscal 2002 charge consisted of space-related costs of $162 million and severance-related costs of $73 million. The space-related
costs were attributable to the closure or subletting of excess office space, primarily in the U.S. and the U.K., as well as the Company’s
decision to consolidate its Individual Investor Group branch locations. The majority of the space-related costs consisted of rental
charges and the write-off of furniture, fixtures and other fixed assets at the affected office locations. The severance-related costs were
attributable to workforce reductions. The Company reduced the number of its employees by approximately 2,200 during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2002, primarily in the Institutional Securities and Individual Investor Group businesses. The majority of the
severance-related costs consisted of severance payments provided to the affected individuals.
At November 30, 2003, the remaining liability associated with these charges was approximately $100 million, which was included in
Other liabilities and accrued expenses in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condition. The majority of the decrease
from the original liability of $235 million was due to cash payments of severance-related costs made by the Company during fiscal
2003. The decline in the liability balance during fiscal 2003 also reflected net rental payments associated with the office locations
referred to above. In fiscal 2004, the liability is expected to decline by an additional $50 million due to the continuing payment of net
rentals on these locations. The liability will continue to be reduced through 2012 as these leases expire.
23. Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.
The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company accounts for these
investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating losses generated by these investments is
recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses
are recorded within the Company’s Provision for income taxes. In fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, the Company recorded
Losses from unconsolidated investees of $279 million, $77 million and $30 million, respectively. These losses were more than offset
by tax credits of $308 million, $109 million and $48 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively, and tax benefits
on the losses of $112 million, $31 million and $12 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively.
24. Business Acquisitions and Asset Sales.
On November 20, 2003, the Company acquired selected components of the U.S. real estate equity advisory businesses of Lend Lease
Corporation, an Australia-based company. The financial statement impact related to this acquisition, which is included in the
Company’s Institutional Securities segment, was not significant.
In fiscal 2002, the Company sold its self-directed online brokerage accounts to Bank of Montreal’s Harrisdirect. The transaction
closed during the third quarter of fiscal 2002. The Company recorded gross proceeds of approximately $100 million (included within
Other revenues) and related costs of approximately $50 million (included within Non-interest expenses) in the Individual Investor
Group segment.
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In fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $73 million related to the sale of a 1 million square-foot office tower in New
York City that had been under construction since 1999. The pre-tax gain is included within the Institutional Securities ($53 million),
Individual Investor Group ($7 million) and Investment Management ($13 million) segments. The allocation was based upon
occupancy levels originally planned for the building.
In fiscal 2001, the Company acquired Quilter, a U.K.-based private client investment management business providing segregated
account management and advisory services to individuals, pension funds and trusts. The Company’s fiscal 2001 results include the
operations of Quilter since March 13, 2001, the date of acquisition.
The pro forma impact of each of the above business acquisitions was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
25. Quarterly Results (unaudited).
The following table reflects the restatement of the quarterly results for the first, second and third quarters of fiscal 2003. The
restatement reflects the Company’s determination for the need to adjust the timing of the recognition of expense related to equity
compensation awards during fiscal 2003 in connection with the Company’s adoption, effective December 1, 2002, of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
Prior to the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 123 in fiscal 2003, the Company recorded compensation expense for equity-based
awards in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” APB 25
states that equity-based awards should be expensed based upon the period or periods during which an employee performs services,
and that the service period or periods should be inferred from the award terms or from the past pattern of granting awards in the
absence of a stated service period. Based upon the terms of the Company’s pre-fiscal 2003 equity-based awards, which did not state a
service period, and the past pattern of granting such awards, the Company determined that the appropriate service period under APB
25 was the year of grant, and accordingly recognized 100% of the compensation expense for equity-based awards in such year. In
accordance with APB 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” the Company accrued the estimated expense of the equity-based awards on a
quarterly basis to reflect the interim periods’ portion of the annual costs.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123 effective December 1, 2002. In the absence of a defined service period, SFAS No. 123
presumptively defines the service period (over which compensation costs should be recognized) as the vesting period. In the third
quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company revised its equity-based compensation program (including extending the vesting period by an
additional year for half of the awards), and determined that under SFAS No. 123 the service period for fiscal 2003 awards would be
three and four years (depending upon the vesting provisions of the awards). As specified under the terms of the Company’s fiscal
2003 awards, the service period included the year of grant and the subsequent vesting periods.
In the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003, the Company continued to accrue compensation expense on the basis that equity-based
awards would be expensed in the year of grant. In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company determined that the expense
recognized in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003 should have been recognized over the longer service period. The Company
reflected a cumulative adjustment to its compensation accruals for the three and nine month periods ended August 31, 2003 in the
third quarter of fiscal 2003. Subsequently, after discussions with the accounting staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
Company determined that with the adoption of SFAS No. 123, it should have begun to amortize the expense related to equity-based
awards over a longer service period beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
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The following summarizes the restatement for the first, second and third quarters of fiscal 2003:
2003 Fiscal Quarter
First
(Previously
Reported)

Second
(Previously
Reported)

First
(Restated)

Third
(Previously
Reported)

Second
(Restated)

Third
(Restated)

Fourth

(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer
loan losses

$

8,497 $
2,686

8,497 $
2,686

8,413 $
3,058

8,413 $
3,058

8,926 $
3,367

8,926 $
3,367

9,090
3,691

336

336

309

309

310

310

312

Net revenues

5,475

5,475

5,046

5,046

5,249

5,249

5,087

Total non-interest
expenses

4,029

3,844

4,113

3,951

3,374

3,721

3,536

1,446

1,631

933

1,095

1,875

1,528

1,551

34

34

36

36

105

105

104

473

533

247

300

455

342

388

22

22

40

40

47

47

45

917

1,042

610

719

1,268

1,034

1,014

20

20

18

18

(2)

(2)

2

(8)

(8)

(7)

(7)

1

1

(2)

12

12

11

11

(1)

(1)

—

1,269 $

1,035 $

Income from continuing
operations before
losses from
unconsolidated
investees, income
taxes and dividends
on preferred
securities subject to
mandatory
redemption
Losses from
unconsolidated
investees
Provision for income
taxes
Dividends on preferred
securities subject to
mandatory
redemption
Income from continuing
operations
Discontinued operations
(4):
Loss/(gain) from
discontinued
operations
Income tax
(benefit)/provision
Loss/(gain) on
discontinued
operations
Net income
Basic earnings per share
(2):
Income from
continuing

$

905 $

1,030 $

599 $

708 $

1,014

operations
Loss from
discontinued
operations
Basic EPS
Diluted earnings per
share(2):
Income from
continuing
operations
Loss from
discontinued
operations

$

0.85 $
(0.01)

0.96 $
(0.01)

0.57 $
(0.01)

0.67 $
(0.01)

1.18 $
—

0.96 $
—

0.94
—

$

0.84 $

0.95 $

0.56 $

0.66 $

1.18 $

0.96 $

0.94

$

0.83 $

0.95 $

0.56 $

0.66 $

1.15 $

0.94 $

0.92

(0.01)
0.82 $

(0.01)
0.94 $

(0.01)
0.55 $

(0.01)

1.15 $

—
0.94 $

—

Diluted EPS

$

Dividends to common
shareholders
Book value
Stock price range(3)

$
0.23 $
0.23 $
0.23 $
0.23 $
0.23 $
0.23 $
0.23
$
20.62 $
20.73 $
20.83 $
21.04 $
21.79 $
21.79 $
22.93
$34.70-45.32 $34.70-45.32 $33.57-47.79 $33.57-47.79 $42.75-49.67 $42.75-49.67 $48.00-57.83
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2002 Fiscal Quarter(1)
First

Second

Third

Fourth

(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer loan losses

$

8,543
2,934
345

$

8,152
2,841
340

$

8,158
3,186
332

$

7,571
3,000
319

Net revenues

5,264

4,971

4,640

4,252

Total non-interest expenses

3,915

3,721

3,668

3,085

Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes and dividends on
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption

1,349
11
467

1,250
11
418

972
13
325

1,167
42
365

22

22

21

22

849

799

613

738

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations(4):
Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit
Loss on discontinued operations

2
(1)

3
(1)

3
(1)

10
(4)

1

2

2

6

Net income

$

848

$

797

$

611

$

732

Basic earnings per share(2):
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

$

0.78
—

$

0.73
—

$

0.57
—

$

0.69
(0.01)

Basic EPS

$

0.78

$

0.73

$

0.57

$

0.68

$

0.76
—
0.76

$

0.72
—
0.72

$

0.55
—
0.55

$

0.68
(0.01)
0.67

Diluted earnings per share(2):
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Diluted EPS
Dividends to common shareholders
Book value
Stock price range(3)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

$

$
0.23
$
18.97
$46.63-59.64

$

$
0.23
$
19.39
$44.64-57.88

$

$
0.23
$
19.59
$35.60-46.38

$

$
0.23
$
20.24
$29.31-46.40

Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported quarterly amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.
Summation of the quarters’ earnings per common share may not equal the annual amounts due to the averaging effect of the
number of shares and share equivalents throughout the year.
Amounts represent the range of closing prices per share on the New York Stock Exchange for the periods indicated. The number
of shareholders of record at November 30, 2003 approximated 133,000. The number of beneficial owners of common stock is
believed to exceed this number.
See Note 26 for a discussion of discontinued operations.

Note 26. Discontinued Operations.
In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company determined that certain of its aircraft were subject to probable sale and, accordingly,
these aircraft have been designated as “held for sale” under SFAS No. 144. The revenues and expenses associated with these aircraft
have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The (loss)/gain from discontinued operations for the fiscal
years ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $(22) million, $(11) million and $4 million, respectively.
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(dollars in millions, except share data)
February 29,
2004

November 30,
2003

(unaudited)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and other
regulations (including securities at fair value of $16,423 at February 29, 2004 and $18,957 at
November 30, 2003)
Financial instruments owned (approximately $98 billion at February 29, 2004 and $73 billion at
November 30, 2003 were pledged to various parties):
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Securities received as collateral
Securities borrowed
Receivables:
Consumer loans (net of allowances of $1,004 at February 29, 2004 and $1,002 at November 30,
2003)
Customers, net
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Fees, interest and other
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $2,590 at February 29, 2004 and $2,506 at
November 30, 2003)
Aircraft under operating leases (less accumulated depreciation of $1,044 at February 29, 2004 and $984
at November 30, 2003)
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

1

$ 33,560

$

29,692

26,168

28,526

34,371
23,151
75,387
29,572
52,161
872
76,755
32,286
179,288

24,133
21,592
80,594
29,984
44,652
671
78,205
27,278
153,813

15,850
42,342
11,571
6,161

19,382
37,321
5,563
4,349

2,436

2,433

4,316
1,539
9,112

4,407
1,514
8,734

$ 656,898

$ 602,843
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(dollars in millions, except share data)
February 29,
2004

November 30,
2003

(unaudited)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings
Deposits
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Obligation to return securities received as collateral
Securities loaned
Payables:
Customers
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Interest and dividends
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Long-term borrowings

$ 27,204
12,118

Capital Units
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 at February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003;
Shares issued: 1,211,699,552 at February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003;
Shares outstanding: 1,097,652,112 at February 29, 2004 and 1,084,696,446 at
November 30, 2003
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Employee stock trust
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Subtotal
Note receivable related to ESOP
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;
114,047,440 shares at February 29, 2004 and 127,003,106 shares at November 30, 2003
Common stock issued to employee trust
Unearned stock-based compensation
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

28,386
12,839

21,080
20,741
10,088
30,691
43,857
3,254
156,329
32,286
76,415

17,072
17,505
10,141
25,615
36,242
4,873
147,618
27,278
64,375

101,068
2,838
2,831
11,041
78,927

96,794
5,706
2,138
12,918
65,600

630,768

575,100

66

66

—

2,810

12
4,090
28,990
2,946
(99)

12
4,028
28,038
3,008
(156)

35,939
(3)

34,930
(4)

(6,124)
(2,946)
(802)

(6,766)
(2,420)
(873)

26,064

24,867

$ 656,898

$ 602,843

MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended
February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003
(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

Revenues:
Investment banking
Principal transactions:
Trading
Investments
Commissions
Fees:
Asset management, distribution and administration
Merchant and cardmember
Servicing
Interest and dividends
Other

$

829

$

589

2,347
29
901

1,556
(22)
673

1,072
337
572
3,782
121

896
364
567
3,789
85

9,990
3,487
262

8,497
2,686
336

6,241

5,475

Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits
Occupancy and equipment
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees
Information processing and communications
Marketing and business development
Professional services
Other

2,712
200
224
320
254
318
300

2,364
196
191
315
263
225
290

Total non-interest expenses

4,328

3,844

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes and dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption

1,913
93
551
45

1,631
34
533
22

Income from continuing operations

1,224

1,042

Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer loan losses
Net revenues

Discontinued operations:
(Gain)/loss from discontinued operations
Income tax provision/(benefit)
(Gain)/loss on discontinued operations

(3)
1

20
(8)

(2)

12

Net income

$

1,226

$

1,030

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

$

1.14
—

$

0.96
(0.01)

Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings per common share
Average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

1.14

$

0.95

$

1.11
—

$

0.95
(0.01)

$

1.11

$

0.94

1,078,718,046

1,079,052,442

1,106,000,596

1,099,724,140

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in millions)
Three Months Ended
February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003

(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net change in cash flow hedges

$

Comprehensive income

$

1,226

$

43
14

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1,283

1,030
22
(41)

$

1,011

MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in millions)
Three Months Ended
February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003

(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
(Gain)/loss on discontinued operations

$

1,226
(2)

$

Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used for operating activities:
Non-cash charges (credits) included in net income:
Aircraft-related charges
Compensation payable in common stock and options
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for consumer loan losses
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and
other regulations
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned
Receivables and other assets
Payables and other liabilities

2,358
2,876
(13,435)
(12,438)
244

(2,296)
(8,799)
1,640
(11,046)
3,065

Net cash used for operating activities

(18,677)

(15,884)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases
Net principal disbursed on consumer loans
Sales of consumer loans

(61)
73
3,196

(207)
(4,391)
5,919

Net cash provided by investing activities

3,208

1,321

(1,182)

(5,248)

12,533
(721)

14,971
370

107
13,519
—

97
8,296
800

(4,646)
—
(273)

(4,207)
(170)
(249)

Net cash provided by financing activities

19,337

14,660

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period

3,868
29,692

97
29,212

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Short-term borrowings
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreements to resell and certain derivatives financing activities
Deposits
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of long-term borrowings
Issuance of Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Payments for:
Repayments of long-term borrowings
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividends

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period

1,224

1,030
12
1,042

—
65
167
262

$ 33,560

17
(8)
165
336

$

29,309

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.
The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading market positions in each of
its business segments—Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit Services. The
Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services, including
advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and market-making
activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign exchange and
commodities; principal investing and aircraft financing activities. The Company’s Individual Investor Group business provides
comprehensive financial planning and investment advisory services designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk
profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business provides global asset management products and services for individual
and institutional investors through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s financial
advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners
and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s private equity activities also are included within
®
the Investment Management business segment. The Company’s Credit Services business offers Discover -branded cards and other
consumer finance products and services and includes the operation of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and cash
access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanley-branded credit cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are
also included in the Credit Services segment. The Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified group of
clients and customers, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals.
Basis of Financial Information. The condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and assumptions regarding the valuations of
certain financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels, the outcome of litigation, and other matters that affect the condensed
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the
condensed consolidated financial statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and other
entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy is to consolidate all entities in which it owns
more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity. In accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”), or FIN 46 as revised in
December 2003, the Company also consolidates any variable interest entities for which it is the primary beneficiary (see Note 12). For
investments in companies in which the Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined
as owning a voting or economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those cases where
the Company’s investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are carried at cost.
The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”), Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWI”), Morgan Stanley
Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All material
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 (the
“Form 10-K/A”). The condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments) that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair statement of the results for the interim period. The results
of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire year.
Discontinued Operations. Revenues and expenses associated with certain aircraft designated as “held for sale” have been classified
as discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note 19 for additional discussion of discontinued
operations.
Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased, which include cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the condensed consolidated statements of
financial condition, and gains and losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in the condensed consolidated statements of
income. Loans and lending commitments associated with the Company’s lending activities also are recorded at fair value. Fair value
is the amount at which financial instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.
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The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining the fair value of the
Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of
product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction.
Products for which actively quoted prices or pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted
prices or pricing parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded or
not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency.
A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is derived from such prices or parameters. The
availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can vary from product to product. Where available, observable market
prices and pricing parameters in a product (or a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment.
In certain markets, observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined using
techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment.
The fair value of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which may require
multiple market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for credit quality and market
liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon observable market data where available. In the
absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active market, observable prices or parameters of other comparable current
market transactions, or other observable data supporting a fair value based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value
is based on the transaction price. The Company also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives.
Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be modeled using a series of
techniques, including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, simulation models or a
combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established derivative products, the pricing models used by the
Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. Pricing models take into account the contract terms, including the
maturity, as well as market parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the creditworthiness of the counterparty.
Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities are reflected in the
condensed consolidated statements of income as interest and dividend revenue or interest expense. Purchases and sales of financial
instruments as well as commission revenues and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade date. Unrealized gains and
losses arising from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including derivative contracts related to financial
instruments and commodities, are presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of financial condition on a netby-counterparty basis, when appropriate.
Equity securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities initially are carried in the
condensed consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value. The carrying value of such equity
securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable
market prices or transactions that directly affect the value of such equity securities. Downward adjustments relating to such equity
securities are made in the event that the Company determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s
partnership interests, including general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within Other
assets in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based upon changes
in the fair value of the underlying partnership’s net assets.
Financial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Management. The Company enters into various derivative financial instruments
for non-trading purposes. These instruments are included within Financial instruments owned—derivative contracts or Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts within the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and
include interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps, equity swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and
currency swaps and equity derivatives to manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The
Company also utilizes interest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the borrowings that
fund these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as fair value hedges and cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.
The Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrowings, including fixed rate borrowings
that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consist primarily of hedges of floating rate borrowings in
connection with its aircraft financing business. In general, interest rate exposure in this business arises to the extent that the interest
obligations associated with debt used to finance the Company’s aircraft portfolio do not correlate with the aircraft rental payments
received by the Company. The Company’s objective is to manage the exposure created by its floating interest
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rate obligations given that future lease rates on new leases may not be repriced at levels that fully reflect changes in market interest
rates. The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to minimize the risk created by its longer-term floating rate interest obligations and
measures that risk by reference to the duration of those obligations and the expected sensitivity of future lease rates to future market
interest rates.
For qualifying fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the gain or loss on the hedged asset or liability
relating to the risk being hedged are recorded currently in earnings. These amounts are recorded in interest expense and provide offset
of one another. For qualifying cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, and amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) are reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Ineffectiveness
relating to fair value and cash flow hedges, if any, is recorded within interest expense. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness on the
Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income was not material for all periods presented.
The Company also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relating to its net monetary
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations. The gain or loss from revaluing these contracts is deferred and
reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized
amounts due from or to counterparties included in Financial instruments owned or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. The
interest elements (forward points) on these foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in earnings.
Securitization Activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and residential mortgage loans,
corporate bonds and loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, municipal bonds, credit card loans and other types of
financial assets (see Notes 3 and 4). The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of
the securitization, undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest and fees (“accrued interest receivable”) on securitized credit card
receivables, cash collateral accounts, servicing rights, and rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the
securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The exposure to credit losses from
securitized loans is limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the Company’s retained interest in securitized
loans, including any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on the sale of financial assets depends in part on the previous
carrying amount of the assets involved in the transfer, and each subsequent transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the
assets sold and the retained interests based upon their respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable
market prices are used if available. However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests, so the
Company estimates fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key
assumptions, including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates commensurate with the risks
involved. The present value of future net servicing revenues that the Company estimates it will receive over the term of the
securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans are securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a
charge to income over the term of the securitized loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as
they are earned.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
highly liquid investments not held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.
In accordance with SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” the Company
modified its classification within the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows of the activity associated with certain derivative
financial instruments. The activity related to derivative financial instruments entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and that
have been determined to contain a financing element at inception where the Company is deemed the borrower is now included within
“Cash flows from financing activities.” Prior to July 1, 2003, the activity associated with such derivative financial instruments is
included within “Cash flows from operating activities.”
2. Goodwill.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test, which did not indicate any
goodwill impairment and therefore did not have an effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial condition or results of
operations.
Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill for the three months ended February 29, 2004 were as follows:
Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor
Group

$

$

Investment
Management

Total

(dollars in millions)

Balance as of November 30, 2003

8

539

$

967

$1,514

Translation adjustments

—

Balance as of February 29, 2004

$

8

8

25
$

564

—
$

967

25
$1,539
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3. Securities Financing and Securitization Transactions.
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are treated as financing transactions and are
carried at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or reacquired as specified in the respective agreements; such
amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are presented on a net-by-counterparty
basis, when appropriate. The Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under agreements to resell. Securities
borrowed and Securities loaned also are treated as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts of cash collateral advanced
and received in connection with the transactions.
The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities financings. Pledged
securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial instruments owned (pledged to various parties)
on the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. The carrying value and classification of securities owned by the
Company that have been loaned or pledged to counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the
collateral were as follows:
At
February 29,
2004

At
November 30,
2003

(dollars in millions)

Financial instruments owned:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities

$

Total

7,679
146
14,979
4,718

$

5,717
164
12,089
3,477

$ 27,522

$

21,447

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and securities loaned
transactions to, among other things, finance the Company’s inventory positions, acquire securities to cover short positions and settle
other securities obligations and to accommodate customers’ needs. The Company also engages in securities financing transactions for
customers through margin lending. Under these agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral,
including U.S. government and agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and corporate
equities. The Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse repurchase agreements, securities
borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the Company is permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as
collateral and use the securities to secure repurchase agreements, to enter into securities lending transactions or for delivery to
counterparties to cover short positions. At February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the fair value of securities received as
collateral where the Company is permitted to sell or repledge the securities was $575 billion and $511 billion, respectively, and the
fair value of the portion that has been sold or repledged was $511 billion and $462 billion, respectively.
The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements
with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset
a counterparty’s rights and obligations. The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the
related receivable or payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify its rights to request
additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are collateralized by customer-owned securities
held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the Company’s collateral policies significantly limits the Company’s credit
exposure in the event of customer default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and
if necessary may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold but not delivered from customers.
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In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and
residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds and loans, municipal bonds and other
types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, and any changes in fair value are recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of income. The Company may act as underwriter of the beneficial interests issued by securitization vehicles.
Underwriting net revenues are recognized in connection with these transactions. The Company may retain interests in the securitized
financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the condensed consolidated
statements of financial condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained interests are recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of income. Retained interests in securitized financial assets associated with the Company’s Institutional
Securities business were approximately $2.0 billion at February 29, 2004, the majority of which were related to U.S. agency
collateralized mortgage obligation and residential mortgage loan securitization transactions. Net gains at the time of securitization in
the quarter ended February 29, 2004 were not material. The assumptions that the Company used to determine the fair value of its
retained interests at the time of securitization related to those transactions that occurred during the quarter ended February 29, 2004
were not materially different from the assumptions included in the table below. Additionally, as indicated in the table below, the
Company’s exposure to credit losses related to these retained interests was not material to the Company’s results of operations.
The following table presents information on the Company’s U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation and residential mortgage
loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the retained interests to
immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions at February 29, 2004 were as follows (dollars in millions):
U.S. Agency
Collateralized
Mortgage
Obligations

Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Prepayment speed assumption
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$

$
$
$
$

Residential
Mortgage
Loans

1,122
58
—
—
—
6.56%
(24)
(48)
173-634PSA
(16)
(30)

$

629
28
0.20-15.14%
$
(39)
$
(73)
18.38%
$
(13)
$
(26)
300-1278PSA
$
(26)
$
(32)

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize to hedge risks
inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair
value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in
the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value
of the retained interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in
changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any
corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during the quarters ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, the
Company received $12 billion and $16 billion, respectively, of proceeds from new securitization transactions and cash flows from
retained interests in securitization transactions of $852 million and $959 million, respectively.
4. Consumer Loans.
Consumer loans were as follows:
At
February 29,
2004

At
November 30,
2003

(dollars in millions)

General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment
Less:
Allowance for consumer loan losses

$ 16,854

Consumer loans, net

$ 15,850

$

1,004

20,384
1,002

$

19,382
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Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:
Three Months Ended
February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003

(dollars in millions)

Balance at beginning of period
Additions:
Provision for consumer loan losses
Deductions:
Charge-offs
Recoveries

$

Net charge-offs
Balance at end of period

$

1,002

$

928

262

336

291
(31)

336
(22)

260

314

1,004

$

950

Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, recorded as a reduction of interest revenue, was $59
million in the quarter ended February 29, 2004 and $67 million in the quarter ended February 28, 2003. Cardmember fees accrued on
general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, recorded as a reduction to merchant and cardmember fee revenue, was
$40 million in the quarter ended February 29, 2004 and $45 million in the quarter ended February 28, 2003.
At February 29, 2004, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately $262 billion. Such
commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain credit cards, provided there is no
violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These commitments, substantially all of which the Company can
terminate at any time and which do not necessarily represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account
usage and customer creditworthiness.
The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $3,196 million in the quarter ended February 29, 2004 and $5,919
million in the quarter ended February 28, 2003.
Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations include undivided seller’s
interests, accrued interest receivable on securitized credit card receivables, cash collateral accounts, servicing rights and rights to any
excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of
return and reimbursement of credit losses. The undivided seller’s interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is recorded in
Consumer loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank pari passu with investors’ interests in the securitization trusts, and
the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests. Accrued interest receivable and cash collateral accounts are
recorded in Other assets at amounts that approximate fair value. The Company receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor
principal balance outstanding. The Company does not recognize servicing assets or servicing liabilities for servicing rights since the
servicing contracts provide only adequate compensation (as defined in SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”) to the Company for performing the servicing. Residual Interests are recorded in
Other assets and classified as trading and reflected at fair value with changes in fair value recorded currently in earnings. At February
29, 2004, the Company had $9.0 billion of retained interests, including $5.8 billion of undivided seller’s interests, in credit card asset
securitizations. The retained interests are subject to credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred credit card assets. The
investors and the securitization trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for failure of cardmembers to pay when due.
During the quarter ended February 29, 2004, the Company completed credit card asset securitizations of $1.9 billion and recognized
net securitization gains of $19 million as servicing fees in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income. The
uncollected balances of securitized general purpose credit card loans were $31.5 billion at February 29, 2004 and $29.4 billion at
November 30, 2003.
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Key economic assumptions used in measuring the Residual Interests at the date of securitization resulting from credit card asset
securitizations completed during the quarter ended February 29, 2004 were as follows:
Weighted average life (in months)
Payment rate (rate per month)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Discount rate (rate per annum)

6.1
18.00%
6.90%
14.00%

Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse
changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):
At
February 29,
2004

Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Weighted average payment rate (rate per month)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

276
5.6
17.99%
(19)
(35)
6.88%
(81)
(160)
12.00%
(2)
(5)

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or
20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the
change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual
Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in
another (for example, increases in market interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might
magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company
may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):
Three Months Ended
February 29, 2004

Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset securitizations
Contractual servicing fees received
Cash flows received from retained interests

$
$
$
$

1.9
16.4
0.2
0.4

The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net principal credit losses and components of managed general
purpose credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in billions):
Three Months
Ended February 29,
2004

At February 29, 2004

Loans
Outstanding

Loans
Delinquent

Average
Loans

Net
Principal
Credit
Losses

Managed general purpose credit card loans
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans

$

47.3
31.5

$

$ 48.7

$

Owned general purpose credit card loans

$

15.8

2.7

0.8
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5. Long-Term Borrowings.
Long-term borrowings at February 29, 2004 scheduled to mature within one year aggregated $8,698 million.
During the quarter ended February 29, 2004, the Company issued senior notes aggregating $13,575 million, including non-U.S. dollar
currency notes aggregating $1,715 million. The Company has entered into certain transactions to obtain floating interest rates based
primarily on short-term LIBOR trading levels. Maturities in the aggregate of these notes by fiscal year are as follows: 2004, $12
million; 2005, $127 million; 2006, $26 million; 2007, $2,935 million; 2008, $336 million; and thereafter, $10,139 million. In the
quarter ended February 29, 2004, $4,646 million of senior notes were repaid.
The weighted average maturity of the Company’s long-term borrowings, based upon stated maturity dates, was approximately 6 years
at February 29, 2004.
6. Capital Units, Capital Securities and Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures.
The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc (“MSF”), a U.K.
subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the Company and maturing in 2017 and
(b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase
one Depositary Share representing shares of the Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units
outstanding was $66 million at both February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003.
Prior to February 29, 2004, Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption (also referred to as “Capital Securities” herein)
represented preferred minority interests in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Accordingly, dividends paid on Preferred Securities
Subject to Mandatory Redemption were presented as a deduction to after-tax income (similar to minority interests in the income of
subsidiaries) in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income.
In December 2003, the FASB issued certain revisions to FIN 46 to clarify and expand on the accounting guidance for variable interest
entities. In accordance with this revised guidance, the Company has deconsolidated all of its statutory trusts that had issued Capital
Securities as of February 29, 2004. As a result, the junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the Company to the
statutory trusts are included within Long-term borrowings, and the common securities issued by the statutory trusts and owned by the
Company are recorded in Other assets. In addition, the Capital Securities issued by the statutory trusts will no longer be included in
the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. In future periods, dividends on the junior subordinated
deferrable interest debentures will be recorded within interest expense. The impact of the deconsolidation of the statutory trusts did
not have a material effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position or results of operations. See Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 included in the Form 10-K/A.
7. Common Stock and Shareholders’ Equity.
Regulatory Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures commission merchants and,
accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission. MS&Co. and MSDWI have consistently operated in excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $3,545
million at February 29, 2004, which exceeded the amount required by $2,731 million. MSDWI’s net capital totaled $1,197 million at
February 29, 2004, which exceeded the amount required by $1,085 million. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is
subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is subject to the
capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MSIL and MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective
regulatory capital requirements.
Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the FDIC and other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions
must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to
risk-weighted assets (“Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total riskweighted capital ratio”). At February 29, 2004, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-weighted capital
ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory minimums.
Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking regulations, and capital
adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the countries in which they operate. These
subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products
Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by
various rating agencies.
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Treasury Shares. During the quarter ended February 29, 2004, the Company did not purchase any of its common stock. During the
quarter ended February 28, 2003, the Company purchased $170 million of its common stock through open market purchases at an
average cost of $38.80 per share.
8. Earnings per Share.
Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. The following table presents the
calculation of basic and diluted EPS (in millions, except for per share data):
Three Months Ended

Basic EPS:
Income from continuing operations
(Gain)/loss on discontinued operations
Net income applicable to common shareholders

February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003

$

1,224
(2)

$

1,042
12

$

1,226

$

1,030

Weighted average common shares outstanding

1,079

1,079

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss on discontinued operations

$

1.14
—

$

0.96
(0.01)

Basic EPS

$

1.14

$

0.95

Diluted EPS:
Income from continuing operations
(Gain)/loss on discontinued operations

$

1,224
(2)

$

1,042
12

$

1,226

$

1,030

Net income applicable to common shareholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options
Convertible debt
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock equivalents

1,079

1,079

27
—

20
1

1,106

1,100

Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss on discontinued operations

$

1.11
—

$

0.95
(0.01)

Diluted EPS

$

1.11

$

0.94

At February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, there were approximately 35 million and 88 million stock options outstanding,
respectively, that were considered antidilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS.
9. Commitments and Contingencies.
Letters of Credit. At February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $8.6 billion and $7.7 billion,
respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.
Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its business activities, the Company provides to corporate clients, on a selective
basis, through subsidiaries (including Morgan Stanley Bank), loans or lending commitments, including bridge financing. The
borrowers may be rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be senior

or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower, and
may be syndicated or traded by the Company. At February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the aggregate value of investment grade
loans and positions was $0.5 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, and the aggregate value of non-investment grade loans and
positions was $1.1 billion and $0.7 billion, respectively. At February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company’s aggregate
investment grade lending commitments were $13.7 billion and $14.2 billion, respectively, and its aggregate non-investment grade
lending commitments were $2.8 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively. In connection with these business activities (which include the
loans and positions and lending commitments), the Company had hedges (primarily credit default swaps) with a notional amount of
$5.7 billion at February 29, 2004 and $5.5 billion at November 30, 2003.
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Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial instruments at
contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the market at prevailing prices.
Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the
amounts recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition.
The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at February 29, 2004, $440 million in connection
with its private equity and other principal investment activities. Additionally, the Company has provided and will continue to provide
financing, including margin lending and other extensions of credit to clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and
liquidity risks.
At February 29, 2004, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements of approximately
$45 billion and $36 billion, respectively.
Legal. In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions,
including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a global diversified financial
services institution. Certain of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for
indeterminate amounts of damages. The Company also is involved, from time to time, in investigations and proceedings by
governmental and self-regulatory agencies, certain of which may result in adverse judgments, fines or penalties. The number of these
investigations and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms, including the Company. In some cases, the
issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or otherwise in financial distress.
In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases in which claimants seek substantial
or indeterminate damages, the Company cannot predict with certainty the eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters. The
Company is contesting liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter and believes, based on current knowledge and
after consultation with counsel, that the outcome of each matter will not have a material adverse effect on the condensed consolidated
financial condition of the Company, although the outcome could be material to the Company’s operating results for a particular future
period, depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s income for such period.
10. Derivative Contracts.
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into a variety of derivative contracts related to financial instruments and
commodities. The Company uses these instruments for trading and investment purposes, as well as for asset and liability management
(see Note 1). These instruments generally represent future commitments to swap interest payment streams, exchange currencies or
purchase or sell other financial instruments on specific terms at specified future dates. Many of these products have maturities that do
not extend beyond one year, although swaps and options and warrants on equities typically have longer maturities. For further
discussion of these matters, refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Critical Accounting Policies—Fair Value” and Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended November
30, 2003, included in the Form 10-K/A.
The fair value (carrying amount) of derivative instruments represents the amount at which the derivative could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and is further described in Note 1. Future
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates or the fair values of the financial instruments, commodities or indices
underlying these contracts ultimately may result in cash settlements exceeding fair value amounts recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of financial condition. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange
traded and OTC options and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward contracts and swaps) for
derivatives used by the Company for trading and investment and for asset and liability management, net of offsetting positions in
situations where netting is appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of collateral, which the Company obtains with respect
to certain of these transactions to reduce its exposure to credit losses (see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market
Risk—Credit Risk” in Part I, Item 3).
Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the
contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair value of the contracts reported as
assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional
collateral when deemed necessary. The Company believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at February 29,
2004 will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition.
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The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at February 29, 2004 and November 30, 2003 are summarized in the table below,
showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:
At February 29, 2004
Assets

Liabilities

At November 30, 2003
Assets

Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and other fixed income
securities contracts
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options).
Commodity forwards, options and swaps
Total

$32,001
6,143
5,411
8,606

$22,916
5,959
7,762
7,220

$27,280
5,964
4,503
6,905

$18,950
5,561
5,781
5,950

$52,161

$43,857

$44,652

$36,242

A substantial portion of the Company’s securities and commodities transactions are collateralized and are executed with and on behalf
of commercial banks and other institutional investors, including other brokers and dealers.
See also “Risk Management” in the Form 10-K/A for discussions of the Company’s risk management policies and procedures for its
securities businesses.
11. Segment Information.
The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services provided to customers
and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of financial products and services to its
customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit
Services. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.
The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services,
including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and marketmaking activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign
exchange and commodities; principal investing and aircraft financing activities. The Company’s Individual Investor Group business
provides comprehensive financial planning and investment advisory services designed to accommodate individual investment goals
and risk profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business provides global asset management products and services for
individual and institutional investors through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s
financial advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial
planners and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s private equity activities also are included
within the Investment Management business segment. The Company’s Credit Services business offers Discover-branded cards and
other consumer finance products and services and includes the operation of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and
cash access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanley-branded credit cards and personal loan products that are offered in the
U.K. are also included in the Credit Services segment. The Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified
group of clients and customers, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals.
Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their operating results. Other
revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are allocated based upon the Company’s allocation
methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective revenues or other relevant measures.
As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company includes an “Intersegment
Eliminations” category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated results. Income before taxes in Intersegment
Eliminations represents, among other things, the effect of timing differences associated with the revenue and expense recognition of
commissions paid by Investment Management to Individual Investor Group associated with sales of certain products and the related
compensation costs paid to Individual Investor Group’s financial advisors.
16

MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Selected financial information for the Company’s segments is presented below:
Three Months Ended February 29, 2004

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

3,575 $
(71)

1,151 $
60

642 $
—

652 $
306

(74) $
—

5,946
295

Net revenues

$

3,504

$

1,211 $

642 $

958 $

(74) $

6,241

Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
and discontinued operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption

$

1,183
93

$

166 $
—

170 $
—

365 $
—

29
—

1,913
93

—

—

—

—

Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

$

166 $

170 $

365 $

Three Months Ended February 28, 2003(2)

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

2,392
744

$

934 $
51

524 $
1

591 $
307

(69) $
—

4,372
1,103

Net revenues

$

3,136

$

985 $

525 $

898 $

(69) $

5,475

Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
and discontinued operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption

$

1,112
34

$

83 $
—

110 $
—

293 $
—

33
—

1,631
34

—

—

—

—

Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

$

110 $

293 $

Total Assets

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

At February 29, 2004

$ 613,495

$

18,063 $

3,852 $21,747 $

(259) $656,898

At November 30, 2003(2)

$ 557,546

$

16,644 $

3,754 $25,185 $

(286) $602,843

45
1,045

$

Investment
Management

Credit
Services

29

$

45
$

Intersegment
Eliminations

1,775

Total

(dollars in millions)

22
1,056

$

83 $

Investment
Management

Credit
Services

33

Intersegment
Eliminations

$

22
$

1,575

Total

(dollars in millions)

(1)
(2)

See Note 19 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

12. Variable Interest Entities.
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or
do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties (“variable interest entities”). Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if

they do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that absorbs
a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or both, as a result of holding variable
interests. FIN 46 also requires new disclosures about VIEs.
The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs and may hold
interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative instruments, that may be considered
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variable interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset- and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured
financings (including collateralized debt, bond or loan obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these
transactions principally to facilitate client needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company consolidates entities in
which it has a controlling financial interest in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. For those entities
deemed to be qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS No. 140), which includes the credit card asset securitization
master trusts (see Note 4), the Company does not consolidate the entity.
On February 1, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46 for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for VIEs in which the Company
obtains an interest after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective date of FIN 46 for arrangements with
VIEs existing prior to February 1, 2003 to fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued a
revision of FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to address certain technical corrections and implementation issues that have arisen. As of February
29, 2004, the Company has adopted FIN 46 or FIN 46R for all of its variable interests. For these variable interests, the Company has
consolidated those VIEs (including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateral debt obligation,
credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities) in which the Company is
the primary beneficiary. In limited instances, the Company has deconsolidated VIEs for which it is not the primary beneficiary as a
result of the adoption of FIN 46R. This is further discussed in Note 6 with respect to statutory trusts that had issued Capital Securities.
The effect of adopting FIN 46 and FIN 46R did not have a material effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated results of
operations or condensed consolidated financial position. As of May 31, 2004, the Company will apply FIN 46R to those variable
interests that were previously accounted for under FIN 46.
Institutional Securities. At February 29, 2004, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of VIEs,
including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateralized debt obligation, credit-linked note,
structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities, for which the Company was the primary
beneficiary of the entities was approximately $3.1 billion, which is the carrying amount of the consolidated assets recorded as
Financial instruments owned that are collateral for the entities’ obligations. The nature and purpose of these entities that the Company
consolidated were to issue a series of notes to investors that provide the investors a return based on the holdings of the entities. These
transactions were executed to facilitate client investment objectives. The structured note, equity-linked note, certain credit-linked
note, mortgage-backed securitization, certain financial asset-backed securitization and municipal bond transactions also were
executed as a means of selling financial assets. The Company retained either the entire class or a majority of the class of subordinated
notes or entered into a derivative instrument with the VIE and as a result bears the majority of the expected losses or receives a
majority of the expected residual returns of the entities. The Company consolidates these entities, in accordance with its consolidation
accounting policy, and as a result eliminates all intercompany transactions, including derivatives and other intercompany transactions
such as fees received to underwrite the notes or to structure the transactions. The Company accounts for the assets held by the entities
as Financial instruments owned and the liabilities of the entities as financings. For those liabilities that include an embedded
derivative, the Company has bifurcated such derivative in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 149. The
beneficial interests of these consolidated entities are payable solely from the cash flows of the assets held by the VIE.
At February 29, 2004, also in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the entities for which the
Company holds significant variable interests, which consist of subordinated and other classes of beneficial interests, limited
partnership investments and secondary guarantees, was approximately $14.5 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated
with these entities, primarily credit-linked note, loan and bond issuing, financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed
securitization, collateralized debt obligation and affordable housing tax credit fund entities, were approximately $8.7 billion
consisting primarily of senior beneficial interests, which represent the Company’s maximum exposure to loss at February 29, 2004.
The Company may hedge the risks inherent in its variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure to loss. The Company’s
maximum exposure to loss does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company utilizes to hedge
these risks.
Investment Management. At February 29, 2004, in connection with its Investment Management business, where the Company is the
asset manager for collateralized bond and loan obligation entities, the Company was neither the primary beneficiary of nor held any
significant variable interests in such VIEs due to the modification of the treatment of fees paid to a decision maker under FIN 46R.
FIN 46 included a requirement that expected residual returns include the total amount of fees on a gross basis paid to decision makers
instead of including only the variability in such fees as is the guidance in FIN 46R.
The Company purchases and sells interests in entities that may be deemed to be VIEs in the ordinary course of its business. As a
result of these activities, it is possible that such entities may be consolidated and deconsolidated at various points in time. Therefore,
the Company’s variable interests included above may not be held by the Company at the end of future quarterly reporting periods.
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13. Guarantees.
FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information about its obligations under certain guarantee
arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and indemnification agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make
payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or
commodity price, an index or the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a
guaranteed party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to the
guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of
others.
Derivative Contracts. Under FIN 45, certain derivative contracts meet the accounting definition of a guarantee, including certain
written options, contingent forward contracts and credit default swaps. Although the Company’s derivative arrangements do not
specifically identify whether the derivative counterparty retains the underlying asset, liability or equity security, the Company has
disclosed information regarding all derivative contracts that could meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. The maximum potential
payout for certain derivative contracts, such as written interest rate caps and written foreign currency options, cannot be estimated as
increases in interest or foreign exchange rates in the future could possibly be unlimited. Therefore, in order to provide information
regarding the maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make under certain derivative
contracts, the notional amount of the contracts has been disclosed.
The Company records all derivative contracts at fair value. For this reason, the Company does not monitor its risk exposure to such
derivative contracts based on derivative notional amounts; rather the Company manages its risk exposure on a fair value basis.
Aggregate market risk limits have been established, and market risk measures are routinely monitored against these limits. The
Company also manages its exposure to these derivative contracts through a variety of risk mitigation strategies, including, but not
limited to, entering into offsetting economic hedge positions. The Company believes that the notional amounts of the derivative
contracts generally overstate its exposure. For further discussion of the Company’s derivative risk management activities, see Note 10
and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Risk Management” in Part II, Item 7A.
Financial Guarantees to Third Parties. In connection with its corporate lending business and other corporate activities, the Company
provides standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees to counterparties. Such arrangements represent obligations to make
payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfill its obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other contractual
obligation.
Liquidity Guarantees. The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with special purpose entities (“SPE”) and other
counterparties, whereby the Company is required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The Company often may have
recourse to the underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are required under such liquidity facilities.
Market Value Guarantees. Market value guarantees are issued to guarantee return of principal invested to fund investors associated
with certain European equity funds and to guarantee timely payment of a specified return to investors in certain affordable housing
tax credit funds. The guarantees associated with certain European equity funds are designed to provide for any shortfall between the
market value of the underlying fund assets and invested principal and a stipulated return amount. The guarantees provided to investors
in certain affordable housing tax credit funds are designed to return an investor’s contribution to a fund and the investor’s share of tax
losses and tax credits expected to be generated by a fund.
The table below summarizes certain information regarding these guarantees at February 29, 2004:
Maximum Potential Payout/Notional
Years to Maturity

1-3

3-5

Over 5

Total

Carrying
Amount

Collateral/
Recourse

Type of Guarantee

Less than 1

Derivative contracts
Standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees
Market value guarantees
Liquidity facilities

$372,991 $190,030 $211,986 $152,297 $927,304 $17,845 $
338
180
63
27
608
5
12
18
251
296
577
36
—
490
49
144
683
—

(dollars in millions)

112
128
44
—

Indemnities. In the normal course of its business, the Company provides standard indemnities to counterparties for taxes, including
U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments made on derivatives, securities and stock lending
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transactions, certain annuity products and other financial arrangements. These indemnity payments could be required based on a
change in the tax laws or change in interpretation of applicable tax rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the
Company to terminate the agreement upon the occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the
Company could be required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the condensed consolidated financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the occurrence of
any events that would trigger payments under these contracts is remote.
Exchange/Clearinghouse Member Guarantees. The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and
clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Associated with its membership, the Company may be required
to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who may default on its obligations to the exchange or the
clearinghouse. While the rules governing different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general the Company’s guarantee
obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had previously exhausted its resources. In addition, any such guarantee
obligation would be apportioned among the other non-defaulting members of the exchange or clearinghouse. Any potential contingent
liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
condensed consolidated financial statements for these agreements and believes that any potential requirement to make payments
under these agreements is remote.
General Partner Guarantees. As a general partner in certain private equity and real estate partnerships, the Company receives
distributions from the partnerships according to the provisions of the partnership agreements. The Company may, from time to time,
be required to return all or a portion of such distributions to the limited partners in the event the limited partners do not achieve a
certain return as specified in various partnership agreements, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future
payments that the Company could be required to make under these provisions at February 29, 2004 was $122 million. As of February
29, 2004, the Company’s liability for distributions that the Company has determined it is probable it will be required to refund based
on the applicable refund criteria specified in the various partnership agreements was $63 million.
Securitized Asset Guarantees. As part of the Company’s Institutional Securities and Credit Services securitization activities, the
Company provides representations and warranties that certain securitized assets conform to specified guidelines. The Company may
be required to repurchase such assets or indemnify the purchaser against losses if the assets do not meet certain conforming
guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company to ensure that asset guideline qualifications are met, and to the extent the
Company has acquired such assets to be securitized from other parties, the Company seeks to obtain its own representations and
warranties regarding the assets. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be
equal to the current outstanding balances of all assets subject to such securitization activities. Also, in connection with originations of
®
residential mortgage loans under the Company’s FlexSource program, the Company may permit borrowers to pledge marketable
securities as collateral instead of requiring cash down payments for the purchase of the underlying residential property. Upon sale of
the residential mortgage loans, the Company may provide a surety bond that reimburses the purchasers for shortfalls in the borrowers’
securities accounts up to certain limits if the collateral maintained in the securities accounts (along with the associated real estate
collateral) is insufficient to cover losses that purchasers experience as a result of defaults by borrowers on the underlying residential
mortgage loans. The Company requires the borrowers to meet daily collateral calls to ensure the marketable securities pledged in lieu
of a cash down payment are sufficient. At February 29, 2004, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company may
be required to make under its surety bond was $196 million. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the condensed
consolidated financial statements for these representations and warranties and reimbursement agreements and believes that the
probability of any payments under these arrangements is remote.
Merchant Chargeback Guarantees. In connection with its Credit Services business, the Company owns and operates merchant
processing services in the U.S. related to its general purpose credit cards. As a merchant processor in the U.S. and an issuer of credit
cards in the U.K., the Company is contingently liable for processed credit card sales transactions in the event of a dispute between the
cardmember and a merchant. If a dispute is resolved in the cardmember’s favor, the Company will credit or refund the amount to the
cardmember and charge back the transaction to the merchant. If the Company is unable to collect the amount from the merchant, the
Company will bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the cardmember. In most instances, a payment requirement by the
Company is unlikely to arise because most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits are issued by merchants on
returned items in a timely fashion. However, where the product or service is not provided until some later date following the
purchase, the likelihood of payment by the Company increases. The maximum potential amount of future payments related to this
contingent liability is estimated to be the total cardmember sales transaction volume to date that could qualify as a valid disputed
transaction under the Company’s merchant processing network and cardmember agreements; however, the Company believes that
this amount is not representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s historical experience. For
example, the Company processes cardmember transactions for airline ticket purchases. In the event an airline ceases operations, the
Company could be contingently liable to its cardmembers for refunds of the ticket purchase prices. The maximum potential amount of
future payments related to this contingent liability is estimated to be the total cardmember airline ticket transaction volume as of

February 29, 2004 to the extent that such travel has not yet occurred.
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During the quarter ended February 29, 2004, the Company incurred losses related to merchant chargebacks of $1 million and
processed aggregate credit card transaction volume of $24.2 billion. The amount of the liability related to the Company’s credit
cardmember merchant guarantee was not material at February 29, 2004. The Company mitigates this risk by withholding settlement
from merchants or obtaining escrow deposits from certain merchants that are considered higher risk due to various factors such as
time delays in the delivery of products or services. At February 29, 2004, the Company had settlement withholdings and escrow
deposits of $37 million.
Other. The Company may, from time to time, in its role as investment banking advisor, be required to provide guarantees in
connection with certain European merger and acquisition transactions. If required by the regulating authorities, the Company provides
a guarantee that the acquirer in the merger and acquisition transaction has or will have sufficient funds to complete the transaction and
would then be required to make the acquisition payments in the event the acquirer’s funds are insufficient at the completion date of
the transaction. These arrangements generally cover the time frame from the transaction offer date to its closing date and therefore are
generally short-term in nature. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make
cannot be estimated. The likelihood of any payment by the Company under these arrangements is remote given the level of the
Company’s due diligence associated with its role as investment banking advisor. There were no such arrangements outstanding at
February 29, 2004.
14. Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.
The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company accounts for these
investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating losses generated by these investments is
recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses
are recorded within the Company’s Provision for income taxes. The synthetic fuel produced qualifies for tax credits based on Section
29 of the Internal Revenue Code. Under Section 29, tax credits are not available for synthetic fuel produced after 2007. In the quarters
ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, the Company recorded Losses from unconsolidated investees of $93 million and $34
million, respectively. These losses were more than offset by tax credits of $104 million and $47 million in the quarters ended
February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, respectively, and tax benefits on the losses of $31 million and $14 million in the quarters
ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003, respectively.
15. Employee Benefit Plans.
The Company maintains various pension and benefit plans to eligible employees (see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 included in the Form 10-K/A).
The components of the Company’s net periodic benefit expense were as follows:
Three Months Ended
February 29,
2004

February 28,
2003

(dollars in millions)

Service cost, benefits earned during the period
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and other
Net periodic benefit expense

$

28
33
(32)
6

$

29
31
(29)
7

$

35

$

38

16. Aircraft.
Aircraft Held for Sale.
The carrying value at February 29, 2004 of aircraft subsequently classified as held for sale was $157 million (see Note 19). The
Company’s aircraft leasing business is included in the Institutional Securities business segment. The loss from discontinued
operations in the quarter ended February 28, 2003 included a $19 million charge to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired
aircraft to market value (see “Aircraft Impairment” below).
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Aircraft Impairment.
The Company uses “market value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to estimate fair value for its impaired aircraft. Prior
to fiscal 2003, the Company had used “base value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to estimate the fair value of its
impaired aircraft. Accordingly, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $36 million
(of which $19 million is included in loss/(gain) from discontinued operations) to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired
aircraft to “market value.” The charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations) is reflected in Other expenses in
the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income for the quarter ended February 28, 2003. The results of the aircraft
financing business are included in the Company’s Institutional Securities business segment.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable. The Company reviewed the carrying value of its aircraft
portfolio for impairment during the second quarter of fiscal 2003 given the difficult conditions existing in the commercial aircraft
industry at the time, including the adverse impact of the military conflict in Iraq, the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome
and the bankruptcy of several airlines. The Company believes that there have not been any events or changes in circumstances within
its aircraft business or in the market conditions of the industry since the second quarter of fiscal 2003 that would indicate that the
carrying value of its aircraft has been further impaired and, accordingly, an additional review for impairment has not been required
since that date.
In the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each aircraft’s projected
undiscounted cash flows to its respective carrying value. For each aircraft for which impairment was indicated (because the projected
undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying value), the Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value,
if lower than carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used market value estimates provided by
independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of this review, the
Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $287 million (of which $16 million is included in loss/(gain) from
discontinued operations) based on the average market value provided by independent appraisers in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.
The impairment charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations) is included within Other expenses in the
condensed consolidated statement of income.
The Company had followed a valuation methodology designed to align the changes in projected undiscounted cash flows for impaired
aircraft with the change in carrying value of such aircraft. Under this methodology, the Company calculated the $36 million
impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 using the highest portfolio valuation provided by the appraisers and calculated the
$287 million impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2003 based on the average of the three appraisal values. The
Company has determined that future impairment charges, if required, will be based upon the average market appraisal values from
independent appraisers. If the average market appraisal values had been used to measure impairment in each of the prior quarters in
which impairment was recognized, pre-tax income (including both continuing and discontinued operations) would have differed as
follows:
Change in
Pre-tax
Income
Increase
(Decrease)
(dollars in
millions)

Quarter ended:
November 30, 2001
February 28, 2002
May 31, 2002
August 31, 2002
November 30, 2002
February 28, 2003
May 31, 2003

$ (70.9)
1.0
1.5
(71.9)
2.7
38.3
97.0

Aggregate difference

$

(2.3)

If the Company chose to liquidate its entire fleet ($4.2 billion carrying value at February 29, 2004, excluding those aircraft that were
classified as held for sale) at this time, which is not currently contemplated, the Company believes that, given current market
conditions and based upon the range of values provided by independent appraisers at the last impairment date (May 31, 2003), it
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could be forced to accept a value for its entire fleet that is substantially lower (up to approximately 30%) than the carrying value of
the fleet. The Company has not recorded an impairment charge of this magnitude because at the last impairment date, there was no
indication of impairment for the majority of the individual aircraft as their projected undiscounted cash flows exceeded their
respective carrying values.
17. Subsequent Event – Business Acquisition.
On April 6, 2004, Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc. (“MSCI”), a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, announced the
signing of a definitive merger agreement pursuant to which the Company would acquire Barra, Inc. (“Barra”), a global leader in
delivering risk management systems and services to managers of portfolio and firm-wide investment risk. The acquisition price will
be $41.00 per share in cash, or an aggregate consideration of approximately $816 million. Barra’s operations will be combined with
MSCI following the close of the transaction, which has been approved by the Boards of Directors of both the Company and Barra.
The transaction is currently expected to close during the third or fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, subject to regulatory and Barra
shareholder approval, and customary closing conditions.
18. Restatement Relating to Fiscal 2003 Interim Compensation and Benefits Expense.
Subsequent to the issuance of the February 28, 2003 condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company determined the need
to adjust the timing of the recognition of expense related to equity-based compensation awards during fiscal 2003 in connection with
the Company’s adoption, effective December 1, 2002, of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
Prior to the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 123 in fiscal 2003, the Company recorded compensation expense for equity-based
awards in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” APB 25
states that equity-based awards should be expensed based upon the period or periods during which an employee performs services,
and that the service period or periods should be inferred from the award terms or from the past pattern of granting awards in the
absence of a stated service period. Based upon the terms of the Company’s pre-fiscal 2003 equity-based awards, which did not state a
service period, and the past pattern of granting such awards, the Company determined that the appropriate service period under APB
25 was the year of grant, and accordingly recognized 100% of the compensation expense for equity-based awards in such year. In
accordance with APB 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” the Company accrued the estimated expense of the equity-based awards on a
quarterly basis to reflect the interim periods’ portion of the annual costs.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123 effective December 1, 2002. In the absence of a defined service period, SFAS No. 123
presumptively defines the service period (over which compensation costs should be recognized) as the vesting period. In the third
quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company revised its equity-based compensation program (including extending the vesting period by an
additional year for half of the awards), and determined that under SFAS No. 123 the service period for fiscal 2003 awards would be
three and four years (depending upon the vesting provisions of the awards). As specified under the terms of the Company’s fiscal
2003 awards, the service period included the year of grant and the subsequent vesting periods.
In the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003, the Company continued to accrue compensation expense on the basis that equity-based
awards would be expensed in the year of grant. In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company determined that the expense
recognized in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003 should have been recognized over the longer service period. The Company
reflected a cumulative adjustment to its compensation accruals for the three and nine month periods ended August 31, 2003 in the
third quarter of fiscal 2003. Subsequently, after discussions with the accounting staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
Company determined that with the adoption of SFAS No. 123, it should have begun to amortize the expense related to equity-based
awards over a longer service period beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
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The following summarizes the restatement for the three months ended February 28, 2003:
Three Months Ended
February 28,
2003(1)

February 28,
2003(1)

(Restated)
(Previously Reported)
(dollars in millions,
except per share data)

Compensation and benefits expense

$

2,549

$

2,364

Total non-interest expenses

$

4,029

$

3,844

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
and discontinued operations

$

1,446

$

1,631

Provision for income taxes

$

473

$

533

Net income

$

905

$

1,030

Earnings per common share:
Basic

$

0.84

$

0.95

$

0.82

$

0.94

Diluted

(1)

See Note 19 for a discussion of discontinued operations.

19. Discontinued Operations.
In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company determined that certain of its aircraft were subject to probable sale and, accordingly,
these aircraft have been designated as “held for sale” under SFAS No. 144. The revenues and expenses associated with these aircraft
have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The gain/(loss) from discontinued operations for the three
month periods ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003 was $2 million and $(12) million, respectively.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Morgan Stanley:
We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as
of February 29, 2004, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income and cash flows for the
three-month periods ended February 29, 2004 and February 28, 2003. These condensed consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the management of Morgan Stanley.
We conducted our review in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A
review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons
responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding
the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to such condensed consolidated financial
statements for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As discussed in Note 18, the February 28, 2003 condensed consolidated financial statements have been restated.
We have previously audited, in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated statement of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as of November 30, 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year then
ended included in this Current Report on Form 8-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003; and, in our report dated February
23, 2004, (October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 26) (which report contains an explanatory
paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003), we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition as of
November 30, 2003 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated statement of financial condition from which
it has been derived.
/s/ D ELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
April 6, 2004
(October 13, 2004, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 18)
(October 27, 2004, as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 19)
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EXHIBIT 99.3.
MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
(dollars in millions, except share data)
May 31,
2004

November 30,
2003

(unaudited)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and other
regulations (including securities at fair value of $30,179 at May 31, 2004 and $18,957 at November
30, 2003)
Financial instruments owned (approximately $120 billion at May 31, 2004 and $73 billion at November
30, 2003 were pledged to various parties):
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Securities received as collateral
Securities borrowed
Receivables:
Consumer loans (net of allowances of $956 at May 31, 2004 and $1,002 at November 30, 2003)
Customers, net
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Fees, interest and other
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $2,702 at May 31, 2004 and $2,506 at
November 30, 2003)
Aircraft under operating leases (less accumulated depreciation of $1,089 at May 31, 2004 and $984 at
November 30, 2003)
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

1

$ 32,070

$

29,692

41,782

28,526

39,839
23,305
82,679
31,123
49,320
685
96,042
33,091
202,412

24,133
21,592
80,594
29,984
44,652
671
78,205
27,278
153,813

17,489
45,931
10,124
6,469

19,382
37,321
5,563
4,349

2,470

2,433

4,140
1,531
8,999

4,407
1,514
8,734

$729,501

$ 602,843
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(dollars in millions, except share data)
May 31,
2004

November 30,
2003
(unaudited)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings
Deposits
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Obligation to return securities received as collateral
Securities loaned
Payables:
Customers
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Interest and dividends
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Long-term borrowings

$ 34,769
11,294

Capital Units
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 at May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003;
Shares issued: 1,211,703,552 at May 31, 2004 and 1,211,699,552 at November 30, 2003;
Shares outstanding: 1,098,127,106 at May 31, 2004 and 1,084,696,446 at November 30,
2003
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Employee stock trust
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Subtotal
Note receivable related to ESOP
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;
113,576,446 shares at May 31, 2004 and 127,003,106 shares at November 30, 2003
Common stock issued to employee trust
Unearned stock-based compensation
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

28,386
12,839

21,083
21,833
9,112
33,681
41,615
3,116
190,605
33,091
80,689

17,072
17,505
10,141
25,615
36,242
4,873
147,618
27,278
64,375

118,863
5,111
3,651
14,174
79,746

96,794
5,706
2,138
12,918
65,600

702,433

575,100

66

66

—

2,810

12
3,972
29,938
2,915
(82)

12
4,028
28,038
3,008
(156)

36,755
(3)

34,930
(4)

(6,104)
(2,915)
(731)

(6,766)
(2,420)
(873)

27,002

24,867

$729,501

$ 602,843

MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)
Six Months Ended
May 31,

Three Months Ended
May 31,
2004

2003

2004

(unaudited)

2003
(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

(As Restated,
See Note 18)

Revenues:
Investment banking
Principal transactions:
Trading
Investments
Commissions
Fees:
Asset management,
distribution and
administration
Merchant and cardmember
Servicing
Interest and dividends
Other
Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer loan losses
Net revenues
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits
Occupancy and equipment
Brokerage, clearing and exchange
fees
Information processing and
communications
Marketing and business
development
Professional services
Other
Total non-interest expenses
Income from continuing operations before
losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes and dividends on
preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject
to mandatory redemption
Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss/(gain) from discontinued
operations

$

983

$

536

$

1,812

$

1,125

2,064
191
877

1,670
59
709

3,896
220
1,778

3,382
37
1,382

1,113
306
485
3,663
118

881
338
503
3,449
112

2,185
643
1,057
7,445
239

1,777
702
1,070
7,238
197

9,800
2,950
200

8,257
2,902
309

19,275
5,922
462

16,910
5,744
645

6,650

5,046

12,891

10,521

2,923
206

2,112
195

5,635
406

4,476
391

237

202

461

393

318

315

638

630

263
356
544

251
259
617

517
674
844

514
484
907

4,847

3,951

9,175

7,795

1,803
81
498

1,095
36
300

3,716
174
1,049

2,726
70
833

—

40

45

62

1,224

719

2,448

1,761

1

18

(2)

38

Income tax (benefit)/provision

—

Loss/(gain) on discontinued
operations

1

(7)

1

(15)

11

(1)

23

Net income

$

1,223

$

708

$

2,449

$

1,738

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

$

1.13
—

$

0.67
(0.01)

$

2.27
—

$

1.63
(0.02)

$

1.13

$

0.66

$

2.27

$

1.61

$

1.10
—

$

0.66
(0.01)

$

2.21
—

$

1.60
(0.02)

$

1.10

$

0.65

$

2.21

$

1.58

Basic earnings per common
share
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings per common
share
Average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

1,082,211,511

1,077,386,468

1,080,776,922

1,077,413,715

1,110,357,415

1,097,478,351

1,108,270,257

1,097,824,226

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in millions)
Three Months Ended
May 31,
2004

2003

2004

(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net change in cash flow hedges

$1,223

Comprehensive income

$1,240

$

(7)
24

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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708
17
(18)

$

Six Months Ended
May 31,

707

2003
(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

$2,449

$

36
38
$2,523

1,738
39
(59)

$

1,718

MORGAN STANLEY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in millions)
Six Months Ended
May 31,
2004

2003
(unaudited)
(As Restated,
See Note 18)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
(Gain)/loss on discontinued operations

$ 2,449
(1)

$

Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used for operating activities:
Non-cash charges (credits) included in net income:
Aircraft-related charges
Compensation payable in common stock and options
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for consumer loan losses
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and
other regulations
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned
Receivables and other assets
Payables and other liabilities

(13,256)
(10,436)
(32,285)
(15,196)
24,294

3,312
9,511
(11,076)
(12,662)
4,090

Net cash used for operating activities

(43,457)

(3,822)

(186)
(3,004)
4,435

(382)
(4,981)
8,731

1,245

3,368

6,383

(10,307)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases
Net principal disbursed on consumer loans
Sales of consumer loans
Net cash provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from (payments for):
Short-term borrowings
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreements to resell and certain derivatives financing activities
Deposits
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of long-term borrowings
Issuance of Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
Payments for:
Repayments of long-term borrowings
Repurchases of common stock
Cash dividends

2,448

1,738
23
1,761

107
111
294
462

288
(39)
348
645

27,962
(1,545)

911
4

195
21,059
—

133
16,372
1,500

(8,729)
(187)
(548)

(8,465)
(350)
(498)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities

44,590

(700)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period

2,378
29,692

(1,154)
29,212

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period

$ 32,070

$

28,058

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.
The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading market positions in each of
its business segments—Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and Credit Services. The
Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services, including
advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and market-making
activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign exchange and
commodities; principal investing, including real estate investment vehicles; and aircraft financing activities. The Company’s
Individual Investor Group business provides comprehensive financial planning, investment advisory and brokerage services designed
to accommodate individual investment goals and risk profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business provides global
asset management products and services for individual and institutional investors through three principal distribution channels: a
proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s financial advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary channel
consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel.
The Company’s private equity activities also are included within the Investment Management business segment. The Company’s
Credit Services business offers Discover ®-branded cards and other consumer finance products and services and includes the operation
of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and cash access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanley-branded credit
cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are also included in the Credit Services segment. The Company provides
its products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and customers, including corporations, governments, financial
institutions and individuals.
Basis of Financial Information. The condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and assumptions regarding the valuations of
certain financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels, the outcome of litigation, and other matters that affect the condensed
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the
condensed consolidated financial statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and other
entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy is to consolidate all entities in which it owns
more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity. In accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”), as revised, the Company
also consolidates any variable interest entities for which it is the primary beneficiary (see Note 12). For investments in companies in
which the Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined as owning a voting or
economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those cases where the Company’s
investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are carried at cost.
The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”), Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWI”), Morgan Stanley
Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All material
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 (the
“Form 10-K/A”) as supplemented by the first quarter fiscal 2004 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A. The condensed consolidated
financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for the fair statement of the results for the interim period. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of results for the entire year.
Discontinued Operations. Revenues and expenses associated with certain aircraft designated as “held for sale” have been classified
as discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note 19 for additional discussion of discontinued
operations.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased, which include cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the condensed consolidated statements of
financial condition, and gains and losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in the condensed consolidated statements of
income. Loans and lending commitments associated with the Company’s lending activities also are recorded at fair value. Fair value
is the amount at which financial instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining the fair value of the
Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors, including, for example, the type of
product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction.
Products for which actively quoted prices or pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted
prices or pricing parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded or
not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency.
A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is derived from such prices or parameters. The
availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can vary from product to product. Where available, observable market
prices and pricing parameters in a product (or a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment.
In certain markets, observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined using
techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment.
The fair value of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which may require
multiple market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for credit quality and market
liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon observable market data where available. In the
absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active market, observable prices or parameters of other comparable current
market transactions, or other observable data supporting a fair value based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value
is based on the transaction price. The Company also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives.
Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be modeled using a series of
techniques, including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, simulation models or a
combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established derivative products, the pricing models used by the
Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. Pricing models take into account the contract terms, including the
maturity, as well as market parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the creditworthiness of the counterparty.
Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities are reflected in the
condensed consolidated statements of income as interest and dividend revenue or interest expense. Purchases and sales of financial
instruments as well as commission revenues and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade date. Unrealized gains and
losses arising from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including derivative contracts related to financial
instruments and commodities, are presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of financial condition on a netby-counterparty basis, when appropriate.
Equity securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities initially are carried in the
condensed consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value. The carrying value of such equity
securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable
market prices or transactions that directly affect the value of such equity securities. Downward adjustments relating to such equity
securities are made in the event that the Company determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s
partnership interests, including general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within Other
assets in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based upon changes
in the fair value of the underlying partnership’s net assets.
Financial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Management. The Company enters into various derivative financial instruments
for non-trading purposes. These instruments are included within Financial instruments owned—derivative contracts or Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts within the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and
include interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps, equity swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and
currency swaps and equity derivatives to manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The
Company also utilizes interest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the borrowings that
fund these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as fair value hedges and cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.
The Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrowings, including fixed rate borrowings
that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consist primarily of hedges of floating rate borrowings in
connection with its aircraft financing business. In general, interest rate exposure in this business arises to the extent that the interest
obligations associated with debt used to finance the Company’s aircraft portfolio do not correlate with the aircraft rental payments
received by the Company. The Company’s objective is to manage the exposure created by its floating interest
8
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rate obligations given that future lease rates on new leases may not be repriced at levels that fully reflect changes in market interest
rates. The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to minimize the risk created by its longer-term floating rate interest obligations and
measures that risk by reference to the duration of those obligations and the expected sensitivity of future lease rates to future market
interest rates.
For qualifying fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the gain or loss on the hedged asset or liability
relating to the risk being hedged are recorded currently in earnings. These amounts are recorded in interest expense and provide offset
of one another. For qualifying cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, and amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) are reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Ineffectiveness
relating to fair value and cash flow hedges, if any, is recorded within interest expense. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness on the
Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income was not material for all periods presented.
The Company also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relating to its net monetary
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations. The gain or loss from revaluing these contracts is deferred and
reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized
amounts due from or to counterparties included in Financial instruments owned or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. The
interest elements (forward points) on these foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in earnings.
Securitization Activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and residential mortgage loans,
corporate bonds and loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, municipal bonds, credit card loans and other types of
financial assets (see Notes 3 and 4). The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of
the securitization, undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest and fees (“accrued interest receivable”) on securitized credit card
receivables, cash collateral accounts, servicing rights, and rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the
securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The exposure to credit losses from
securitized loans is limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the Company’s retained interest in securitized
loans, including any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on the sale of financial assets depends in part on the previous
carrying amount of the assets involved in the transfer, and each subsequent transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the
assets sold and the retained interests based upon their respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable
market prices are used if available. However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests, so the
Company estimates fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key
assumptions, including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates commensurate with the risks
involved. The present value of future net servicing revenues that the Company estimates it will receive over the term of the
securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans are securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a
charge to income over the term of the securitized loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as
they are earned.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
highly liquid investments not held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.
In accordance with SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” the Company
modified its classification within the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows of the activity associated with certain derivative
financial instruments. The activity related to derivative financial instruments entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and that
have been determined to contain a financing element at inception where the Company is deemed the borrower is now included within
“Cash flows from financing activities.” Prior to July 1, 2003, the activity associated with such derivative financial instruments is
included within “Cash flows from operating activities.”
2. Goodwill.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test, which did not indicate any
goodwill impairment and therefore did not have an effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial condition or results of
operations.
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Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill for the six month period ended May 31, 2004 were as follows:
Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor
Group

Balance as of November 30, 2003
Translation adjustments

$

8
—

$

539
17

$

967
—

$1,514
17

Balance as of May 31, 2004

$

8

$

556

$

967

$1,531

Investment
Management

Total

(dollars in millions)

3. Securities Financing and Securitization Transactions.
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are treated as financing transactions and are
carried at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or reacquired as specified in the respective agreements; such
amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are presented on a net-by-counterparty
basis, when appropriate. The Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under agreements to resell. Securities
borrowed and Securities loaned also are treated as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts of cash collateral advanced
and received in connection with the transactions.
The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities financings. Pledged
securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial instruments owned (pledged to various parties)
on the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. The carrying value and classification of securities owned by the
Company that have been loaned or pledged to counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the
collateral were as follows:
At
May 31,
2004

At
November 30,
2003

(dollars in millions)

Financial instruments owned:
U.S. government and agency securities
Other sovereign government obligations
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Total

$11,199
144
16,848
6,357

$

5,717
164
12,089
3,477

$34,548

$

21,447

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and securities loaned
transactions to, among other things, finance the Company’s inventory positions, acquire securities to cover short positions and settle
other securities obligations and to accommodate customers’ needs. The Company also engages in securities financing transactions for
customers through margin lending. Under these agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral,
including U.S. government and agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and corporate
equities. The Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse repurchase agreements, securities
borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the Company is permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as
collateral and use the securities to secure repurchase agreements, to enter into securities lending transactions or for delivery to
counterparties to cover short positions. At May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the fair value of securities received as collateral
where the Company is permitted to sell or repledge the securities was $670 billion and $511 billion, respectively, and the fair value of
the portion that has been sold or repledged was $611 billion and $462 billion, respectively.
The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements
with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset
a counterparty’s rights and obligations. The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the
related receivable or payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify its rights to request

additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are collateralized by customer-owned securities
held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the Company’s collateral policies significantly limits the Company’s credit
exposure in the event of customer default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and
if necessary may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold but not delivered from customers.
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In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and
residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds and loans, municipal bonds and other
types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, and any changes in fair value are recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of income. The Company may act as underwriter of the beneficial interests issued by securitization vehicles.
Underwriting net revenues are recognized in connection with these transactions. The Company may retain interests in the securitized
financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the condensed consolidated
statements of financial condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained interests are recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of income. Retained interests in securitized financial assets associated with the Company’s Institutional
Securities business were approximately $3.5 billion at May 31, 2004, the majority of which were related to residential mortgage loan,
U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. Net gains at the time of
securitization during the six month period ended May 31, 2004 were not material. The assumptions that the Company used to
determine the fair value of its retained interests at the time of securitization related to those transactions that occurred during the six
month period ended May 31, 2004 were not materially different from the assumptions included in the table below. Additionally, as
indicated in the table below, the Company’s exposure to credit losses related to these retained interests was not material to the
Company’s results of operations.
The following table presents information on the Company’s residential mortgage loan, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation
and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of
the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions at May 31, 2004 were as follows (dollars in
millions):
U.S. Agency
Collateralized
Mortgage
Obligations

Residential
Mortgage
Loans

Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Prepayment speed assumption
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$

1,594
44
0.05-34.46%
$
(37)
$
(72)
9.40%
$
(25)
$
(49)
318-2100PSA
$
(12)
$
(9)

$

1,206
111
—
—
—
7.39%
$
(48)
$
(92)
130-347PSA
$
(11)
$
(24)

Commercial
Mortgage
Loans

$

396
81
0.24-12.91%
$
(1)
$
(2)
6.01%
$
(11)
$
(22)
—
—
—

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize to hedge risks
inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair
value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in
the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value
of the retained interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in
changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any
corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during the six month periods ended May 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company
received $32 billion and $34 billion, respectively, of proceeds from new securitization transactions and cash flows from retained
interests in securitization transactions of $2.2 billion and $2.4 billion, respectively.
11

MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
4. Consumer Loans.
Consumer loans were as follows:
At
May 31,
2004

At
November 30,
2003

(dollars in millions)

General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment
Less:
Allowance for consumer loan losses

$18,445

Consumer loans, net

$17,489

$

956

20,384
1,002

$

19,382

Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:
Three Months Ended
May 31,
2004

Six Months Ended
May 31,

2003

2004

2003

(dollars in millions)

Balance at beginning of period
Additions:
Provision for consumer loan losses
Deductions:
Charge-offs
Recoveries

$ 1,004

$ 950

$ 1,002

$ 928

200

309

462

645

280
(32)

312
(28)

571
(63)

648
(50)

248

284

508

598

956

$ 975

956

$ 975

Net charge-offs
Balance at end of period

$

$

Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, net of recoveries, recorded as a reduction of interest
revenue, was $64 million and $123 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004 and $68 million and $135 million
in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003. Cardmember fees accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently
charged off, net of recoveries, recorded as a reduction to merchant and cardmember fee revenue, was $38 million and $78 million in
the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004 and $45 million and $90 million in the quarter and six month period ended May
31, 2003.
At May 31, 2004, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately $260 billion. Such
commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain credit cards, provided there is no
violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These commitments, substantially all of which the Company can
terminate at any time and which do not necessarily represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account
usage and customer creditworthiness.
The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $1,239 million and $4,435 million in the quarter and six month
period ended May 31, 2004 and $2,812 million and $8,731 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003.
Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations include undivided seller’s
interests, accrued interest receivable on securitized credit card receivables, cash collateral accounts, servicing rights and rights to any
excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of
return and reimbursement of credit losses. The undivided seller’s interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is recorded in
Consumer loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank pari passu with investors’ interests in the securitization trusts, and
the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests. Accrued interest receivable and cash collateral accounts are
recorded in Other assets at amounts that approximate fair value. The Company receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor
principal balance outstanding. The Company does not recognize servicing assets or servicing liabilities for servicing rights since the
servicing contracts provide only adequate compensation (as defined in SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”) to the Company for performing the servicing. Residual Interests are recorded in

Other assets and classified as trading and reflected at fair value with changes in fair value recorded currently in earnings. At May 31,
2004, the Company had $9.8 billion of retained interests, including $6.7 billion of undivided seller’s interests, in credit card asset
securitizations. The retained interests are subject to credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred credit card assets. The
investors and the securitization trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for failure of cardmembers to pay when due.
During the six month periods ended May 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company completed credit card asset securitizations of $1.9 billion
and $5.7 billion, respectively, and recognized net securitization gains of $7 million and $46 million, respectively, as servicing fees in
the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income. The uncollected balances of securitized general purpose credit card
loans were $29.3 billion at May 31, 2004 and $29.4 billion at November 30, 2003.
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Key economic assumptions used in measuring the Residual Interests at the date of securitization resulting from credit card asset
securitizations completed during the six month periods ended May 31, 2004 and May 31, 2003 were as follows:
Six Months Ended
May 31,
2004

Weighted average life (in months)
Payment rate (rate per month)
Credit losses (rate per annum)
Discount rate (rate per annum)

2003

6.1
18.00%
6.90%
14.00%

5.7-7.1
14.89-18.00%
3.86-6.90%
14.00%

Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse
changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):
At
May 31,
2004

Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value)
Weighted average life (in months)
Weighted average payment rate (rate per month)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change

$ 264
5.7
18.25%
$ (18)
$ (33)
6.58%
$ (72)
$ (143)
12.00%
$ (2)
$ (5)

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or
20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the
change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual
Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in
another (for example, increases in market interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might
magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company
may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):
Six Months Ended
May 31,

Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset securitizations
Contractual servicing fees received
Cash flows received from retained interests

2004

2003

$ 1.9
$ 31.7
$ 0.3
$ 0.9

$ 5.7
$ 29.3
$ 0.3
$ 0.9

The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net principal credit losses and components of managed general
purpose credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in billions):
At May 31, 2004

Loans
Outstanding

Loans
Delinquent

Six Months Ended
May 31, 2004

Average
Loans

Net
Principal
Credit
Losses

Managed general purpose credit card loans
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans

$

46.8
29.3

Owned general purpose credit card loans

$

17.5
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5. Long-Term Borrowings.
Long-term borrowings at May 31, 2004 scheduled to mature within one year aggregated $6,687 million.
During the six month period ended May 31, 2004, the Company issued senior notes aggregating $21,104 million, including non-U.S.
dollar currency notes aggregating $3,664 million. The Company has entered into certain transactions to obtain floating interest rates
based primarily on short-term LIBOR trading levels. Maturities in the aggregate of these notes by fiscal year are as follows: 2005,
$349 million; 2006, $28 million; 2007, $3,031 million; 2008, $2,392 million; and thereafter, $15,304 million. In the six month period
ended May 31, 2004, $8,729 million of senior notes were repaid.
The weighted average maturity of the Company’s long-term borrowings, based upon stated maturity dates, was approximately 6 years
at May 31, 2004.
The Company issues U.S. dollar index/equity linked borrowings, including various structured instruments whose payments and
redemption values are linked to the performance of a specific index (e.g., Standard & Poor’s 500), a basket of stocks or a specific
equity security. The Company accounts for such structured borrowings as having an embedded derivative. To minimize the exposure
resulting from movements in the underlying equity position or index, the Company enters into various equity swap contracts and
purchased options that effectively convert the borrowing costs into floating rates based upon LIBOR. The equity swaps and purchased
options are derivatives and are accounted for at fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 133, with changes in fair value included in
Principal transaction trading revenue. Principal transaction trading revenues in the six month periods ended May 31, 2004 and May
31, 2003 include changes in the fair value of embedded derivatives in the Company’s structured borrowings. Prior to the second
quarter of fiscal 2004, such amounts were included in interest expense. Prior period information has been reclassified to conform to
the current period’s presentation. In the quarter ended February 29, 2004, principal transaction trading revenues included $515 million
that was previously recorded as a decrease to interest expense. In the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003, principal
transaction trading revenues included $87 million and $243 million that were previously recorded as increases to interest expense.
These reclassifications are recorded within the Company’s Institutional Securities business segment and had no impact on net
revenues.
6. Capital Units, Capital Securities and Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures.
The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc (“MSF”), a U.K.
subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the Company and maturing in 2017 and
(b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase
one Depositary Share representing shares of the Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units
outstanding was $66 million at both May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003.
Prior to February 29, 2004, Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption (also referred to as “Capital Securities” herein)
represented preferred minority interests in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Accordingly, dividends paid on Preferred Securities
Subject to Mandatory Redemption were presented as a deduction to after-tax income (similar to minority interests in the income of
subsidiaries) in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income.
In December 2003, the FASB issued certain revisions to FIN 46 to clarify and expand on the accounting guidance for variable interest
entities. In accordance with this revised guidance, the Company deconsolidated all of its statutory trusts that had issued Capital
Securities as of February 29, 2004. As a result, the junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the Company to the
statutory trusts are included within Long-term borrowings, and the common securities issued by the statutory trusts and owned by the
Company are recorded in Other assets. In addition, the Capital Securities issued by the statutory trusts are no longer included in the
Company’s condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. Subsequent to February 29, 2004, dividends on the junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures have been recorded within interest expense. The impact of the deconsolidation of the
statutory trusts did not have a material effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position or results of operations.
See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 included in the Form 10-K/A.
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7. Common Stock and Shareholders’ Equity.
Regulatory Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures commission merchants and,
accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission. MS&Co. and MSDWI have consistently operated in excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $2,857
million at May 31, 2004, which exceeded the amount required by $1,998 million. MSDWI’s net capital totaled $1,185 million at May
31, 2004, which exceeded the amount required by $1,057 million. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to the
capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is subject to the capital
requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MSIL and MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory
capital requirements.
Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the FDIC and other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions
must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to
risk-weighted assets (“Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total riskweighted capital ratio”). At May 31, 2004, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-weighted capital ratio of
each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory minimums.
Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking regulations, and capital
adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the countries in which they operate. These
subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products
Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by
various rating agencies.
Regulatory Developments. The SEC approved a rule on April 28, 2004 in response to industry requests to establish a voluntary
framework for comprehensive, group-wide risk management procedures and consolidated supervision of certain financial services
holding companies by the SEC. The framework is designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory burdens on U.S. securities firms
resulting from the European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of financial
conglomerates active in the EU. The rule also would allow MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealers, to use an alternative
method, based on mathematical models, to calculate net capital charges for market and derivatives-related credit risk. Under this rule,
the SEC has the authority to regulate the holding company and any unregulated affiliate of a registered broker-dealer, including
subjecting the holding company to capital requirements generally consistent with the standards of the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision (“Basel II”). The Company currently expects to apply to the SEC later this year for permission to operate under the rule.
The Company continues to work with its regulators to understand and assess the impact of the rule and Basel II capital standards.
Many important elements of the new regulations are still being finalized. The Company cannot fully predict the impact that these
changes will have on its businesses; however, compliance with consolidated supervision and the imposition of revised capital
standards are likely to impose additional costs and affect decisions with respect to raising and using capital.
Treasury Shares. During the six month periods ended May 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company purchased approximately $187 million
and $350 million of its common stock, respectively, under its publicly announced repurchase programs through open market
purchases at an average cost of $54.04 and $39.12 per share, respectively.
8. Earnings per Share.
Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. The following table presents the
calculation of basic and diluted EPS (in millions, except for per share data):
Three Months Ended
May 31,
2003

2004

Basic EPS
Income from continuing operations
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Net income applicable to common shareholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding

Six Months Ended
May 31,
2004

2003

$ 1,224
1

$

719
11

$2,448
(1)

$1,761
23

$ 1,223

$

708

$2,449

$1,738

1,077

1,081

1,077

1,082

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss on discontinued operations

$

1.13
—

$

0.67
(0.01)

$ 2.27
—

$ 1.63
(0.02)

Basic EPS

$

1.13

$

0.66

$ 2.27

$ 1.61

Diluted EPS
Income from continuing operations
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations

$ 1,224
1

$

719
11

$2,448
(1)

$1,761
23

$ 1,223

$

708

$2,449

$1,738

1,082
28

1,077
20

1,081
27

1,077
21

1,110

1,097

1,108

1,098

Net income applicable to common shareholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock equivalents
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss on discontinued operations

$

1.10
—

$

0.66
(0.01)

$ 2.21
—

$ 1.60
(0.02)

Diluted EPS

$

1.10

$

0.65

$ 2.21

$ 1.58
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At May 31, 2004 and 2003, there were approximately 91 million and 84 million dilutive securities (including stock options and
restricted stock units) outstanding, respectively, that were considered antidilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation
of diluted EPS.
9. Commitments and Contingencies.
Letters of Credit. At May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $9.1 billion and $7.7 billion,
respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.
Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its Institutional Securities business activities, the Company provides to selected
clients through subsidiaries (including Morgan Stanley Bank), loans or lending commitments, including bridge financing. The
borrowers may be rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be senior
or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower, and
may be syndicated or traded by the Company. At May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the aggregate value of investment grade
loans and positions was $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, and the aggregate value of non-investment grade loans and
positions was $1.8 billion and $0.7 billion, respectively. At May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company’s aggregate
investment grade lending commitments were $16.5 billion and $14.2 billion, respectively, and its aggregate non-investment grade
lending commitments were $2.2 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively. In connection with these business activities (which include the
loans and positions and lending commitments), the Company had hedges (primarily credit default swaps) with a notional amount of
$7.3 billion at May 31, 2004 and $5.5 billion at November 30, 2003.
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial instruments at
contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the market at prevailing prices.
Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the
amounts recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition.
The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at May 31, 2004, $225 million in connection with its
principal investment and private equity activities. Additionally, the Company has provided and will continue to provide financing,
including margin lending and other extensions of credit to clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and liquidity
risks.
At May 31, 2004, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements of approximately $45
billion and $33 billion, respectively.
Legal. In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions,
including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a global diversified financial
services institution. Certain of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for
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indeterminate amounts of damages. The Company also is involved, from time to time, in investigations and proceedings by
governmental and self-regulatory agencies, certain of which may result in adverse judgments, fines or penalties. The number of these
investigations and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms, including the Company. In some cases, the
issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or otherwise in financial distress.
In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases in which claimants seek substantial
or indeterminate damages, the Company cannot predict with certainty the eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters. The
Company is contesting liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter and believes, based on current knowledge and
after consultation with counsel, that the outcome of each matter will not have a material adverse effect on the condensed consolidated
financial condition of the Company, although the outcome could be material to the Company’s operating results for a particular future
period, depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s income for such period.
10. Derivative Contracts.
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into a variety of derivative contracts related to financial instruments and
commodities. The Company uses these instruments for trading and investment purposes, as well as for asset and liability management
(see Note 1). These instruments generally represent future commitments to swap interest payment streams, exchange currencies or
purchase or sell other financial instruments on specific terms at specified future dates. Many of these products have maturities that do
not extend beyond one year, although swaps and options and warrants on equities typically have longer maturities. For further
discussion of these matters, refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Critical Accounting Policies—Fair Value” and Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended November
30, 2003, included in the Form 10-K/A.
The fair value (carrying amount) of derivative instruments represents the amount at which the derivative could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and is further described in Note 1. Future
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates or the fair values of the financial instruments, commodities or indices
underlying these contracts ultimately may result in cash settlements exceeding fair value amounts recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of financial condition. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange
traded and OTC options and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward contracts and swaps) for
derivatives for trading and investment and for asset and liability management, net of offsetting positions in situations where netting is
appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of collateral, which the Company obtains with respect to certain of these
transactions to reduce its exposure to credit losses.
Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the
contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair value of the contracts reported as
assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional
collateral when deemed necessary. The Company believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at May 31, 2004
will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition.
The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at May 31, 2004 and November 30, 2003 are summarized in the table below,
showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:
At May 31, 2004
Assets

Liabilities

At November 30, 2003
Assets

Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and other fixed income
securities contracts
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options)
Commodity forwards, options and swaps
Total

$27,613
4,950
5,316
11,441

$19,146
5,199
7,752
9,518

$27,280
5,964
4,503
6,905

$18,950
5,561
5,781
5,950

$49,320

$41,615

$44,652

$36,242

A substantial portion of the Company’s securities and commodities transactions are collateralized and are executed with and on behalf
of commercial banks and other institutional investors, including other brokers and dealers.
11. Segment Information.

The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services provided to customers
and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of financial products and services
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to its customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Individual Investor Group, Investment Management and
Credit Services. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation (see
Note 5).
The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory services,
including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales, trading, financing and marketmaking activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and related products, including foreign
exchange and commodities; principal investing, including real estate investment vehicles; and aircraft financing activities. The
Company’s Individual Investor Group business provides comprehensive financial planning, investment advisory and brokerage
services designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk profiles. The Company’s Investment Management business
provides global asset management products and services for individual and institutional investors through three principal distribution
channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s financial advisors and investment representatives; a non-proprietary
channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional
channel. The Company’s private equity activities also are included within the Investment Management business segment. The
Company’s Credit Services business offers Discover-branded cards and other consumer finance products and services and includes
the operation of Discover Business Services, a network of merchant and cash access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanleybranded credit cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are also included in the Credit Services segment. The
Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and customers, including corporations,
governments, financial institutions and individuals.
Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their operating results. Other
revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are allocated based upon the Company’s allocation
methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective revenues or other relevant measures.
As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company includes an “Intersegment
Eliminations” category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated results. Income before taxes in Intersegment
Eliminations represents, among other things, the effect of timing differences associated with the revenue and expense recognition of
commissions paid by Investment Management to Individual Investor Group associated with sales of certain products and the related
compensation costs paid to Individual Investor Group’s financial advisors.
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Selected financial information for the Company’s segments is presented below:
Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

3,566
381

$

1,149
60

$

690
—

$

607
272

$

(75)
—

$

5,937
713

Net revenues

$

3,947

$

1,209

$

690

$

879

$

(75)

$

6,650

$

1,135
81

$

132
—

$

209
—

$

298
—

$

29
—

$

1,803
81

Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

$

1,054

$

132

$

209

$

298

$

29

$

1,722

Three Months Ended May 31, 2003(2)

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

2,528
152

$

949
53

$

562
(4)

$

538
346

$

(78)
—

$

4,499
547

Net revenues

$

2,680

$

1,002

$

558

$

884

$

(78)

$

5,046

$

544
36

$

85
—

$

133
—

$

304
—

$

29
—

$

1,095
36

Three Months Ended May 31, 2004

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes and
discontinued operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes,
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and discontinued
operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption

40
468

—
$

85

—
$

133

—
$

304

—

Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

$

Six Months Ended May 31, 2004(2)

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

6,626
825

$

2,300
120

$

1,332
—

$ 1,259
578

$

(149)
—

$ 11,368
1,523

Net revenues

$

7,451

$

2,420

$

1,332

$ 1,837

$

(149)

$ 12,891

$

2,318
174

$

298
—

$

379
—

$

$

58
—

Credit
Services

$

29

40
$

Intersegment
Eliminations

1,019

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes,
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and discontinued
operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption
Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

45
$

2,099

—
$

298

—
$

379

663
—
—

$

663

$

—
$

58

3,716
174
45

$

3,497

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

Net revenues excluding net interest
Net interest

$

5,076
740

$

1,883
104

$

1,086
(3)

$ 1,129
653

$

(147)
—

$

Net revenues

$

5,816

$

1,987

$

1,083

$ 1,782

$

(147)

$ 10,521

$

1,656
70

$

168
—

$

243
—

$

$

62
—

Six Months Ended May 31, 2003(2)

Credit
Services

Intersegment
Eliminations

Total

(dollars in millions)

Income from continuing operations before losses
from unconsolidated investees, income taxes,
dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and discontinued
operations
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption

62
1,524

—
$

168

—
$

243

597
—
—

$

597

$

9,027
1,494

2,726
70

—

Income before taxes and discontinued operations(1)

$

Total Assets

Institutional
Securities

Individual
Investor Group

Investment
Management

At May 31, 2004

$ 685,072

$

17,339

$

4,081

$23,241

$

(232)

$729,501

At November 30, 2003(2)

$ 557,501

$

16,665

$

3,778

$25,185

$

(286)

$602,843

Credit
Services

$

62

62

Intersegment
Eliminations

$

2,594

Total

(dollars in millions)

(1)
(2)

See Note 19 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

12. Variable Interest Entities.
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarified the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or
do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
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support from other parties (“variable interest entities”). Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their
primary beneficiaries if they do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary beneficiary of a VIE
is the party that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or both, as a
result of holding variable interests. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs.
The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs and may hold
interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative instruments, that may be considered variable
interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset- and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured financings
(including collateralized debt, bond or loan obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these transactions
principally to facilitate client needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company consolidates entities in which it has a
controlling financial interest in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. For those entities deemed to be
qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS No. 140), which includes the credit card asset securitization master trusts (see
Note 4), the Company does not consolidate the entity.
On February 1, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46 for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for VIEs in which the Company
obtains an interest after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective date of FIN 46 for arrangements with
VIEs existing prior to February 1, 2003 to fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued a
revision of FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to address certain technical corrections and implementation issues that have arisen. As of February
29, 2004, the Company adopted FIN 46 or FIN 46R for all of its variable interests. For these variable interests, the Company
consolidated those VIEs (including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateral debt obligation,
credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities) in which the Company
was the primary beneficiary. In limited instances, the Company deconsolidated VIEs for which it was not the primary beneficiary as a
result of the adoption of FIN 46R. This is further discussed in Note 6 with respect to statutory trusts that had issued Capital Securities.
As of May 31, 2004, the Company adopted FIN 46R for those variable interests that were previously accounted for under FIN 46. The
effect of adopting FIN 46 and FIN 46R as of February 29, 2004 and May 31, 2004 did not have a material effect on the Company’s
condensed consolidated results of operations or condensed consolidated financial position.
Institutional Securities. At May 31, 2004, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of VIEs,
including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateralized debt obligation, credit-linked note,
structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities, for which the Company was the primary
beneficiary of the entities was approximately $3.3 billion, which is the carrying amount of the consolidated assets recorded as
Financial instruments owned that are collateral for the entities’ obligations. The nature and purpose of these entities that the Company
consolidated were to issue a series of notes to investors that provide the investors a return based on the holdings of the entities. These
transactions were executed to facilitate client investment objectives. The structured note, equity-linked note, certain credit-linked
note, certain mortgage-backed securitization, certain financial asset-backed securitization and municipal bond transactions also were
executed as a means of selling financial assets. The Company holds either the entire class or a majority of the class of subordinated
notes or entered into a derivative instrument with the VIE and as a result bears the majority of the expected losses or receives a
majority of the expected residual returns of the entities. The Company consolidates these entities, in accordance with its consolidation
accounting policy, and as a result eliminates all intercompany transactions, including derivatives and other intercompany transactions
such as fees received to underwrite the notes or to structure the transactions. The Company accounts for the assets held by the entities
as Financial instruments owned and the liabilities of the entities as financings. For those liabilities that include an embedded
derivative, the Company has bifurcated such derivative in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 149. The
beneficial interests of these consolidated entities are payable solely from the cash flows of the assets held by the VIE.
At May 31, 2004, also in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the entities for which the
Company holds significant variable interests, which consist of subordinated and other classes of beneficial interests, limited
partnership investments and secondary guarantees, was approximately $12.9 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated
with these entities, primarily credit-linked note, loan and bond issuing, financial asset-backed securitization and tax credit limited
liability entities, including investments in affordable housing tax credit funds and underlying synthetic fuel production plants, were
approximately $7.1 billion consisting primarily of senior beneficial interests, which represent the Company’s maximum exposure to
loss at May 31, 2004. The Company may hedge the risks inherent in its variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure to
loss. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company
utilizes to hedge these risks.
Investment Management. At May 31, 2004, in connection with its Investment Management business, where the Company is the asset
manager for collateralized bond and loan obligation entities, the Company was neither the primary beneficiary of nor held
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any significant variable interests in such VIEs due to the modification of the treatment of fees paid to a decision maker under FIN
46R. FIN 46 included a requirement that expected residual returns include the total amount of fees on a gross basis paid to decision
makers instead of including only the variability in such fees as is the guidance in FIN 46R.
The Company purchases and sells interests in entities that may be deemed to be VIEs in the ordinary course of its business. As a
result of these activities, it is possible that such entities may be consolidated and deconsolidated at various points in time. Therefore,
the Company’s variable interests included above may not be held by the Company at the end of future quarterly reporting periods.
13. Guarantees.
FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information about its obligations under certain guarantee
arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and indemnification agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make
payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or
commodity price, an index or the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a
guaranteed party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to the
guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of
others.
Derivative Contracts. Under FIN 45, certain derivative contracts meet the accounting definition of a guarantee, including certain
written options, contingent forward contracts and credit default swaps. Although the Company’s derivative arrangements do not
specifically identify whether the derivative counterparty retains the underlying asset, liability or equity security, the Company has
disclosed information regarding all derivative contracts that could meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. The maximum potential
payout for certain derivative contracts, such as written interest rate caps and written foreign currency options, cannot be estimated as
increases in interest or foreign exchange rates in the future could possibly be unlimited. Therefore, in order to provide information
regarding the maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make under certain derivative
contracts, the notional amount of the contracts has been disclosed.
The Company records all derivative contracts at fair value. For this reason, the Company does not monitor its risk exposure to such
derivative contracts based on derivative notional amounts; rather the Company manages its risk exposure on a fair value basis.
Aggregate market risk limits have been established, and market risk measures are routinely monitored against these limits. The
Company also manages its exposure to these derivative contracts through a variety of risk mitigation strategies, including, but not
limited to, entering into offsetting economic hedge positions. The Company believes that the notional amounts of the derivative
contracts generally overstate its exposure.
Financial Guarantees to Third Parties. In connection with its corporate lending business and other corporate activities, the Company
provides standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees to counterparties. Such arrangements represent obligations to make
payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfill its obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other contractual
obligation.
Liquidity Guarantees. The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with special purpose entities (“SPE”) and other
counterparties, whereby the Company is required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The Company often may have
recourse to the underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are required under such liquidity facilities.
Market Value Guarantees. Market value guarantees are issued to guarantee return of principal invested to fund investors associated
with certain European equity funds and to guarantee timely payment of a specified return to investors in certain affordable housing
tax credit funds. The guarantees associated with certain European equity funds are designed to provide for any shortfall between the
market value of the underlying fund assets and invested principal and a stipulated return amount. The guarantees provided to investors
in certain affordable housing tax credit funds are designed to return an investor’s contribution to a fund and the investor’s share of tax
losses and tax credits expected to be generated by a fund.
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The table below summarizes certain information regarding these guarantees at May 31, 2004:
Maximum Potential Payout/Notional
Years to Maturity

1-3

3-5

Over 5

Total

Carrying
Amount

Collateral/
Recourse

Type of Guarantee

Less than 1

Derivative contracts
Standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees
Market value guarantees
Liquidity facilities

$397,385 $207,747 $227,658 $162,624 $995,414 $16,891 $
361
315
44
23
743
5
11
16
236
382
645
36
526
890
—
177
1,593
—

(dollars in millions)

110
115
48
—

Indemnities. In the normal course of its business, the Company provides standard indemnities to counterparties for taxes, including
U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments made on derivatives, securities and stock lending transactions,
certain annuity products and other financial arrangements. These indemnity payments could be required based on a change in the tax
laws or change in interpretation of applicable tax rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the Company to terminate
the agreement upon the occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
condensed consolidated financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the occurrence of any events that would
trigger payments under these contracts is remote.
Exchange/Clearinghouse Member Guarantees. The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and
clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Associated with its membership, the Company may be required
to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who may default on its obligations to the exchange or the
clearinghouse. While the rules governing different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general the Company’s guarantee
obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had previously exhausted its resources. In addition, any such guarantee
obligation would be apportioned among the other non-defaulting members of the exchange or clearinghouse. Any potential contingent
liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the
condensed consolidated financial statements for these agreements and believes that any potential requirement to make payments
under these agreements is remote.
General Partner Guarantees. As a general partner in certain private equity and real estate partnerships, the Company receives
distributions from the partnerships according to the provisions of the partnership agreements. The Company may, from time to time,
be required to return all or a portion of such distributions to the limited partners in the event the limited partners do not achieve a
certain return as specified in various partnership agreements, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future
payments that the Company could be required to make under these and other similar provisions at May 31, 2004 was $224 million. As
of May 31, 2004, the Company’s liability for distributions that the Company has determined it is probable it will be required to refund
based on the applicable refund criteria specified in the various partnership agreements was $89 million.
Securitized Asset Guarantees. As part of the Company’s Institutional Securities and Credit Services securitization activities, the
Company provides representations and warranties that certain securitized assets conform to specified guidelines. The Company may
be required to repurchase such assets or indemnify the purchaser against losses if the assets do not meet certain conforming
guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company to ensure that asset guideline qualifications are met, and to the extent the
Company has acquired such assets to be securitized from other parties, the Company seeks to obtain its own representations and
warranties regarding the assets. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be
equal to the current outstanding balances of all assets subject to such securitization activities. The Company does not monitor the total
value of assets historically transferred to securitization vehicles. Therefore, the Company is unable to develop an estimate of the
maximum payout under these guarantees. However, the Company believes that it is unlikely it will have to make material payments
under the arrangement, and no liabilities related to these arrangements have been recorded. Also, in connection with originations of
®
residential mortgage loans under the Company’s FlexSource program, the Company may permit borrowers to pledge marketable
securities as collateral instead of requiring cash down payments for the purchase of the underlying residential property. Upon sale of
the residential mortgage loans, the Company may provide a surety bond that reimburses the purchasers for shortfalls in the borrowers’
securities accounts up to certain limits if the collateral maintained in the securities accounts (along with the associated real estate
collateral) is insufficient to cover losses that purchasers experience as a result of defaults by borrowers on the underlying residential
mortgage loans. The Company requires the borrowers to meet daily collateral calls to ensure the marketable securities pledged in lieu
of a cash down payment are sufficient. At May 31, 2004, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company may be
required to make under its surety bond was $199 million. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the condensed

consolidated financial statements for these representations and warranties and reimbursement agreements and believes that the
probability of any payments under these arrangements is remote.
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Merchant Chargeback Guarantees. In connection with its Credit Services business, the Company owns and operates merchant
processing services in the U.S. related to its general purpose credit cards. As a merchant processor in the U.S. and an issuer of credit
cards in the U.K., the Company is contingently liable for processed credit card sales transactions in the event of a dispute between the
cardmember and a merchant. If a dispute is resolved in the cardmember’s favor, the Company will credit or refund the amount to the
cardmember and charge back the transaction to the merchant. If the Company is unable to collect the amount from the merchant, the
Company will bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the cardmember. In most instances, a payment requirement by the
Company is unlikely to arise because most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits are issued by merchants on
returned items in a timely fashion. However, where the product or service is not provided until some later date following the
purchase, the likelihood of payment by the Company increases. For example, the Company processes cardmember transactions for
airline ticket purchases. In the event an airline ceases operations, the Company could be contingently liable to its cardmembers for
refunds of the ticket purchase prices. The maximum potential amount of future payments related to these contingent liabilities is
estimated to be the total cardmember sales transaction volume to date that could qualify as a valid disputed transaction under the
Company’s merchant processing network and cardmember agreements; however, the Company believes that this amount is not
representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s historical experience. This amount cannot be
quantified as the Company cannot determine whether current or cumulative transaction volumes may include or result in disputed
transactions.
During the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004, the Company incurred losses related to merchant chargebacks of $1
million and $2 million, respectively, and processed aggregate credit card transaction volume of $24.4 billion and $48.5 billion,
respectively. The amount of the liability related to the Company’s credit cardmember merchant guarantee was not material at May 31,
2004. The Company mitigates this risk by withholding settlement from merchants or obtaining escrow deposits from certain
merchants that are considered higher risk due to various factors such as time delays in the delivery of products or services. At May
31, 2004, the Company had settlement withholdings and escrow deposits of $40 million.
Other. The Company may, from time to time, in its role as investment banking advisor, be required to provide guarantees in
connection with certain European merger and acquisition transactions. If required by the regulating authorities, the Company provides
a guarantee that the acquirer in the merger and acquisition transaction has or will have sufficient funds to complete the transaction and
would then be required to make the acquisition payments in the event the acquirer’s funds are insufficient at the completion date of
the transaction. These arrangements generally cover the time frame from the transaction offer date to its closing date and therefore are
generally short-term in nature. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make
cannot be estimated. The likelihood of any payment by the Company under these arrangements is remote given the level of the
Company’s due diligence associated with its role as investment banking advisor. There were no such arrangements outstanding at
May 31, 2004.
14. Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.
The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company accounts for these
investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating losses generated by these investments is
recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses
are recorded within the Company’s Provision for income taxes. The synthetic fuel produced qualifies for tax credits based on Section
29 of the Internal Revenue Code. Under Section 29, tax credits are not available for synthetic fuel produced after 2007. The Company
recorded Losses from unconsolidated investees of $81 million and $174 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31,
2004, respectively, and $36 million and $70 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003, respectively. These
losses were more than offset by tax credits of $78 million and $182 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004,
respectively, and $41 million and $88 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003, respectively, and tax benefits
on the losses of $39 million and $70 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004, respectively, and $14 million
and $28 million in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003, respectively.
One of the Company’s unconsolidated investees (“the LLC”) has informed the Company that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”)
field auditors intend to challenge the placed-in-service date of several synthetic fuel facilities owned by the LLC. One of the
conditions to qualify for tax credits under Section 29 of the Internal Revenue Code is that the production facility must have been
placed-in-service before July 1, 1998.
The Company understands that the LLC intends to contest the IRS proposed position vigorously. If the IRS succeeds in disallowing
any or all of the tax credits related to these facilities, it could have an adverse effect on the Company’s tax liability or results of
operations. The Company has recognized cumulative tax credits of approximately $80 million associated with the LLC’s synthetic
fuel facilities.
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15. Employee Benefit Plans.
The Company maintains various pension and benefit plans to eligible employees (see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 included in the Form 10-K/A).
The components of the Company’s net periodic benefit expense were as follows:
Three Months Ended
May 31,

Six Months Ended
May 31,

2003

2004

2004

2003

(dollars in millions)

Service cost, benefits earned during the period
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and other
Net periodic benefit expense

$

28
33
(32)
6

$

29
31
(29)
7

$

56
66
(64)
12

$

58
62
(58)
14

$

35

$

38

$

70

$

76

16. Aircraft.
Aircraft Held for Sale.
The carrying value at May 31, 2004 of aircraft subsequently classified as held for sale was $151 million (see Note 19). The
Company’s aircraft leasing business is included in the Institutional Securities business segment. The loss/(gain) from discontinued
operations in the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2004 included a $2 million non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge
(see “Fiscal 2004 Activity” below). The loss from discontinued operations in the six month period ended May 31, 2003 included a
$16 million non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge and a $19 million charge to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired
aircraft to market value (see “Fiscal 2003 Activity” below).
Fiscal 2004 Activity.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable. During the second quarter of fiscal 2004 the Company evaluated
various financing strategies for its aircraft financing business. As part of this evaluation and to determine the potential debt ratings
associated with the financing strategies, the Company commissioned appraisals of the aircraft portfolio from three independent
aircraft appraisal firms.
Although the operating environment for the Company’s aircraft leasing business has been more favorable since the last impairment
date (May 31, 2003), with fewer aircraft on the ground and more lease activity, the appraisals indicated a decrease in the aircraft
portfolio average market value of 12% from the last impairment date. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company considered the
decline in appraisal values a significant decrease in the market price of its aircraft portfolio and thus a trigger event to test for
impairment in the carrying value of its aircraft.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each aircraft’s projected
undiscounted cash flows to its respective carrying value. For those aircraft for which impairment was indicated (because the projected
undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying value), the Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value,
if lower than the carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used the market value appraisals provided by
independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of this review, the
Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $109 million (of which $2 million is included in loss/(gain) from
discontinued operations) in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 based on the average of the market value appraisals provided by the
three independent appraisers. The impairment charge was primarily concentrated in two particular types of aircraft, the MD-83 and
A300-600R, which contributed approximately $85 million of the total $109 million charge. The decrease in the projected
undiscounted cash flows and the significant decline in the appraisal values for these aircraft reflects, among other things, a very small
operator base and therefore limited opportunities to lease such aircraft. The impairment charge (excluding the portion attributable to
discontinued operations) is included within Other expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of income. The results of the
aircraft financing business are included in the Institutional Securities business segment.
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The current market environment continues to be characterized by limited sales activity. If the Company liquidated its entire fleet ($4.0
billion carrying value at May 31, 2004, excluding those aircraft that were classified as held for sale) at this time, which is not
currently contemplated, the Company believes that, based upon the range of values provided by independent appraisers, the Company
would realize a value for its entire fleet that is substantially lower than the carrying value of the fleet. The current portfolio appraisal
market values (excluding the aircraft classified as held for sale), based on the above three appraisals, range from a high of $3.63
billion to a low of $2.68 billion with an average of $3.0 billion. The Company has not recorded an impairment charge of this
magnitude because there was no indication of impairment for the majority of the individual aircraft as their projected undiscounted
cash flows exceeded their respective carrying values.
Fiscal 2003 Activity.
Prior to fiscal 2003, the Company had used “base value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to estimate the fair value of its
impaired aircraft. Accordingly, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $36 million
(of which $19 million is included in loss/(gain) from discontinued operations) to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired
aircraft to “market value.” The charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations) is reflected in Other expenses in
the condensed consolidated statement of income during the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company reviewed the carrying value of its aircraft portfolio for impairment during the second
quarter of fiscal 2003 given the difficult conditions existing in the commercial aircraft industry at the time, including the adverse
impact of the military conflict in Iraq, the outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome and the bankruptcy of several airlines.
In the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each aircraft’s projected
undiscounted cash flows to its respective carrying value. For each aircraft for which impairment was indicated, the Company adjusted
the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value, if lower than carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company
used market value estimates provided by independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims
Limited). As a result of this review, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $287 million (of which $16
million is included in loss/(gain) from discontinued operations) based on the average market value provided by independent
appraisers in the second quarter of fiscal 2003. The impairment charge (excluding the portion attributable to discontinued operations)
is included within Other expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of income.
The Company had followed a valuation methodology designed to align the changes in projected undiscounted cash flows for impaired
aircraft with the change in carrying value of such aircraft. Under this methodology, the Company calculated the $36 million
impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 using the highest portfolio valuation provided by the appraisers and calculated the
$287 million impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2003 based on the average of the three appraisal values. The
Company has determined that future impairment charges will be based upon the average market appraisal values from independent
appraisers. If the average market appraisal values had been used to measure impairment in each of the prior quarters in which
impairment was recognized, pre-tax income (including both continuing and discontinued operations) would have differed as follows:
Change in
Pre-tax
Income
Increase
(Decrease)
(dollars in
millions)

Quarter ended:
November 30, 2001
February 28, 2002
May 31, 2002
August 31, 2002
November 30, 2002
February 28, 2003
May 31, 2003

$ (70.9)
1.0
1.5
(71.9)
2.7
38.3
97.0

Aggregate difference

$
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17. Subsequent Event – Business Acquisition.
On June 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Barra, Inc. (“Barra”) following approval of the previously announced
merger agreement by Barra’s shareholders. Barra is a global leader in delivering risk management systems and services to managers
of portfolio and firm-wide investment risk. In the next few months, Barra’s operations will be combined with Morgan Stanley Capital
International Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company and a component of the Institutional Securities business segment. The
acquisition price was $41.00 per share in cash, or an aggregate consideration of approximately $800 million.
18. Restatement Relating to Fiscal 2003 Interim Compensation and Benefits Expense.
Subsequent to the issuance of the May 31, 2003 condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company determined the need to
adjust the timing of the recognition of expense related to equity-based compensation awards during fiscal 2003 in connection with the
Company’s adoption, effective December 1, 2002, of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
Prior to the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 123 in fiscal 2003, the Company recorded compensation expense for equity-based
awards in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” APB 25
states that equity-based awards should be expensed based upon the period or periods during which an employee performs services,
and that the service period or periods should be inferred from the award terms or from the past pattern of granting awards in the
absence of a stated service period. Based upon the terms of the Company’s pre-fiscal 2003 equity-based awards, which did not state a
service period, and the past pattern of granting such awards, the Company determined that the appropriate service period under APB
25 was the year of grant, and accordingly recognized 100% of the compensation expense for equity-based awards in such year. In
accordance with APB 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” the Company accrued the estimated expense of the equity-based awards on a
quarterly basis to reflect the interim periods’ portion of the annual costs.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123 effective December 1, 2002. In the absence of a defined service period, SFAS No. 123
presumptively defines the service period (over which compensation costs should be recognized) as the vesting period. In the third
quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company revised its equity-based compensation program (including extending the vesting period by an
additional year for half of the awards), and determined that under SFAS No. 123 the service period for fiscal 2003 awards would be
three and four years (depending upon the vesting provisions of the awards). As specified under the terms of the Company’s fiscal
2003 awards, the service period included the year of grant and the subsequent vesting periods.
In the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003, the Company continued to accrue compensation expense on the basis that equity-based
awards would be expensed in the year of grant. In the third quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company determined that the expense
recognized in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003 should have been recognized over the longer service period. The Company
reflected a cumulative adjustment to its compensation accruals for the three and nine month periods ended August 31, 2003 in the
third quarter of fiscal 2003. Subsequently, after discussions with the accounting staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
Company determined that with the adoption of SFAS No. 123, it should have begun to amortize the expense related to equity-based
awards over a longer service period beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
The following summarizes the restatement for the three and six months ended May 31, 2003:
Three Months Ended
May 31,
2003(1)

Six Months Ended

May 31,
2003(1)

May 31,
2003(1)

May 31,
2003(1)

(dollars in millions, except per share data)
(Previously
(Previously
Reported)
Reported)
(Restated)
(Restated)

Compensation and benefits expense

$ 2,274

$ 2,112

$ 4,823

$ 4,476

Total non-interest expenses

$ 4,113

$ 3,951

$ 8,142

$ 7,795

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption
and discontinued operations

$

933

$ 1,095

$ 2,379

$ 2,726

Provision for income taxes

$

247

$

300

$

$

Net income

$

599

$

708

$ 1,504

720

833

$ 1,738

Earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted

(1)

See Note 19 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
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$

0.56

$

0.66

$

1.40

$

1.61

$

0.55

$

0.65

$

1.37

$

1.58
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19. Discontinued Operations.
In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company determined that certain of its aircraft were subject to probable sale and, accordingly,
these aircraft have been designated as “held for sale” under SFAS No. 144. The revenues and expenses associated with these aircraft
have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The (loss)/gain from discontinued operations for the quarter
and six month period ended May 31, 2004 was $(1) million and $1 million, respectively. The (loss) from discontinued operations for
the quarter and six month period ended May 31, 2003 was $(11) million and $(23) million, respectively.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Morgan Stanley:
We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries
(“Morgan Stanley”) as of May 31, 2004, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for
the three-month and six-month periods ended May 31, 2004 and 2003, and condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the
six-month periods ended May 31, 2004 and 2003. These interim financial statements are the responsibility of the management of
Morgan Stanley.
We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A
review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons
responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding
the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to such condensed consolidated interim
financial statements for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As discussed in Note 18, the May 31, 2003 condensed consolidated financial statements have been restated.
We have previously audited, in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated statement of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as of November 30, 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year then
ended included in this Current Report on Form 8-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003; and, in our report dated February
23, 2004, (October 27, 2004 as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 26) (which report contains an explanatory
paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003), we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition as of
November 30, 2003 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated statement of financial condition from which
it has been derived.
/s/ D ELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
July 12, 2004
(October 13, 2004, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 18)
(October 27, 2004, as to the effects of discontinued operations discussed in Note 19)
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EXHIBIT 99.4.
Selected Financial Data.
MORGAN STANLEY
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)
Fiscal Year(1)

Income Statement Data:
Revenues:
Investment banking
Principal transactions:
Trading
Investments
Commissions
Fees:
Asset management, distribution and administration
Merchant and cardmember
Servicing
Interest and dividends
Other
Total revenues
Interest expense
Provision for consumer loan losses
Net revenues
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits
Other
Restructuring and other charges
Total non-interest expenses
Gain on sale of business

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

$ 2,440

$ 2,478

$ 3,413

$ 5,008

$ 4,523

7,361
193
3,664

5,796
725
2,783

6,138
86
2,970

2,730
(31)
3,278

5,503
(316)
3,159

3,706
1,379
2,015
15,744
448

3,932
1,420
2,080
15,879
658

4,205
1,349
1,888
24,132
526

4,381
1,256
1,489
21,233
533

3,448
1,030
1,232
14,879
277

34,926
12,802
1,267

32,424
11,961
1,336

43,859
20,720
1,052

45,118
18,145
810

34,693
12,486
526

20,857

19,127

22,087

26,163

21,681

8,545
6,507
—

7,940
6,214
235

9,376
7,033
—

10,899
6,748
—

8,365
5,560
—

15,052

14,389

16,409

17,647

13,925

—

—

—

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of accounting change
Losses from unconsolidated investees
Provision for income taxes
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption

5,805
279
1,563
154

4,738
77
1,575
87

5,678
30
2,022
50

8,551
33
3,036
28

7,756
21
2,916
28

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change

3,809

2,999

3,576

5,454

4,791

Discontinued operations:
Loss/(gain) from discontinued operations
Income tax (benefit)/provision
Loss/(gain) on discontinued operations
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

35

—

38
(16)

18
(7)

(6)
2

(3)
1

—
—

22

11

(4)

(2)

—

3,787
—

2,988
—

3,580
(59)

$ 3,787

$ 2,988

$ 3,521

5,456
—

4,791
—

$ 5,456

$ 4,791

Earnings applicable to common shares(2)
Per Share Data:
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Diluted earnings per common share

1

$ 3,787

$ 2,988

$ 3,489

$ 5,420

$ 4,747

$

3.54
(0.02)
—

$

2.77
(0.01)
—

$

3.26
—
(0.05)

$

4.95
—
—

$

4.33
—
—

$

3.52

$

2.76

$

3.21

$

4.95

$

4.33

$

3.47
(0.02)
—

$

2.70
(0.01)
—

$

3.16
—
(0.05)

$

4.73
—
—

$

4.10
—
—

$

3.45

$

2.69

$

3.11

$

4.73

$

4.10

Fiscal Year(1)
2003

Book value per
common share
Dividends per common
share
Balance Sheet and
Other Operating
Data:
Total assets
Consumer loans, net
Total capital(3)
Long-term borrowings
(3)
Shareholders’ equity
Return on average
common
shareholders’ equity
Average common and
equivalent shares(2)
(1)
(2)
(3)

2002

2001

2000

1999

$

22.93

$

20.24

$

18.64

$

16.91

$

14.85

$

0.92

$

0.92

$

0.92

$

0.80

$

0.48

$

602,843
19,382
82,769

$

529,499
23,014
65,936

$

482,628
19,677
61,633

$

421,279
21,743
49,637

$

366,967
20,963
39,699

57,902
24,867
16.5%
1,076,754,740

44,051
21,885

40,917
20,716

14.1%

18.0%

1,083,270,783

1,086,121,508

30,366
19,271
30.9%
1,095,858,438

22,685
17,014
32.6%
1,096,789,720

Certain prior-period information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
Amounts shown are used to calculate basic earnings per common share.
These amounts exclude the current portion of long-term borrowings and include Capital Units and Preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption.
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